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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
Form 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OHE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 29, 2012

OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(df ®HE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
COMMISSION FILE NUMBER 0-19687

Syn

SYNALLOY CORPORATION
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its arart

Delaware 57-0426694
(State of incorporation) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
775 Spartan Blvd, Suite 102, P.O. Box 5627, Sphttan South Carolina 29304
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
Registrant's telephone number, including area o@#2t) 5853605
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(thefAct Name of each exchange on which registered:
Common Stock, $1.00 Par Value NASDAQ Global Market
(Title of Class)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(ghefAct:
None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405c8#turities Act. YeBl No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ortfeecl5(d) of the Act. Ye&l No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant @9 filed all reports required to be filed by Sewctk8 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of4L88rin¢
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter petiatithe registrant was required to file such reg)pand (2) has been subject to such filing nemeénts fc
the past 90 days. Y&l No[

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ibsnitted electronically and posted on its corpokieb site, if any, every Interactive Data File riegd to bt
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Régnl&-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such grgperiod that the registrant was require
submit and post such files). YB8 No[

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiletrs pursuant to Item 405 of RegulatiorkSs not contained herein, and will not be contdin®e the best «
registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or infeation statements incorporated by reference ihIRaf this Form 10-K or any amendment to thisrfol0-
K.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant iarge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-axcelerated filer or a smaller reporting comparse
definitions of "large accelerated filer," "acceledfiler" and “smaller reporting company” in Rul2b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one)

Large accelerated Fil&d Accelerated fileix] Non-accelerated filell Smaller reporting compariy

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the A¢gs] No[X]

Based on the closing price as of June 30, 201X;hwivas the last business day of the registrant& recently completed second fiscal quarter, thyreagt
market value of the common stock held by @dfiliates of the registrant was $68.1 million. Bdson the closing price as of February 25, 2018 atgrega
market value of common stock held by non-affiliadéshe registrant was $80.8 million. The registrdid not have any nometing common equity outstandi
at either date.

The number of shares outstanding of the registranthmon stock as of February 25, 2013 was 6,368,93
Documents Incorporated By Reference
Portions of the Proxy Statement for the 2013 ansliateholders' meeting are incorporated by referario Part 11l of this Form 10-K.
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Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes and incogbes by reference "forwatdeking statements” within the meaning of the fed
securities laws. All statements that are not hisébfacts are "forwardeoking statements."” The words "estimate," "prgjethtend," "expect,
"believe," "should," "anticipate,” "hope," "optintiis,” "plan,” "outlook," "should," "could,” "may" rad similar expressions identify forward-
looking statements. The forwatdeking statements are subject to certain risks wmzkrtainties, including without limitation thokentifiec
below, which could cause actual results to diffestenially from historical results or those antidgmh In conjunction with our Palrr
acquisition, our expectations for future sales prafits which were included in our financial praojens were our best estimates at the time
actual results could be significantly different.aders are cautioned not to place undue reliancthese forwardeoking statements. T
following factors could cause actual results tdediimaterially from historical results or those iaipated: adverse economic conditions;
impact of competitive products and pricing; proddeimand and acceptance risks; raw material and atlkeeased costs; raw mater
availability; employee relations; ability to maiirtavorkforce by hiring trained employees; custordelays or difficulties in the production
products; new fracking regulations; a prolongedrease in oil prices; unforeseen delays in compethre integrations of Palmer; ris
associated with mergers, acquisitions, dispositiamd other expansion activities; financial stapilif our customers; environmental issi
unavailability of debt financing on acceptable tsramd exposure to increased market interest skteinability to comply with covenants &
ratios required by our debt financing arrangemeattdity to weather an economic downturn; loss afisumer or investor confidence and o
risks detailed from time-ttme in Synalloy Corporation's Securities and Exgfea Commission filings. Synalloy Corporation asssime
obligation to update any forward-looking informatimcluded in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

PART |

Item 1 Business

Synalloy Corporation, a Delaware corporation, wa®iporated in 1958 as the successor to a chemaalifacturing business founded in 1
Its charter is perpetual. The name was changedubn 31, 1967 from Blackman Uhler Industries, Incn Qune 3, 1988, the state
incorporation was changed from South Carolina tta®are. The Company's executive offices are locatet/'5 Spartan Boulevard, Suite 1
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29301 and 4301 DomiBmulevard, Suite 130, Glen Allen, Virginia 230&hless indicated otherwise, the te

"Company," "we," "us," and "our" refer to Synall@prporation and our consolidated subsidiaries.

The Company's business is divided into two segmémsMetals Segment and the Specialty Chemicajsm8et. The Metals Segment oper
as Bristol Metals, LLC ("Bristol"), a wholly-ownesubsidiary of Synalloy Metals, Inc., Ram-Fab, LL&R#&m+ab") and Palmer of Tex
Tanks, Inc. ("Palmer"). Bristol manufactures pigBRISMET") and fabricates piping systems ("Bristal®) from stainless steel and ot
alloys, and Rantab fabricates piping systems from carbon, chrost&inless steel and other alloys. Palmer manufestliquid storag
solutions and separation equipment. The Metals 8agsmarkets include the chemical, petrochemipalp and paper, mining, pov
generation (including nuclear), water and waste ewdteatment, liquid natural gas ("LNG"), brewerigod processing, petroleu
pharmaceutical and other industries. The Specfahgmicals Segment operates as Manufacturers ChemidaC ("MC"), a wholly-ownec
subsidiary of Manufacturers Soap and Chemical Campbocated in Cleveland, Tennessee and DaltonrgieoThe Specialty Chemic
Segment produces specialty chemicals and dyeshéocdrpet, chemical, paper, metals, mining, agticall, fiber, paint, textile, automoti
petroleum, cosmetics, mattress, furniture, jarédaaind other industries.

General

Metals Segment —This segment is comprised of three whallyned subsidiaries: Synalloy Metals, Inc., whichnewl00 percent of Brist
Metals, LLC, located in Bristol, Tennessee; RRab, LLC, located in Crossett, Arkansas; and Patmh&exas Tanks, Inc., located in Andre
Texas.

BRISMET manufactures welded pipe, primarily froraistess steel, but also from other corrosiesistant metals. Pipe is produced in ¢
from one-half inch to 120 inches in diameter andl ttackness up to one and one-half inches. Sixieeh and smaller diameter pipe is m
on equipment that forms and welds the pipe in &igoaus process. Pipe larger than 16 inches in eliams formed on presses or rolls
welded on batch welding equipment. Pipe is normaltyduced in standard Z6et lengths. However, BRISMET has unusual cap@édsliin the
production of long length pipe without circumferiahtwelds. This can reduce installation cost fa tustomer. Lengths up to 60 feet ca
produced in sizes up to 16 inches in diameterailgdr sizes BRISMET has a unique ability among dim@roducers to make 48et length:
in diameters up to 36 inches. Over the past sixsyeBristol has made substantial capital improvesén both BRISMET and BristolF
expanding and improving capabilities to service katw requiring large diameter pipe and specialiyygbipe such as water and waste w
treatment, LNG, and




scrubber applications for the power industry. Thieserovements include expanding itgay facilities which allows simultaneous use ofl
time and film examination; updating material hangliequipment; expanding capabilities for forminggéapipe on existing batch equipm
giving BRISMET the capability to produce 36-incladiieter pipe in 48ot lengths with wall thicknesses of up to onehinadding a shear tt
has the capacity of shearing stainless steel plat® oneinch thick; completing plant expansions that allth@ manufacture of pipe up to
inches in diameter utilizing more readily availabbev materials at lower costs, provide additionanofacturing capacity, and prov
improved product handling and additional spacepfanned equipment additions; and installing autechdtydrotesting equipment for pipe
to 72 inches in diameter. During 2012, BRISMET aa&tiled equipment to manufacture carbon steel pipupply the needs of a nucl
project which it was awarded earlier in 2012.

A portion of the pipe produced is further processed piping systems that conform to engineeredvirgs furnished by the customers. 1
allows the customer to take advantage of the higglity and efficiencies of BristolFab and Rdmab ("Synalloy Fabrication") rather tt
performing all of the welding at the constructigre sBristolFab's pipe fabrication shop can make and ondialf inch diameter cold bends
one-half inch through eighitch stainless pipe with thicknesses up througledale 40S. Most of BristolFab's piping systemspaioeluced fror
pipe manufactured by BRISMET.

Ram+¥ab's carbon, stainless and chrome alloy pipedation enhances BristolFab's operations, givingSbgment the capability to quote
all types of pipe fabrication projects utilizingyaoombination of these three material types. Reah; which was purchased by the Compal
2009, was established over 20 years ago in Crogg#tinsas and provides affordable, quality pigeitation in carbon and stainless steel
high chrome alloys. From power plants to refineieschemical plants, Rafab serves a broad range of customers, both damasi
international. As a carbon and stainless steelhagid chrome pipe fabrication facility, RaRab is poised to take advantage of the antici
increase in the construction of power generati@ntgl utilizing coal or natural gas, as well as eacl Refinery upgrades and environme
work will also add to the requirements of qualibhop-fabricated carbon steel and high chrome syste®isce BRISMET does not manufact
carbon or chrome alloy pipe, except for the projeated above, these materials are purchased frasidewsuppliers. During 2010, Rafat
completed a capital project to add a temperatudehamidity controlled paint facility. Since the joaty of its carbon steel fabrication syste
requires painting, this increased their productioughput and improved quality.

Palmer is an International Organization for Staddation ("ISO") 9001 certified manufacturer ofdiiglass and steel tanks for the oil and
waste water treatment and municipal water industtiecated in Andrews, Texas, Palmer is ideallyated in the heart of oil and gas produc
territory. Palmer produces madeddder fiberglass tanks, utilizing a variety of @mt mandrels and application specific materials.if
fiberglass tanks range from two feet to 30 feetliemmeter at various heights. The majority of thises are used for oil field waste wi
capture and is an integral part of the environnmerggulatory compliance of the drilling process.ckdiberglass tank is manufacturec
American Petroleum Institute Q1 standards to enpuoeluct quality. In 2007, Palmer began investingaidedicated steel tank produc
facility. Over the past four years, the Company bai¢t an integrated production facility housingcrsed steel preparation, computer ass
plasma cutting table, automated submerged arc mgldilasting, painting and drying buildings. Theility enables efficient, environmenta
compliant steel production with designedexpansion capability to support future growtmished steel tanks range in size from 50 to 1(
barrels and are used to store extracted oil.

In order to establish stronger business relatiggsstonly a few raw material suppliers are usedr Bappliers furnish about 79 percent of t
dollar purchases of raw materials, with two supplieirnishing 34 percent and 30 percent of matgnsthases. However, the Company 1
not believe that the loss of any of these suppliesld have a materially adverse effect on the Camypas raw materials are readily avail:
from a number of different sources, and the Comganticipates no difficulties in fulfilling its redqrements.

This Segment's stainless steel products are usedpally by customers requiring materials that acgrosion-resistant or suitable for high
purity processes. The largest users are the chempetaochemical, pulp and paper, waste waterrimeat and LNG industries, with some ol
important industry users being mining, power getiena (including nuclear), water treatment, brewefgpd processing, petroleu
pharmaceutical and alternative fuels. The Segmeattson and chrome alloy products are used priynarithe power generation and chem
industries.

Specialty Chemicals Segment Fhis segment consists of the Company's whollyred subsidiary Manufacturers Soap and Chemicaipaoy
("MS&C"). MS&C owns 100 percent of MC, which is lated in Cleveland, Tennessee and Dalton, Georglasafully licensed for chemic
manufacture. The Segment produces specialty chtsvacel dyes for the carpet, chemical, paper, metaising, agricultural, fiber, pair
textile, automotive, petroleum, cosmetics, mattrégsiture, janitorial and other industries.

MC, which was purchased by the Company in 1996dyres over 1,100 specialty formulations and inteliates for use in a wide variety
applications and industries. MC's primary prodire$ focus on the areas of defoamers, surfactadtfuliricating
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agents. Over 20 years ago, MC began diversifymgniarketing efforts and expanding beyond tradilioextile chemical markets. These tt
fundamental product lines find their way into ganumber of manufacturing businesses. Over thes ythee customer list has grown to incl
end users and chemical companies that supply payedal working, surface coatings, water treatmpaint, mining and janitorial applicatiol
MC's capabilities also include the sulfation osfahd oils. These products are used in a widetyasfeapplications and represent a renew
resource, animal and vegetable derivatives, asnaliges to more expensive and memewable petroleum derivatives. In its Dalton, @&
facility, MC stores and ships chemicals and spgc@iemicals manufactured in MC's Cleveland plarthe carpet and rug market.

MC's strategy has been to focus on industries amdtets that have good prospects for sustainalilithe U.S. in light of global trends. M(
marketing strategy relies on sales to end useasigffir its own sales force, but it also sells chehiidarmediates to other chemical compa
and distributors. It also has close working reladitips with a significant number of major chemicampanies that outsource their produc
for regional manufacture and distribution to conipatike MC. MC has been ISO registered since 1995.

The Specialty Chemicals Segment maintains fourrkbaes for applied research and quality contrioiclv are staffed by ten employees.

Most raw materials used by the Segment are gepearadlilable from numerous independent suppliersabalit 50 percent of total purche
are from its top eight suppliers. While some rawtarial needs are met by a sole supplier or onlgva guppliers, the Company anticipate:
difficulties in fulfilling its raw material requiraents.

Please see Note 13 to the Consolidated Finana#ti8ents, which are included in Item 8 of this FAOK, for financial information about tl
Company's segments.

Sales and Distribution

Metals Segment —The Metals Segment utilizes separate sales orgamsafor its different product groups. Stainlesses pipe is sol
nationwide under the BRISMET trade name throughaniged stocking distributors at warehouse locatittmoughout the country. In additi
large quantity orders are shipped directly from 8RET's plant to endiser customers. Producing sales and providingaetweithe distributo
and enddser customers are BRISMET's President, one oussilds employee, nine independent manufacturgn&gentatives and nine ins
sales employees. The Metals Segment has one domeestiomer that accounted for approximately ten elesen percent of the Met
Segment's revenues in 2011 and 2010, respectivaiygccounted for less than ten percent for 20h2. [dss of this customers' revenues w
have an adverse effect on both the Metals Segnneinth® Company.

Fabrication systems are sold nationwide under thal®y Fabrication, BristolFab, Bristol Piping $§ss and Ranfrab trade names by t
outside sales employees. They are under the direofiSynalloy Fabrications' General Manager. Sggdtabrication also uses six indepen:
manufacturers' representatives to reach and exghairdcustomer base. Fabrication systems are nethetengineering firms and construc
companies or directly to project owners. Ordersramenally received as a result of competitive tddbmitted in response to inquiries and
proposals.

Palmer does not employ a dedicated external salésrarketing resource. However, they have an insades professional that manages
relationships with past customers to identify amtuse new sales. Additionally, the Company Presidmssumes account relations
management with large customers. Customer feeddmaathn-field experience generate product enhancenaen new product development.

Specialty Chemicals Segment Specialty chemicals are sold directly to variowdustries nationwide by five futime outside sales employ:
and eleven manufacturers' representatives. Theigye€Chemicals Segment has one domestic custonagraccounted for approximately
percent of the Segment's revenues in 2012 and &kmein 2011 and 2010. However, this customer large global company, and -
purchases by this customer are derived from sewd#ffatent business units that operate autonomoisiyn each other. Even so, loss of
customer's revenues would have a material advéfieset en both the Specialty Chemicals Segment hadCtompany.

Competition

Metals Segment Welded stainless steel pipe is the largest salesneproduct of the Metals Segment. Although infation is not publicl
available regarding the sales of most other produoé this product, management believes that thegamy is one of the largest dome
producers of such pipe. This commodity productigghly competitive with seven known domestic prodgcand imports from many differe
countries. The largest sales volume among thecoommodity specialized products comes from fabnigastainless, nickel alloys, chro
alloys and carbon piping systems. Management beditlve Company is one of the largest producersaf systems. There is also signific
competition in the piping systems' markets withkbh®wn




domestic suppliers with similar capabilities assByiFab and Rarfab, along with many other smaller suppliers. Du¢he size of the tan
produced and shipped to its customers, the majofiBalmer's product is sold within a 300 mile tedirom its plant in Andrews, Texas. Th
are currently eight tank producers, with similapa&ilities, servicing that same area.

Specialty Chemicals Segment ¥he Company is the sole producer of certain spgc@iemicals manufactured for other companies t
processing agreements and also produces proprigtagialty chemicals. The Company's sales of siyegieoducts are insignificant compa
to the overall market for specialty chemicals. Tierket for most of the products is highly compe¢itand many competitors have substant
greater resources than does the Company.

Mergers, Acquisitions and Dispositions

The Company is committed to a lotgrm strategy of (a) reinvesting capital in ourreut business segments to foster their organic traww
(b) completing acquisitions that expand our curremsiness segments or establish new manufactutatépims. Targeted acquisitions
priced to be economically feasible and focus orieag positive longeerm benefits. These acquisitions may be paidrfdhé form of cas
stock, debt or a combination thereof. The amoudttgpe of consideration and deal charges paid coale a shorterm dilutive effect on tf
Company's earnings per share. However, such trmss@re anticipated to provide long-term econdpainefit to the Company.

On August 21, 2012, the Company completed the asectof all of the outstanding shares of capitatkstf LeeVar, Inc. (now Palmer 1
Texas Tanks, Inc.), a Texas corporation doing lassiras Palmer of Texas ("Palmer"), pursuant tock gturchase agreement among Palr
former shareholders listed below and the Compaigddaugust 10, 2012 (the "SPA"). Palmer is a martufar of liquid storage solutions ¢
separation equipment for the petroleum, municipaler; wastewater, chemical and food industries. Siteres were purchased from Jim
Dean Lee, James Varner, and Steven C. O'Brate.

The purchase price for the acquisition was $25@¥®,n cash, and subject to working capital an@dixasset adjustments at closing.
adjustments at closing increased the purchase pticdosing to $26,951,209. In addition, the amoohinaintenance capital expendit
expenses over the I8enth period following closing and the final co$taoproduction expansion capital project currenttgerway could als
result in purchase price adjustments. Currently,Gompany does not expect to realize any mateui@hase price adjustments from these
items. Palmer shareholders will also have the tghbib receive contingent consideration ("eaut”) payments ranging from $2,500,00(
$10,500,000 if the business unit achieves targketeels of earnings before interest, taxes, deptieciaand amortization ("EBITDA") over
three year period following closing; and the Compauill have the ability to clawsack portions of the purchase price over a two yesioc
following closing if EBITDA falls below baselinevels.

Environmental Matters

Environmental expenditures that relate to an exgstiondition caused by past operations and doardtibute to future revenue generation
expensed. Liabilities are recorded when environalemtsessments and/or cleanups are probable armbste of these assessments al
cleanups can be reasonably estimated. Changewsoalad environmental issues, including climate geamre made or proposed with s
frequency and some of the proposals, if adopteghtdirectly or indirectly result in a material texdion in the operating results of one or n
of our operating units. We are presently unabli®tesee the future well enough to quantify sucksriSee Note 5 to the Consolidated Final
Statements, which are included in Item 8 of thienr&0-K, for further discussion.

Research and Development Activities

The Company spent approximately $612,000 in 20332800 in 2011 and $392,000 in 2010 on researdidawelopment activities that w
expensed in its Specialty Chemicals Segment. Fadividuals, all of whom are graduate chemists, emgaged primarily in research
development of new products and processes, theoiraprent of existing products and processes, anddtielopment of new applications
existing products.

Seasonal Nature of the Business

The Company's businesses and products are not iprsnéject to any seasonal impact causing sigaificvariations from one quarter
another.

Backlogs

The Specialty Chemicals Segment operates primarilyhe basis of delivering products soon after ir@ee received. Accordingly, backl
are not a factor in this business. The same apmieommodity pipe and storage tank sales in théaldeSegment. However, backlogs
important in the Metals Segment's fabrication pasilbecause they are produced only after ordersemeived, generally as the resul
competitive bidding. Order backlogs for these patduvere $19,300,000 at the end of 2012.
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Approximately 80 percent of the backlog should bmpleted in 2013. The backlog totaled $22,700,060%25,300,000 at the 2011 and 2
respective year ends.

Employee Relations

At December 29, 2012, the Company had 597 employides Company considers relations with employedsetsatisfactory. The number
employees of the Company represented by uniondpedited at the Bristol, Tennessee facility, is 284 38 percent of the Compar
employees. They are represented by two localsaaéfd with the AFLEIO and one local affiliated with the Teamstersli€xive bargainin
contracts will expire in January 2015, February28hd March 2015.

Financial Information about Geographic Areas
Information about revenues derived from domestit faneign customers is set forth in Note 13 to@mmsolidated Financial Statements.
Available information

The Company electronically files with the Secustand Exchange Commission ("SEC") its annual repmmtForm 10K, its quarterly repor
on Form 10-Q, its periodic reports on FornkK8amendments to those reports filed or furnishadsypant to Section 13(a) of the Secur
Exchange Act of 1934 (the "1934 Act"), and proxytemials pursuant to Section 14 of the 1934 Act. Bl€C maintains a site on the Inter
www.sec.gov, that contains reports, proxy and informationestagnts, and other information regarding issuersfileaelectronically with th
SEC. The Company also makes its filings availafvsex of charge, through its Web site, www.synalbom , as soon as reasonably prac
after the electronic filing of such material withetSEC. The information on the Company's Web sitet incorporated into this Annual Rej
on Form 10-K or any other filing the Company makéth the SEC.

Iltem 1A Risk Factors

There are inherent risks and uncertainties assatiaith our business that could adversely affegt aperating performance and finan
condition. Set forth below are descriptions of #hatsks and uncertainties that we believe to beerat but the risks and uncertain
described are not the only risks and uncertairitias could affect our business. Reference shoulthdéde to "Forward-ooking Statement:
above, and "Management's Discussion and Analystsnaincial Condition and Results of Operationsitém 7 below.

The cyclical nature of the industries in which awrstomers operate causes demand for our productsetayclical, creating uncertair
regarding future profitability.Various changes in general economic conditionscaffiee industries in which our customers operateesi
changes include decreases in the rate of consumptiaise of our customers' products due to econamienturns. Other factors caus
fluctuation in our customers' positions are charigasarket demand, capital spending, lower ovgratling due to domestic and internatic
overcapacity, lower priced imports, currency flattans, and increases in use or decreases in icasstitute materials. As a result of tf
factors, our profitability has been and may infilteire be subject to significant fluctuation.

Domestic and international competition could fotowver product pricing and may have an adverse éeffecour revenues and profitabili
From time-totime, intense competition, an influx of a highearttnormal amount of foreign products and excesaufaaturing capacity in tt
commodity stainless steel industry have resulteteduced selling prices, excluding raw materiacbarges, for many of our stainless ¢
products sold by the Metals Segment. In order tcntagn market share, we would have to lower oucgsito match the competition.Th
factors have had and may have an adverse impamiraevenues, operating results and financial dardi

Raw material costs are subject to volatiliwhile we are able to mitigate some of the advensgait of rising raw material costs, sucl
passing through surcharges to customers, rapi@ases in raw material costs may adversely affectresults of operations mainly for ¢
fabrication and steel tank operations. Their ergn@duction and sales model is based upon produoiogder. During the bidding process,
quote the job based upon current market pricestonless and carbon steel plate, pipe and fittiRgpid changes in raw material costs dt
the period of time from when we bid the job to wltlea materials were ordered would change our rsufirofitability on that job.

Surcharges on stainless steel are also subjecapiol declines which can result in similar declinesselling prices causing a possi
marketability problem on the related inventory adlhas negatively impacting revenues and profitgbilWe produce all of our commodity pi
for inventory so that we can quickly respond to customer's requirements. As stainless steel sigebalecrease, our revenues are basec
current pricing which were reduced for the lowercharge while our cost reflects the higher histdritumbers. This causes our profitabilit
erode.




While there has been ample availability of raw miats, there continues to be a significant constiah of stainless steel suppliers throug
the world which could have an impact on the cost amailability of stainless steel in the future.eTability to implement price increase:
dependent on market conditions, economic fact@w, material costs, including surcharges on stasnteel, availability of raw materic
competitive factors, operating costs and otherofactmost of which are beyond our control. As natbdve, to the extent that we have qu
prices to customers and accepted customer ordepsdducts prior to purchasing necessary raw nmatemr have existing contracts, we ma
unable to raise the price of products to coveorjflart of the increased cost of the raw materials.

The Specialty Chemicals Segment uses significaarititjes of a variety of specialty and commoditgroiicals in its manufacturing proces
which are subject to price and availability flucticms . Any significant variations in the cost and avhiligy of our specialty and commod
materials may negatively affect our business, fimgircondition or results of operations. The rawtenals we use are generally available f
numerous independent suppliers. However, somerafasumaterial needs are met by a sole supplientra few suppliers. If any supplier t
we rely on for raw materials ceases or limits paidun, we may incur significant additional costsc¢luding capital costs, in order to f
alternate, reliable raw material suppliers. We rabsp experience significant production delays whileating new supply sources. Purct
prices and availability of these critical raw méibs are subject to volatility. Some of the raw eng&tls used by this Segment are derived
petrochemicabased feedstock, such as crude oil and natural wlaish have been subject to historical periods agdid and significal
movements in price. These fluctuations in pricelddne aggravated by factors beyond our control sicpolitical instability, and supply a
demand factors, including OPEC production quotabsianoreased global demand for petrolebased products. At any given time we ma
unable to obtain an adequate supply of these a@rritaov materials on a timely basis, on price arfteoterms acceptable, or at all. If supp
increase the price of critical raw materials, weymat have alternative sources of supply. We seielgt pass changes in the prices of
materials to our customers from timetime. However, we cannot always do so, and anytditioin on our ability to pass through any p
increases could affect our financial performance.

We rely upon third parties for our supply of energgources consumed in the manufacture of our posda both of our Segmenithe price
for and availability of electricity, natural gad] and other energy resources are subject to Velatarket conditions. These market condit
often are affected by political and economic fastoeyond our control. Disruptions in the supplyenérgy resources could temporarily im
the ability to manufacture products for customé&gther, increases in energy costs that cannotabsegl on to customers, or changes in
relative to energy costs paid by competitors, lthesely affected, and may continue to adversdicgfour profitability.

We encounter significant competition in all aredsoar businesses and may be unable to competdiefigc which could result in reduc
profitability and loss of market sharwWe actively compete with companies producing theesar similar products and, in some instances,
companies producing different products designedtifersame uses. We encounter competition from daniestic and foreign sources in pr
delivery, service, performance, product innovatiord product recognition and quality, depending len groduct involved. For some of
products, our competitors are larger and have grdatancial resources than we do. As a resultsgheompetitors may be better abli
withstand a change in conditions within the indestin which we operate, a change in the pricesvwwfmaterials or a change in the econon
a whole. Our competitors can be expected to coattoudevelop and introduce new and enhanced produad more efficient producti
capabilities, which could cause a decline in madateptance of our products. Current and futuresa@adation among our competitors
customers also may cause a loss of market shaselhas put downward pressure on pricing. Our cditgre could cause a reduction in
prices for some of our products as a result ofnisifeed price competition. Competitive pressures akso result in the loss of major custorr
If we cannot compete successfully, our businesanitial condition and profitability could be adwaysaffected.

The applicability of numerous environmental lawoto manufacturing facilities could cause us tounmaterial costs and liabilitiedVe are
subject to federal, state, and local environmest#ety and health laws and regulations concerr@ntng other things, emissions to the
discharges to land and water, climate changestlamdjeneration, handling, treatment and disposdlagirdous waste and other matel
Under certain environmental laws, we can be halidtlst liable for hazardous substance contaminatiérany real property we have e
owned, operated or used as a disposal site. Walsoeequired to maintain various environmentahper and licenses, many of which req
periodic modification and renewal. Our operationta# the risk of violations of those laws and riegiwns, and we cannot assure you tha
have been or will be at all times in compliancehwvétl of these requirements. In addition, theseaiiregnents and their enforcement may bec
more stringent in the future. Although we cann@&dact the ultimate cost of compliance with any steduirements, the costs could be mate
Non-compliance could subject us to material liabititisuch as government fines, third-party lawsuitshe suspension of naemplian
operations. We also may be required to make sigmifi site or operational modifications at subsgrdost. Future developments also ci
restrict or eliminate the use of or require us ekenmodifications to our products, which could haw&gnificant negative impact on our res
of operations and cash flows. At any given time,are involved in claims, litigation, administratipeoceedings and investigations of vari
types involving potential environmental liabilitieiscluding cleanup costs associated with hazardeaste disposal sites at our facilities.
cannot assure you that the resolution of theser@mviental matters will not have a material advexféect on our results of operations or ¢
flows. The ultimate costs and timing of




environmental liabilities are difficult to predidtiability under environmental laws relating to ¢aminated sites can be imposed retroact
and on a joint and several basis. We could inggmiicant costs, including cleanup costs, civilopiminal fines and sanctions and thipdrty
claims, as a result of past or future violationsafliabilities under, environmental laws. For @mthal information related to environmer
matters, see Note 5 to the Consolidated Finantéé®ents.

We are dependent upon the continued safe operafi@ur production facilities which are subject tonamber of hazarddn our Specialt
Chemicals Segment, these production facilitiessatgect to hazards associated with the manufachamdling, storage and transportatiol
chemical materials and products, including leaks raptures, explosions, fires, inclement weather matural disasters, unscheduled down
and environmental hazards which could result ihility for workplace injuries and fatalities. In dition, some of our production capabilit
are highly specialized, which limits our ability shift production to another facility in the evesftan incident at a particular facility. I
production facility, or a critical portion of a ptaction facility, were temporarily shut down, w&edly would incur higher costs for altern
sources of supply for our products. We cannotrasgou that we will not experience these typesioifdents in the future or that these incid
will not result in production delays or otherwisavie a material adverse effect on our businessydinhcondition or results of operations.

Certain of our employees in the Metals Segmentcaxered by collective bargaining agreements, araftilure to renew these agreems
could result in labor disruptions and increased dalzosts.We have 224 employees represented by unions a@rk®l, Tennessee facilil
which is 38 percent of our total employees. They r@presented by two locals affiliated with the AELO and one local affiliated with t
Teamsters. Collective bargaining contracts williexpn January 2015, February 2014 and March 2@ithough we believe that our pres
labor relations are satisfactory, our failure tnew these agreements on reasonable terms as teatcagreements expire could result in i
disruptions and increased labor costs, which cadicersely affect our financial performance.

The limits imposed on us by the restrictive covenaantained in our credit facilities could preverst from obtaining adequate working capi
making acquisitions or capital improvements, or smws to lose access to our faciliti€3ur existing credit facilities contain restrict
covenants that limit our ability to, among otheings, borrow money or guarantee the debts of oth#se assets as security in o
transactions, make investments or other restriggsainents or distributions, change our businessitar énto new lines of business, and se
acquire assets or merge with or into other comganieaddition, our credit facilities require usret financial ratios which could limit ¢
ability to plan for or react to market conditions meet extraordinary capital needs and could otisenrestrict our financing activities. C
ability to comply with the covenants and other temof our credit facilities will depend on our futubperating performance. If we fail to corr
with such covenants and terms, we will be in defand the maturity of any then outstanding relateit could be accelerated and bec
immediately due and payable. We may be requirexbtain waivers from our lender in order to mainte@mpliance under our credit faciliti
including waivers with respect to our compliancétwmdertain financial covenants. If we are unablelitain any necessary waivers and the
under our credit facilities is accelerated, ouafinial condition would be adversely affected.

We may not have access to capital in the future e need new or additional financing in the futtweexpand our business or refina
existing indebtednesK.we are unable to access capital on satisfadts and conditions, we may not be able to expamdusiness or me
our payment requirements under our existing crizdiilities. Our ability to obtain new or additionfihancing will depend on a variety
factors, many of which are beyond our control. Waymot be able to obtain new or additional finagdiecause we may have substantial
or because we may not have sufficient cash flogetwice or repay our existing or future debt. Idifdn, depending on market conditions
our financial performance, equity financing may hetavailable on satisfactory terms or at all.

Our existing property and liability insurance coages contain exclusions and limitations on coverag&’e have maintained various forms
insurance, including insurance covering claimsteglato our properties and risks associated with @pgrations. From time-tome, ir
connection with renewals of insurance, we have ggpeed additional exclusions and limitations omerage, larger selfisured retentions a
deductibles and higher premiums, primarily from 8pecialty Chemicals operations. As a result, enfthiure our insurance coverage may
cover claims to the extent that it has in the pask the costs that we incur to procure insurancgin@ease significantly, either of which co
have an adverse effect on our results of operations

We may not be able to make changes necessary tmwsrio be a market leader and an effective coitguet We believe that we mt
continue to enhance our existing products and ¥@ldp and manufacture new products with improvaehbdities in order to continue to b
market leader. We also believe that we must coatioumake improvements in our productivity in ortemaintain our competitive positic
When we invest in new technologies, processesradyation capabilities, we face risks related tostouction delays, cost ovewns an
unanticipated technical difficulties. Our inability anticipate, respond to or utilize changing teatbgies could have a material adverse €
on our business and our consolidated results abtipes.

Our strategy of using acquisitions and dispositidasposition our businesses may not always be ss@deWe have historically utilize
acquisitions and dispositions in an effort to tgitally position our businesses and improve oulitabo compete. We
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plan to continue to do this by seeking specialthes, acquiring businesses complementary to egistiengths and continually evaluating
performance and strategic fit of our existing bask units. We consider acquisition, joint venturasd other business combinai
opportunities as well as possible business unpaditions. From time-téime, management holds discussions with managewienthe
companies to explore such opportunities. As a tethe relative makeup of the businesses comprisimgCompany is subject to char
Acquisitions, joint ventures, and other businesslzimations involve various inherent risks, suchassessing accurately the value, stren
weaknesses, contingent and other liabilities arténii@l profitability of acquisition or other tramgion candidates; the potential loss of
personnel of an acquired business; significantstation costs that were not identified during diligehce; our ability to achieve identifi
financial and operating synergies anticipated ®ultefrom an acquisition or other transaction; amtnticipated changes in business
economic conditions affecting an acquisition orestttansaction.

Our internal controls over financial reporting calfail to prevent or detect misstatemenBecause of its inherent limitations, internal cofs
over financial reporting may not prevent or deteisstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectivesde future periods a
subject to the risk that controls may become inadegibecause of changes in conditions, or thadélgeee of compliance with the policies
procedures may deteriorate. Any failure to maingfiiective internal controls or to timely effectyanecessary improvement in our inte
control and disclosure controls could, among othergs, result in losses from fraud or error, hayan reputation or cause investors to
confidence in our reported financial informatioti, & which could have a material adverse effectaum results of operation and finan
condition.

Cyber security risks and cyber incidents could asiely affect our business and disrupt operatiddgber incidents can result from delibel
attacks or unintentional events. These incidemsinelude, but are not limited to, gaining unauthed access to digital systems for purpos
misappropriating assets or sensitive informatianrupting data, or causing operational disruptibine result of these incidents could inclt
but are not limited to, disrupted operations, naitedd financial data, liability for stolen assetsrdormation, increased cyber security protec
costs, litigation and reputational damage adveraficting customer or investor confidence.

Federal, state and local legislative and regulatamifiatives relating to hydraulic fracturing, asell as governmental reviews of such activ
could result in delays or eliminate new wells frbaing started, thus reducing the demand for owsrfitass and steel storage tanki:draulic
fracturing ("fracking") is currently an essentialdacommon practice to extract oil from dense subsarrock formations and this lower ¢
extraction method is a significant driving forcenm the recent surge of oil exploration and drdliin several locations in the United Ste
However, the Environmental Protection Agency, Cesgrand state legislatures have considered adoletyigjation to provide additior
regulations and disclosures surrounding this pmadasthe event that new legal restrictions surdiog the fracking process are adopted ir
areas that our customers operate in, we may sesn@atic decrease in tank profitability.

Qil prices are extremely volatile. A substantialextended decline in the price of oil could advirsdfect our financial condition and results
operations.Prices for oil can fluctuate widely. Palmer's rewes are highly dependent on our customers addingedli drilling and pumpin
locations. Should oil prices decline whereby dridlibecomes unprofitable for our customers, theyaaip many of their current wells and ce
expansion. This will decrease the demand for aukg@and adversely affect the results of our opanati

Our results of operations could be adversely affeédty goodwill impairment#s a result of our acquisitions, we have approxalya$18.:
million of goodwill on our Consolidated Balance 8heGoodwill must be tested at least annually fopairment, and more frequently wi
circumstances indicate likely impairment. Goodvgliconsidered impaired to the extent that its ¢agyamount exceeds its implied fair va
An impairment of goodwill could have a substantiagative effect on our profitability.

The loss of key members of our management teawmiffimulty attracting and retaining experienced beical personnel, could reduce «
competitiveness and prospects for future succHss.successful implementation of our strategiesteamtlling of other issues integral to
future success will depend, in part, on our expeee management team. The loss of key membersrahanagement team could have
adverse effect on our business. Also, if we caneiain our technical personnel or attract additi@xperienced technical personnel, our ak
to compete could be harmed.

Our allowance for doubtful accounts may not be adde to cover actual losseédn allowance for doubtful accounts in maintained
estimated losses resulting from the inability of eustomers to make required payments and for thspalaims and quality issues. T
allowance may not be adequate to cover actualdpase future provisions for losses could matgriafid adversely affect our operating res
The allowance for doubtful accounts is based oormxperience, as well as an evaluation of thetating receivables and existing econc
conditions. The amount of future losses is susbkpto changes in economic, operating and othesigiforces and conditions, all of which
beyond our control, and these losses may exceadntugstimates. While management believes thatalloevance for doubtful accounts
adequate to cover current estimated losses, we
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cannot make assurances that we will not furthereme the allowance for doubtful accounts. A sigaift increase in the allowance
doubtful accounts could adversely affect earnings.

While our common stock is currently traded on tHe&SRAQ Global Market, it has less liquidity thanc® for larger companies quoted o
national securities exchang€he trading volume in our common stock on the NASD@&lobal Market has been relatively low when corep
with larger companies listed on the NASDAQ Globahrkket or other stock exchanges. There is no asserirat a more active and lig
trading market for the common stock will exist hetfuture. Consequently, shareholders may not leetatsell a substantial number of sh.
for the same price at which shareholders couldassthaller number of shares. In addition, we capredict the effect, if any, that future s:
of our common stock in the market, or the availgbdf shares of common stock for sale in the markdl have on the market price of ¢
common stock. Sales of substantial amounts of camstock in the market, or the potential for largeoants of sales in the market, cc
cause the price of our common stock to declineeduce our ability to raise capital through futsedes of common stock.

Item 1B Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2 Properties

The Company operates the major plants and fasillisted below, all of which are in adequate caadifor their current usage. All faciliti
throughout the Company are believed to be adegquatsbred. The buildings are of various types ohstouction including brick, ste
concrete, concrete block and sheet metal. All lredejuate transportation facilities for both raweriats and finished products. The Comg.

owns all of these plants and facilities, exceptwiaeehouse facilities located in Dalton, GA, and tiorporate offices located in Spartanburg
and Glen Allen, VA.

Location Principal Operations Building Square Feet Land Acres
Bristol, TN Manufacturing stainless steel pipe and stainles giping systems 275,000 73.1
Crossett, AR Manufacturing carbon and chrome alloy piping system 133,000 19.8
Cleveland, TN Chemical manufacturing and warehousing facilities 118,000 10.5
Andrews, TX Manufacturing liquid storage solutions an separatiQquipment 109,432 19.6
Dalton, GA Warehouse facilitie® 32,000 2.0
Spartanburg, SC Corporate headquartets 6,840 —
Glen Allen, VA Office space for Corporate employeés 2,869 —
Augusta, GA Chemical manufacturing — 46.0

(1) Leased facility
(2) Plant was closed in 2001 and all structures andufaaturing equipment have been remo

Item 3 Legal Proceedings

For a discussion of legal proceedings, see Notexl5l1 to the Consolidated Financial Statementaded in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

Item 4 Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
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PART Il

Item 5 Market for the Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases &quity Securities

The Company had 667 common shareholders of redofglzruary 25, 2013. The Company's common stodes@n the NASDAQ Glok
Market under the trading symbol SYNL. The Compawy&dit agreement only restricts the payment ofdeinds through a minimum tangi
net worth covenant. The Company paid a $0.25 castietid on December 10, 2012, a $0.25 cash dividenBecember 5, 2011, a $0.25 ¢
dividend on December 8, 2010, and a $0.25 cashetid on March 22, 2010. The prices shown beloviterdigh and low sales prices for
common stock for each full quarterly period in thast two fiscal years as quoted on the NASDAQ Glabarket.

2012 2011
Quarter High Low High Low
1st $ 13.7¢  $ 10.21 $ 155C $ 11.2¢
2nd 13.4¢ 10.3¢ 15.4¢ 11.4¢
3rd 14.0( 10.4¢ 13.8( 9.1¢
4th 14.97 12.2¢ 12.97 9.1t

The information required by Item 201(d) of ReguwdatS-K is set forth in Part Ill, Iltem 12 of this Amal Report on Form 10-K.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Synalloy Corporation, the Russell 2000 Index, and the NASDAQ Non-Financial Index

$140 -

$120 |

$100

$80 -
$60 -
w -
$20 -
$0 : - ;
12007 12/08 1209 1210 1211 12112
—&— Synalloy Corporation — & —Russell 2000 ---=--- NASDAQ Non-Financial
*$100 invested on 12/31/07 in stock or index, including reinvesiment of dvdends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.
Source: Russell Investment Group
Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return Graph
12/07 12/08 12/09 12/10 12/11 12/12
Synalloy Corporation $ 100.0C $ 28.4t % 57.01 $ 7767 $ 67.4t $ 95.71
Russell 2000 100.0( 66.21 84.2( 106.8: 102.3¢ 119.0¢
NASDAQ Non-Financial 100.0( 60.0¢ 89.8¢ 105.8:¢ 107.2: 125.8¢

This graph and related information shall not benaeg to be “filed” with the Securities and Exchari@@mmission or “soliciting materialér
subject to Regulation 14A, or the liabilities ofcBen 18 of the 1934 Act, except to the extent@oenpany specifically
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requests that such information be treated as tinljanaterial or specifically incorporates it byerence into a filing under the Securities Ac
1933 or the 1934 Act.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

Pursuant to the compensation arrangement with tdireaiscussed under Item 12 "Security OwnershifCeftain Beneficial Owners a
Management and Related Stockholder Matters" inRbisn 10-K, on April 27, 2012, the Company issug@ach of its nommployee directo
1,598 shares of its common stock (an aggregate98Dhares). Such shares were issued to theatsentlieu of $20,000 of their annual ¢
retainer fees. Issuance of these shares was nistamgl under the Securities Act of 1933 basedhenetkemption provided by Section ¢
thereof because no public offering was involved. Qwmpany also issued 11,099 shares of common &0o2R12 to management and
employees that vested pursuant to the 2005 StockrdsvPlan. Issuance of these shares was not megisteder the Securities Act of 1¢
based on the exemption provided by Section 4(2ptfdecause no public offering was involved. Adsming 2012, the Company issued sh
of common stock to the following classes of persapan the exercise of options issued pursuantddCiimpany's 1998 Longerm Incentiv:
Stock Option Plan and the 2011 Logrm Incentive Stock Option Plan. Issuance of thetsmres was exempt from registration pursus
Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933 becahsdssuance did not involve a public offering.

Number of Shares Aggregate Exercise

Date Issued Class of Purchasers Issued Price

10/22/2012 Officers and Employees 7,80C $ 77,68¢

12/20/2012 Officers and Employees 4,00( 46,20(
11,80C $ 123,88t

Neither the Company, nor any affiliated purchassrdefined in Rule 1(-18(a)(3) of the 1934 Act) on behalf of the Compaggyurchased ai
of the Company's securities during the fourth cerast 2012.
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Item 6 Selected Financial Data

Selected Financial Data and Other Financial Inform&on
(Dollar amounts in thousands except for per shata)d

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Operations
Net sales $ 19765¢ ¢ 17057¢ $ 151,120 $ 103,64 $ 167,26¢
Gross profit 21,92¢ 21,09( 15,91¢ 9,48¢ 18,55:
Selling, general & administrative expense 14,14( 12,28 9,72¢ 8,78 9,72¢
Operating income 7,78¢ 8,80¢ 6,192 702 8,82:
Net income continuing operations 4,23t 5,79 4,03« 21¢ 5,631
Net (loss) income discontinued operations — — — (4) 352
Net income 4,23t 5,79i 4,03¢ 21t 5,98:
Financial Position
Total assets 148,50° 98,91¢ 81,37t 78,25 94,66¢
Working capital 65,91¢ 56,34« 43,23: 44,12 49,43:
Long-term debt, less current portion 37,59: 8,65( 21¢ — 9,95¢
Shareholders' equity 71,77¢ 68,61¢ 63,87¢ 62,72: 62,867
Financial Ratios
Current ratio 3.6:1 4.1:1 4.0:1 4.5:1 3.7:1
Gross profit to net sales 11% 12% 11% 9% 11%
Long-term debt to capital 34% 11% 0% 0% 14%
Return on average assets 3% 6% 5% 0% 6%
Return on average equity 6% 9% 6% 0% 9%
Per Share Data (income/(loss) — diluted)
Net income continuing operations $ 0.66 % 091 % 0.6 % 0.0 % 0.9C
Net income (loss) discontinued operations — — — (0.00 0.0t
Net income 0.6¢€ 0.91 0.64 0.0z 0.9t
Dividends declared and paid 0.2t 0.2t 0.5C 0.1C 0.2t
Book value 11.2¢ 10.8¢ 10.1¢ 10.01 10.0¢
Other Data
Depreciation and amortization $ 3,39¢ % 2,65¢ % 264: % 2,40 % 2,082
Capital expenditures $ 4,74 3 3,188 % 509 % 1,892 % 3,05¢
Employees at year end 597 441 441 46€ 45¢
Shareholders of record at year end 66¢ 687 704 79C 82¢
Average shares outstanding - diluted 6,39/ 6,362 6,30¢ 6,26¢ 6,281
Stock Price
Price range of common stock
High $ 1497 $ 155 $ 12.28  $ 104¢  $ 17.9¢
Low 10.21 9.1t 7.47 3.8¢ 3.52
Close 13.4¢ 10.27 12.12 9.42 5.0C

Item 7 Management's Discussion and Analysis of Fimeial Condition and Results of Operations
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financiahdtion and Results of Operations discusses thmpaoy's consolidated financ
statements, which have been prepared in accordaitbeaccounting principles generally accepted ie thnited States of America. T
preparation of these financial statements requir@sagement to make estimates and assumptiondfietttae
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reported amounts of assets and liabilities anddikelosure of contingent assets and liabilitieshat date of the financial statements anc
reported amounts of revenues and expenses durageforting period. On an amwing basis, management evaluates its estimate
judgments based on historical experience and dousother factors that are believed to be readenaider the circumstances, the resul
which form the basis for making judgments aboutdhgying value of assets and liabilities that ao¢ readily apparent from other sour
Actual results may differ from these estimates urtiferent assumptions or conditions. Managemetieles the following critical accounti
policies, among others, affect its more significartigments and estimates used in the preparatidheofCompany's consolidated finan
statements.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company maintained allowances for doubtful aot® of $1,312,715 as of December 29, 2012, famestd losses resulting from
inability of its customers to make required paymseand for disputed claims and quality issues. Tllmvance is based upon a review
outstanding receivables, historical collection mfiation and existing economic conditions. The Comypaerforms periodic credit evaluatic
of its customers' financial condition and generalbes not require collateral. Receivables are gdlgedue within 30 to 45 days. Delinqu
receivables are written off based on individuatidrevaluations and specific circumstances of th&amer.

Inventory Reserves

The Company establishes a reserve for estimatealesdtence or unmarketable inventory in an amoundletp the difference between the «
of inventory and the estimated market value bagamhwassumptions about future demand and curreriketaonditions. Based on histori
results, the Company also maintains an inventosgrie to provide for the amount of estimated inegnguantity loss since the last phys
inventory. As of December 29, 2012, the Company $883,000 accrued for inventory obsolescencenaaket reserves. If actual mar
conditions are less favorable than those estimtagadanagement, additional inventory reserves magteired.

Environmental Reserves

As noted in Note 5 to the Consolidated Financialte3hents included in Item 8 of this Form KQthe Company has accrued $640,000
December 29, 2012, in environmental remediatiortscadiich, in management's best estimate, are ®iffito satisfy anticipated costs
known remediation requirements as explained in Niot&xpenditures related to costs currently accraiednot discounted to their pres
values and are expected to be made over the nee th four years. However, as a result of the \engl nature of the environmen
regulations, the difficulty in estimating the extesnd necessary remediation of environmental coimi@ion, and the availability a
application of technology, the estimated costsfibure environmental compliance and remediation safgject to uncertainties and it is
possible to predict the amount or timing of futuwrests of environmental matters which may subsetjudrg determined. Changes
information known to management or in applicablgutations may require the Company to record aduttioemediation reserves.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company continually reviews the recoverabitifythe carrying value of long-lived assets. Ldivged assets are reviewed for impairn
when events or changes in circumstances, alsaedfés as "triggering events", indicate that theydag value of a londived asset or group
assets (the "Assets") may no longer be recoverdbiggering events include: a significant declimethe market price of the Assets
significant adverse change in the operating ugghgsical condition of the Assets; a significant@cbe change in legal factors or in the busi
climate impacting the Assets' value, including fatpry issues such as environmental actions; timemgéion by the Assets of historical ¢
flow losses combined with projected future caslflosses; or the expectation that the Assets wilbdld or disposed of significantly before
end of the useful life of the Assets. The Compaoyctuded that there were no indications of impairtmequiring further testing during 1
year ended December 29, 20

If the Company concluded that, based on its revaéwurrent facts and circumstances, there werecatidins of impairment, testing of 1
applicable Assets would be performed. The recovigsabf the Assets to be held and used is teste@dmparing the carrying amount of
Assets at the date of the test to the sum of tlima&t®d future undiscounted cash flows expectedet@enerated by those Assets ove
remaining useful life of the Assets. In estimatihg future undiscounted cash flows, the Compang msejections of cash flows direc
associated with, and which are expected to arise disect result of, the use and eventual dispwsitf the Assets. This approach reqt
significant judgments including the Company's prtge net cash flows, which are derived using thetmecent available estimate for
reporting unit containing the Assets tested. Seévieeg assumptions would include periods of operatiprojections of product pricir
production levels, product costs, market supply dachand, and inflation. If it is determined tha¢ ttarrying amount of the Assets are
recoverable, an impairment loss would be calculagdal to the excess of the carrying amount of Absets over their fair value. Ass
classified as held for sale are

15




recorded at the lower of their carrying amountair ¥alue less cost to sell. Assets to be dispoa$edther than by sale are classified as helc
used until the Assets are disposed or use hasdtease

Goodwill

The Company has goodwill of $1,355,000 recordegaas of its 1996 acquisition of Manufacturers Saay Chemical Company, operal
within the Chemicals Segment, $1,000,000 recordegdaat of its 2009 acquisition of RaRab, Inc. and $15,898,000 recorded as part
current year acquisition of Palmer, both operatirtfpin the Metals Segment. Goodwill, which represehe excess of purchase price ovel
value of net assets acquired, is tested for impaitnat least on an annual basis. The initial sfefh@ goodwill impairment test involves
comparison of the fair value of the reporting unitvhich the goodwill is recorded, with its carrgimmount. If the reporting unit's fair va
exceeds its carrying value, no impairment lose@ognized and the second step, which is a caloaolati the impairment, is not perform
However, if the reporting unit's carrying value e&ds its fair value, an impairment charge equahéodifference in the carrying value of
goodwill and the implied fair value of the goodwslrecorded. Implied fair value of goodwill is dahined in the same manner as the an
of goodwill recognized in a business combinatiohafTis, the fair value of the reporting unit isoatited to the assets and liabilities of
reporting unit as if it had been acquired in a bess combination. The excess of the fair valub®féporting unit over the amounts allocate
assets and liabilities is the implied fair valuegobdwill.

In making our determination of fair value of theoeting unit, we rely on the discounted cash flowtiod. This method uses projection
cash flows from the reporting unit. This approaeguires significant judgments including the Compsupyojected net cash flows, the weigl
average cost of capital ("WACC") used to discoum tash flows and terminal value assumptions. Wivel¢hese assumptions used in
testing from several sources. Many of these assangpare derived from our internal budgets, whichuld include existing sales data base
current product lines and assumed production levaenufacturing costs and product pricing. We Ieli¢ghat our internal forecasts

consistent with those that would be used by a piaidsuyer in valuing our reporting units.

The WACC rate is based on an average of the cagiitatture, cost of capital and inherent businéss profiles of the Company. T
assumptions used in the valuation are interreldthd.continuing degree of interrelationship of thassumptions is, in and of itself a signific
assumption. Because of the interrelationships antlomgssumptions, we do not believe it would benimggdul to provide a sensitivity analy
on any of the individual assumptions. However, &ag assumption in our valuation model is the WATCthe WACC, which is used
discount the projected cash flows, were higherptie@sure of the fair value of the net assets ofgperting unit would decrease. Conversel
the WACC were lower, the measure of the fair valfithe net assets of the reporting unit would iasee Changes in any of the Compe
other estimates could also have a material effied¢he estimated future undiscounted cash flows arpeto be generated by the reporting L
assets.

Based on the Company's goodwill impairment teghan fourth quarter of 2012, each reporting uniis Yalue exceeded its carrying va
therefore no further testing was required and ngainment loss was recognized.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash flows provided by operating activities durid@12 totaled $1,635,000 and cash flows used inabipgr activities in 2011 total
$3,858,000, an improvement in cash flows of $5@03, Cash flows in 2012 were generated from nedrire totaling $7,634,000 bef
depreciation and amortization expense of $3,399,8ice the Company acquired Palmer on August R122cash flows resulting frc
changes in operating assets and liabilities cabhaadetermined simply by subtracting 2012 balaneetshmounts from 2011 values. The
value of all assets and liabilities acquired arewsh in the "Acquisition of Palmer of Texas" line ihe investing activities section of
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Accordinigigse individual acquired balances represent beginbalances for Palmer cash fl
purposes. Cash flows were adversely affected b¥,422,000 increase in inventories in 2012, as gedrbalances increased, net of rese
from $43,063,000 at the end of 2011 for historBphalloy operations plus the $5,678,000 Palmerrirégg balance to $50,163,000 at the
of 2012. Substantially all of the increase occurirethe Specialty Chemicals Segment to supportéhigt®13 sales projections, including
additional defoamer business acquired during 28t2ounts payable also adversely affected cash floyw$4,152,000 in 2012 as there w
significant inventory purchases in the fourth geadf 2011 in the Metals Segment which increase®11 yeaend accounts payable bala
combined with lower nickel surcharges included 012s yeaend accounts payable balance. Operating cash fleeve also unfavorab
affected by higher other assets and liabilities, Bereceivable from the prior owners of Palmer westablished in December 2012
$1,494,000 which resulted from the final workingital adjustment, uncollected accounts receivahte @her items detailed in the SPA. 1
receivable was settled in January 2013.

Cash flows used in operating activities during 2@h#l 2010 totaled $3,858,000 and $6,048,000, réspbg an improvement in cash flows
$2,190,000. Cash flows in 2011 were generated fr@hincome totaling $8,456,000 before deprecia@mml amortization expense
$2,659,000. Cash flows were adversely affected my$& 710,000 increase in inventories in 2011, emr-grd balances increased, ne
reserves, from $34,353,000 at the end of 2010 8068,000 at the end of 2011. Substantially all
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of the increase occurred in the Metals Segmenuppart higher 2012 sales projections, a sales ix ® higher cost special alloy produ
along with the Company deciding to begin stockialgst special alloy finished goods products todsponsive to projected customer deme
Accounts receivable increased by $6,609,000 in 262t of reserves, as a result of the higher M&alsment sales activity during the foi
quarter of 2011 compared to the same period of 28d@bined with an increased number of days saletanding for fabrication sales. Hig
priced special alloy inventory purchases made dutiire fourth quarter of 2011 increased the accopaysble balance at the end of 201
$2,369,000 when compared to the 2010 yerat-balance. Operating cash flows were favoratigctdd by higher accrued expenses at the €
2011 compared to the end of 2010 of $1,806,00@rafit based incentives increased $1,019,000 redigdigher profits earned and advar
from customers (prepayments from customers us@ditchase raw materials required for piping systprnogects) increased $470,000 in 2
compared to 2010.

In 2012, the Company's current assets increase@®4,600 and current liabilities increased $6,709,Grom the year ended 2011 amot
which caused working capital for 2012 to increage$,575,000 to $65,919,000 from the 2011 tote%8,344,000. The current ratio for tl
year ended December 29, 2012, decreased to 3ddrltfre 2011 ye-end ratio of 4.1:1.

On August 21, 2012, the Company acquired all ofdbtstanding stock of Palmer, a leading manufactafdiquid storage solutions a
separation equipment for the petroleum, municipaterny wastewater , chemical and food industriesetent years, Palmer's business has
focused on providing fiberglass and steel tankihéooil industry. Its primary facility in Andrew3,exas is strategically located in the hea
the Permian Basin of west Texas and also serves btjuid rich shale areas including the AnadarkasiB, Eagle Ford Shale and the Bal
Shale. With approximately 130 employees, Palmeeggad $36 million in revenues for the trailing lveemonths ended July 31, 2012.

The Company paid approximately $27,895,000 for dlmiguisition. The prior shareholders of Palmer haeeability to receive additional earn-
out payments ranging from $2,500,000 to $10,500,8Q0e business unit achieves targeted levels BFTBA over a three year peri
following closing; the Company will have the ahjilito clawback portions of the purchase price over a two yeaiod following closing
EBITDA falls below baseline levels. The Companyisrently forecasting earodt payments totaling $8,500,000, which was distexaino :
present value of $8,152,000 using our incremertaiowing rate of 2 percent. $2,500,000 of thisiligbwas classified as a current liabil
since the first payment is expected to be madeinvitie next year. The various assumptions and gtiojes used in the eaut projection
were reviewed at December 29, 2012 with no additiadjustments required. Any future changes tgtiogected earmout payments as a res

of our quarterly review of forecasted EBITDA woudd reflected as an adjustment to earnings in #xébg. The Company funded the purct
price through an increase in its existing crediilfiy and new longeerm debt in the amount of $22.5 million. The t@t®n is expected to
immediately accretive to the Company's earninge. djterating results of Palmer are included in tletdld Segment.

The liability for the projected earmdt payments represent the only fair value assétbility that is represented as a Level 3 liailiThere
were no transfers of assets or liabilities betweevel 1, Level 2 or Level 3 in the years ended Dalwer 29, 2012 or December 31, 2011. T
have also been no changes in the fair value metbges used by the Company.

The Company also used cash during 2012 for invgstativities to fund capital expenditures of $4,000. Financing activities during 2C
generated $31,910,000 through net borrowings og-ferm debt and the Company paid a $0.25 dividen®ecember 10, 2012 which us
$1,596,000. The Company expects that existing batdmces, cash flows from 2013 operations and ablailborrowings will be sufficient
make debt payments and fund estimated 2013 capipenditures of $4,800,000.

On June 30, 2010, the Company entered into a CAggléement with a regional bank to provide a $20,000 line of credit that was to exf
on June 30, 2013. This agreement was amended Hyatfieon August 19, 2011 to extend the maturite ddtthe Credit Agreement by ¢
additional year to June 30, 2014. In connectiothwiie Palmer acquisition discussed in Note 16hto Consolidated Financial Statemi
included in Item 8 of this Form 1K; on August 21, 2012, the Company modified thed@ragreement to increase the limit of the creditifity
by $5,000,000 to a maximum of $25,000,000, andneldd the maturity date to August 21, 2015. On Qat@2, 2012, the Company modif
this agreement to increase the limit by an additié%,000,000 to a maximum of $30,000,000. Thisdase will be in effect for one year a
which the maximum line of credit will revert baak $25,000,000 on October 22, 2013. None of therqihevisions of the Credit Agreem:
were changed as a result of this modification.regeon the Credit Agreement is calculated usimg@me Month LIBOR (as defined in -
Credit Agreement), plus a pdefined spread, based on the Company's Total Fubiddd to EBITDA ratio (as defined in the Cre
Agreement). Borrowings under the line of credit Bimd@ted to an amount equal to a borrowing baseuwation that includes eligible accou
receivable, inventories and other non-capital asset

The Credit Agreement modification on August 21, 2@lso provided for a teyear term loan in the amount of $22,500,000 thatiires equi
monthly payments of $187,500 plus interest. In gogfion with the new term loan, to mitigate theizhility of the interest rate risk, t
Company entered into an interest rate swap contifaet'interest rate swap") on August 21, 2012 wgkcurrent bank. The interest rate swe
for an initial notional amount of $22,500,000 wétiixed interest rate of 3.74 percent,
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and runs for ten years, expiring on August 21, 2@##ch equates to the date of the term loan. Tdte®nal amount of the interest rate s\
decreases as monthly principal payments are mdteuygh the swap is expected to effectively offsmtable interest in the borrowing, he:
accounting will not be utilized. Therefore, changests fair value are being recorded in currerdgeds or liabilities, as appropriate, v
corresponding offsetting entries to other incomeémse).

Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, the Company e@sired to pledge all of its tangible and intangiptoperties, including the acquired as
of Palmer. Covenants under the Credit Agreementidiecmaintaining a certain Total Funded Debt to HBA ratio (as defined in the Cre
Agreement), a minimum tangible net worth, and téitilities to tangible net worth ratio. The Conmyawill also be limited to a maximu
amount of capital expenditures per year, whichitirie with the Company's currently projected neédsDecember 29, 2012, the Comp
was in compliance with all debt covenants.

Results of Operations
Comparison of 2012 to 2011 - Consolidated

For the fiscal year ending December 29, 2012, the@ny generated net earnings of $4,235,000, 66%ter share, on sales of $197,659,
compared to net earnings of $5,797,000, or $0.9Elpare, on sales of $170,575,000 in the prior.yEae Company generated net earning
$965,000, or $0.15 per share, on sales of $53,088(0the fourth quarter of 2012, compared to mehimgs of $1,017,000, or $0.16 per st
on sales of $40,241,000 in the fourth quarter df120

Consolidated gross profit increased four perce®2b,928,000 in 2012, compared to $21,090,000 il 28nd, as a percent of sales, decre
to eleven percent of sales in 2012 compared tovevpércent of sales in 2011. For the fourth quarfe2012, consolidated gross profit \
$5,893,000, an increase of 23 percent from thettioguarter of 2011 of $4,783,000. Consolidatedsgnorofit was eleven percent of sales
the fourth quarter of 2012 and twelve percent désdor same period of 2011. The increases in dolad in percentage of sales v
attributable to the Specialty Chemicals Segmentliasussed in the Specialty Chemicals Segment Casgoanf 2012 to 2011 belo
Consolidated selling, general and administrativeeese for 2012 increased by $1,856,000 to $14,080;06mpared to $12,284,000 for 2(
and was seven percent of sales for both 2012 ah#l. Zhese costs increased $355,000 during thehfaurarter of 2012 compared to the s
period of 2011 and decreased to seven percentieg fam nine percent of sales for the fourth cerarof 2012 and 2011, respectively.
dollar increase for both the year and fourth quaofe2012 when compared to the same periods of 2@%ulted primarily from high
professional fees, travel and amortization conmeetégh the Palmer acquisition, an increase in manant performanckased incentive
higher sales commissions and increased salariesvages. These costs were partially offset by aedse in bad debt expense for
Chemicals Segment. In addition, the Company incuf@81,000 ond¢ime acquisition costs associated with the Palnoguigition in 2012
These costs were $252,000 for the fourth quart@oap. All of these items will be discussed in geeaetail in the respective sections below.

Comparison of 2011 to 2010 - Consolidated

For the fiscal year ending December 31, 2011, the@ny generated net earnings of $5,797,000, 8d4ter share, on sales of $170,575,
compared to net earnings of $4,034,000, or $0.64lp&re, on sales of $151,121,000 in the prior.year

Consolidated gross profit increased 33 percenig®0,000 in 2011, compared to $15,916,000 in 2840, as a percent of sales, increas
twelve percent of sales in 2011 compared to elgeroent of sales in 2010. The increases in dodladsin percentage of sales were attribu
to the Metals Segment as discussed in the Metgm&at Comparison of 2011 to 2010 below. Consoldiatdling, general and administrat
expense for 2011 increased by $2,560,000, compgar2dl0, and was seven percent of sales for 2qifrom six percent for 2010. The do
increase for 2011 when compared to the same peadb@910 resulted primarily from an $850,000 insean bad debt expense for
Chemicals Segment, an increase in management penfice based incentives, the loss of outsourcimglngisements and higher salaries
wages, employee benefits and contract labor. Athe§e items will be discussed in greater detdi@respective sections below.
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Metals Segment -The following table summarizes operating resultd backlogs for the three years indicated. Referashoalld be made
Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statemersidted in Item 8 of this Form -K.

2012 2011 2010

(in thousands) Amount % Amount % Amount %

Net sales $ 146,28 100.% $ 127,72 100.% $ 108,54 100.(%
Cost of goods sold 132,59¢ 90.6% 112,44! 88.(% 99,361 91.5%
Gross profit 13,68¢ 9.4% 15,28: 12.(% 9,171 8.5%
Selling, general and administrative expense 7,551 5.2% 6,02¢ 4.7% 5,40: 5.C%
Operating income $ 6,13¢ 4.2% $ 9,25: 7.2% $ 3,77¢ 3.5%
Year-end backlogs - Piping systems $ 19,25¢ $ 2274 $ 2530

Comparison of 2012 to 2011 — Metals Segment

The Metals Segment sales increased 15 percen®Dfi2 @s compared to 2011 primarily as a result efatidition of Palmer for 19 weeks
2012 plus a 13 percent increase in unit volumesgllgroffset by an eight percent decrease in ayerselling prices. Sales for the fourth qu
of 2012 totaled $40,051,000, an increase of 34gmtrover 2011 results. Excluding Palmer resultgss@r the fourth quarter 2012 would h
been up six percent over the prior year. The fogutairter sales increase resulted from a 13 peicergase in unit volumes partially offset k
seven percent decrease in average selling pricess@rofit for 2012 decreased ten percent to 83080, or nine percent of sales, comp
to 2011's yeaend total of $15,282,000, or twelve percent of saf®r the fourth quarter of 2012, gross profit $8844,000, or ten percent
sales, an increase of twelve percent over thetiayrarter of 2011 of $3,435,000, or twelve percérsales. The Segment experienced oper
income of $6,138,000, a decrease of 66 percent,$ard0,000, down four percent, for the year angttfoquarter of 2012, respective
compared to $3,774,000 and $1,863,000, respectif@lgame periods of 2011.

Excluding the effect of Palmer on 2012 sales, thetald Segment experienced a favorable product mik0il2 with higher priced non-
commodity unit volume increasing 29 percent whienmodity unit volume increased four percent. Téeofable product mix also affected
fourth quarter shipments, with n@emmodity unit volumes increasing 32 percent fe guarter while commodity unit volumes increased
percent. Special alloy product shipments surpapsed year levels as a result of increased custgmajects and distributor restocking. -
improved unit volumes for the year and fourth qeiagre also the result of increased market shaMoith America and strong increase
international sales.

Operating income for the entire year and fourthrgwanf 2012 when compared to the same period9dt 2vas impacted by the following fc
factors:

a) Palmer was acquired August 21, 2012 and accordid§lyweeks and 13 weeks of their operations wezkeidied in the year al
fourth quarter of 2012, respectively.

b) Associated with the acquisition of Palmer, an igtale asset of $9,000,000 was recognized, whichesgmts the fair value of 1
customer base that was acquired by the Companys ifitdngible asset will be amortized over ay&sr period using
accelerated amortization method. As a result of th@nsaction, the year and fourth quarter of 20ftfudes $540,000
amortization expense.

c) Declining nickel prices resulted in inventory losse the year and fourth quarter of 2012 of apprately $4,645,000 ai
$1,150,000, respectively. For the same periodsyleat, fluctuating nickel prices produced inventtogses of $1,637,000 ¢
$870,000, respectively. As nickel prices decreas#ling prices are reduced accordingly while matecbsts reflect the higlr
priced inventory.

d) In the year and fourth quarter of 2011, operatmzpime for the fabrication unit of our Metals Segim&as favorably affected |
higher unit selling prices associated with the clatign of several large scale lunspim jobs. The unit realized $4,659,000
$135,000 of additional billings during the year dadrth quarter of 2011, respectively, from thesmpleted jobs.

Demand for manufactured pipe remains relativelgrgjr while the fabrication unit continues to de#&hvexcess capacity in the industry wr
results in margin compression and impacts our saldsprofits. Margins on fabrication projects ie flourth quarter of 2012 were the lowes
the entire year.

Selling, general and administrative expense ine&4,522,000, or 25 percent in 2012 when comp@ar@@11. This expense category was
percent of sales for both periods. The increasdtessfrom the inclusion of Palmer expenses foodipn of 2012, the amortization of Palm
intangible asset, an additional provision in 20d2the collectability of accounts receivable, iraged sales commissions, additional salarie
wages in 2012 and higher performance-based bomoissslect segment
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employees. These higher expense categories wetiallgaoffset by increased employee procurementeeses in 2011 as additional s.
executives were hired for the fabrication produet.|

Comparison of 2011 to 2010 — Metals Segment

The Metals Segment sales increased 18 percen@idr & compared to 2010 primarily as a resulttefedve percent increase in average se
prices coupled with a five percent increase in woiumes. Gross profit for 2011 increased 67 perte $15,282,000, or twelve percen
sales, compared to 2010's yead total of $9,177,000, or nine percent of salée Segment experienced operating income of $0RB3 Uy
145 percent, for 2011 compared to $3,774,000 f4020

The Segment experienced a favorable product mig0hl with higher priced nocemmodity unit volume increasing 18 percent w
commodity unit volume decreased two percent. $pedioy product shipments surpassed prior yeagléeas a result of increased custc
projects and distributor restocking. The improwedt volumes for the year are also the result oféased market share in North America
strong increases in international sales. Pipe faaturing operating margins strengthened throughttoeiyear due to the favorable product
while fabrication margins were under pressure fromderutilized capacity in the market. Operatingpme increased for the Segment de:
nickel prices falling for most of the year. As nétlprices decrease, selling prices are reducedd@iogty while material costs reflect the hig
priced inventory. Although there is no way to psety calculate the effect of price level changepuiits, the Company estimates that for
year the Segment experienced a negative effecl 6B%,000. Nickel prices rose in the prior yeahjoh resulted in an increase to opere
income of $1,031,000 for 2010.

Selling, general and administrative expense ine&626,000, or twelve percent in 2011 when conthaye010. This expense category
five percent of sales for both periods. The inceeasulted from higher performanbased bonuses for select segment employees cor
with increased salaries and wages and employeeoent expenses as additional sales executiveshired for the fabrication product i
along with wage increases for senior level exeestias their responsibilities expanded to inclugectiitire metals segment.

Specialty Chemicals Segment Fhe following tables summarize operating resultslie three years indicated. Reference should o rma
Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statememisided in Item 8 of this Form -K.

2012 2011 2010
(Amounts in thousands) Amount % Amount % Amount %
Net sales $ 51,37« 100.% $ 42,84¢ 100.% $ 42,577 100.(%
Cost of goods sold 43,13« 84.(% 37,04( 86.4% 35,83¢ 84.2%
Gross profit 8,24( 16.(% 5,80¢ 13.€% 6,73¢ 15.8%
Selling, general and administrative expense 3,391 6.6% 3,581 8.4% 2,77¢ 6.5%
Operating income $ 4,847 9.4% $ 2,221 52% $ 3,96( 9.2%

Comparison of 2012 to 2011 — Specialty Chemicalsd@eent

Sales for the Specialty Chemicals Segment incre@feg@ercent for 2012, ending the year at $51,304.6@mpared to $42,848,000
2011. Pounds shipped for the year were 18 peftugher than the prior year. For the fourth quade012, sales were $13,087,000, yj
percent from 2011's fourth quarter sales of $10@®BY. Pounds shipped for the fourth quarter werp&@8ent higher than the same perio
the prior year. The fourth quarter and annual selesease resulted mainly from the addition of &ddal defoamer production for a glo
chemical manufacturer which began in late May 284@ reached targeted production levels duringhiivd juarter of 2012. Gross profit
the year was $8,240,000, up 42 percent from thar gear amount of $5,808,000. As a percent ofss&@@12 gross profit was 16 percer
sales and 2011 gross profit was 14 percent of sdlee fourth quarter showed gross profit of $2,000, or 16 percent of sales, .
$1,336,000, or 13 percent of sales, for 2012 arid 2fespectively. Gross profit increased for tearyand fourth quarter as a result of hi
facility utilization associated with the additiord#foamer production combined with the ability tsg along raw material price increases t
customers. Operating income for the year incred48dpercent from the prior year. Operating incdare2012 was $4,843,000, or nine pert
of sales, while 2011 recorded $2,221,000, or figecent of sales. The Segment showed operatingnieadf $1,102,000, or eight percen
sales, for the fourth quarter of 2012. The fouytlarter of 2011 recorded an operating loss of $,0r one percent of sales. During Decer
2011, the Segment recorded an $817,000 charges¢oveefor the potential uncollectable receivablitees for four customers. The bull
the charge was for a customer who experienced diahdifficulty during the last half of 2011. Magement attempted to develop a |adegr
payment strategy for the customer but was never tabdlevelop a plan suitable to both parties.
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Selling, general and administrative expense deete$$90,000 or five percent in 2012 when compase2DiL1, and decreased to seven pe
of sales in 2012 compared to eight percent in 26bt the fourth quarter, selling, general and adstiative expense was $947,000 in 201
decrease of $485,000 when compared to the samedpefi2011. The increase in the reserve for pi@knincollectable receivables
December 2011, as explained in the prior paragnaph,partially offset by higher sales commission2012.

Comparison of 2011 to 2010 — Specialty Chemicalsddeent

Sales for the Specialty Chemicals Segment increased percent for 2011, ending the year at $42,8@gbmpared to $42,577,000
2010. Pounds shipped for the year were eleverepttower than the prior year. The Segment expeeé a favorable product mix dur
2011, with increased sales of higher priced prasiaombined with a slightly higher selling pricethe Segment passed along a portion ¢
raw material cost increases to its customers. Sefit for 2011 was $5,808,000, down 14 perceotnf the prior year amount
$6,739,000. As a percent of sales, 2011 grosstwat 14 percent of sales and 2010 gross profit #&percent of sales. The reductio
gross profit for the year resulted from increasad material costs and the Segment's desire to aiaihtncrease market share by not pas
on all of the increased costs to its customers.r@jmg income for the year decreased 44 percem ftwe prior year. Operating income
2011 was $2,221,000, or five percent of sales,ev®l10 recorded $3,960,000, or nine percent o§sdbeiring December 2011, the Segr
recorded an $817,000 charge to reserve for thenpiakeincollectable receivable balances for fowstomers. The bulk of the charge was 1
customer who experienced financial difficulty dyrithe last half of 2011. Management attemptecetelbp a longerm payment strategy 1
the customer but was never able to develop a plaabde to both parties.

Selling, general and administrative expense ine@&808,000 or 29 percent in 2011 when compar@®160, and increased to eight percel
sales in 2011 compared to seven percent in 2018.ifdrease in the reserve for potential uncolldetabceivables in December 2011
explained in the prior paragraph, resulted in thre increase.

Unallocated Income and Expense

Reference should be made to Note 13 to the ComdetidFinancial Statements, included in Item 8 of ffrorm 10K, for the schedule th
includes these items.

Comparison of 2012 to 2011 — Corporate

Corporate expenses for 2012 were $3,193,000, orpercent of sales, compared to $2,668,000, or terwgmt of sales for 2011. T
represents an increase of $525,000 or 20 percaectly as a result of the acquisition, the Companturred higher corporate costs in 2012
professional fees, travel and non-income relateest@nd licenses of approximately $262,000.

The Company also incurred $881,000 of Palmer m@uring acquisition costs during 2012. These sdjares include $355,000 f
professional audit fees associated with due ditgepreparation and audit of historical financialtements and intangible asset identifice
and valuation, $337,000 related to bank fees astmmtivith the swap agreement, $93,000 of legal #5000 of travel costs and other var
charges of $71,000.

Comparison of 2011 to 2010 — Corporate

Corporate expenses for 2011 were $2,668,000 opbreent of sales, compared to $1,541,000 or oreepeof sales for 2010. This repres
an increase of $1,127,000 or 73 percent. The migsifisant contributor to the increase was higherfprmance based bonuses for s
corporate employees, which increased $622,000 glugi®ll compared to 2010. The Company also expexikrhigher stock optic
compensation costs and consulting fees, partidigebby lower professional fees. During the secqudrter of 2011, the Company relocate
Corporate Office and the Company was no longer bjerovide administrative services to the Spamagbnanufacturing facility which tl
Company sold in 2009. This resulted in the losseohbursement for the costs of providing thesefioms to the buyer of this facility duri
2011 along with higher office rent expense.
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Contractual Obligations and Other Commitments

As of December 29, 2012, the Company's contractbigdations and other commitments were as follows:

(Amounts in thousands) Payment Obligations for the Year Ended

Total 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter
Obligations:

Line of credit $ 18,060 $ — 3 — $ 18,061 $ — 3 — 3 —
Term loan 21,75( 2,25( 2,25( 2,25( 2,25( 2,25( 10,50(
Vehicle loan 56 24 24 8 — — —
Interest payments 4,94( 1,171 1,08 802 51¢ 43E 92t
Contingent consideration 8,50( 2,50( 2,50(C 3,50( — — —
Operating leases 1,011 37C 301 19z 98 49 —
Purchase obligations — — — — — — —
Deferred compensatidh 45€ 71 71 71 21 21 201
Total $ 54,77¢ % 6,38¢ $ 6,23: $ 24,88t $ 2,88t $ 2,758 % 11,62¢

@ For a description of the deferred compensatiorgalitin, see Note 6 to the Consolidated Financitestents included in Item 8 of this
Form 10-K.

Current Conditions and Outlook

The Metals Segment's business is highly dependeits @ustomers' capital expenditures. We are geeiprovements in this area with m:
new projects starting and those projects that wegeiously put on hold are moving again. The Me&dgment is experiencing a strong lev
inquiries, especially in the chemical and petrocicainareas. Even though excess capacity in thackin units continues, we are set
project quote load improvements for both pipe aiatitation jobs. Profit margins on the new progttivity are somewhat better than third
fourth quarter levels. Stainless steel surchangbgh affect our cost of raw materials, declinegaslily from March to September 2012 (in
range of 26 percent). In the fourth quarter, theyenbasically steady. For January and February #8y8 have increased somewhat (in
range of eight percent). Our inventory gains arabés are determined by a number of factors inajudales mix and the holding perioc
particular products. As a consequence, there mayp@a direct correlation between the directiorstafinless steel surcharges and inver
profits or losses at a particular point in time.r@uperience has been that over the course ofiadasscycle, this volatility has tended tow:
zero. We believe we are the largest and most cap#dihestic producer of na@ommodity stainless steel pipe and an effectivalpecer o
commodity stainless steel pipe, which should seisrevell in the long run. Our market position rensagtrong in the commaodity pipe matr
and we are experiencing an upswing in special alleynand. We also continue to be optimistic aboetftbrication business over the |
term. Management anticipates continued strong sdléiberglass and steel tanks as the oil drills@pm continues in the Permian Basin
Eagle Ford Shale areas of Texas. During 2013, Wéeifocusing on gaining production efficiencigadPalmer to increase tank production.

The fabrication backlog continues to decline buthaggement is seeing recent stabilization. The ctilbacgklog remains satisfactory
scheduling and production control. Approximately gé&rcent of fabrication's current backlog comesnfrpaper and wastewater treatn
projects and 44 percent is for chemical projectgallfabrication backlog was $19,254,000 at Decer@®e 2012 and $22,743,000 at Decer
31, 2011.

Specialty Chemicals Segment's sales and profitargment should continue in 2013 as the additior&damer business has been compli
implemented in production and the Specialty Chetni€agment will reflect a full year of higher pration in its 2013 results. Managemer
also pursuing additional sales opportunities fon-defoamer products. Operating margins should reratiourrent levels as managen
believes they can be successful in passing rawrrabpeice increases to the customer.
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ltem 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures albut Market Risks

The Company is exposed to market risks from advelniaages in interest rates. Changes in U. S. stteates affect the interest earned or
Company's cash and cash equivalents as well agshtgaid on its indebtedness. Except as deschibkxv, the Company does not engac
speculative or leveraged transactions, nor ddesld or issue financial instruments for tradinggmses. The Company is exposed to chang
interest rates primarily as a result of its bormgvactivities used to maintain liquidity and fungsiness operations.

Fair value of the Company's debt obligations, whipproximated the recorded value, consisted of:

At December 29, 2012
$18,061,000 under a $30,000,000 revolving linereflit expiring on August 21, 2015 with a variabiterest rate of 2.21 percent.
$21,750,000 under a term loan expiring August D222with a variable interest rate of 2.49 percent.

An interest rate swap contract with a notional anmtaf $21,750,000 which fixes the term loan interase at 3.74 percent. The ¢
value of the interest rate swap contract was dlitiabo the Company of $450,000.

At December 31, 2011
$8,650,000 under a $20,000,000 revolving line eflidrexpiring on June 30, 2014 with a variablernesérate of 1.78 percent.
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Item 8 Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The Company's consolidated financial statemeniete@ notes, report of management and report ofttependent registered public

accounting firm follow on subsequent pages of teport.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

As of December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtfebaats of $1,312,715 and $1,203,000 respectively

Inventories, net
Raw materials
Work-in-process
Finished goods

Total inventories

Deferred income taxes

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Cash value of life insurance
Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill

Deferred charges, net

Intangible asset, net

Total assets

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt
Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Current portion of environmental reserves

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt

Long-term environmental reserves
Long-term deferred compensation
Long-term contingent consideration
Deferred income taxes

Shareholders' equity

Common stock, par value $1 per share - authori2e@D0,000 shares; issued 8,000,000 shares

Capital in excess of par value

Retained earnings

Less cost of common stock in treasury: 1,643,2@i71a674,156 shares, respectively

Total shareholders' equity

Commitments and contingencies — See Note 11

2012 2011
$ 1,085,26. 110,13t
31,177,52 26,582,27
13,975,62 10,120,40
13,773,03 12,632,30
22,414,72 20,310,02
50,163,39 43,062,73
2,981,43! 2,632,14
5,514,53( 2,250,73
90,922,14 74,638,03
2,549,222 3,092,43
28,034,93 18,713,52
18,252,67 2,354,733
287,56« 117,64!
8,460,001 —
$ 148,506,54 98,916,36
$ 2,274,05 —
10,523,78 13,043,15
12,083,49 5,112,66.
122,00( 138,00(
25,003,34 18,293,81
37,593,30 8,650,43
518,00( 502,00(
263,87: 293,55!
5,708,83: =
7,645,11! 2,557,66.
8,000,00¢ 8,000,001
1,398,61. 1,153,88
76,836,76 74,198,15
86,235,37 83,352,04
14,461,30 14,733,13
71,774,06 68,618,90




Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 148,506,54 $ 98,916,36

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgsients.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years ended December 29, 2012 , December 31, 2@ Jamuary 1, 2011

2012 2011 2010

Net sales $ 197,658,87 170,575,29 151,120,66
Cost of sales 175,730,51 149,485,45 135,204,72
Gross profit 21,928,36 21,089,84 15,915,94
Selling, general and administrative expense 14,140,35 12,284,47 9,723,59
Operating income 7,788,00: 8,805, 36! 6,192,35
Other (income) and expense

Interest expense 600,89: 140,78 54,24(

Acquisition related costs 880,58 — —

Change in fair value of interest rate swap 113,64¢ — —

Other, net (148,029) (85,579 (11,7096
Income before income taxes 6,340,91. 8,750,16! 6,149,82:

Provision for income taxes 2,106,00! 2,953,00! 2,116,00!
Net income $ 4,234,91. 5,797,16! 4,033,82:
Net income per common share:

Basic $ 0.67 0.9z 0.64

Diluted $ 0.6€ 0.91 0.64

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgsients.
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity

Capital in Excess

of Cost of Common
Common Stock Par Value Retained Earning Stock in Treasury Total
Balance at January 2, 2010 $ 8,000,000 $ 856,02: $ 69,113,40 $ (15,248,68) $ 62,720,74
Net income — — 4,033,82. — 4,033,82.
Payment of dividends, $0.50 per share — — (3,165,83) — (3,165,83)
Issuance of 13,949 shares of common stock from i
treasury — (55,22() — 122,70° 67,481
Stock options exercised for 8,884 shares, net — (37,909 — 76,97« 39,06¢
Employee stock option and grant compensation — 179,81 — — 179,81
Balance at January 1, 2011 8,000,001 942,70 69,981,39 (15,049,00) 63,875,10
Net income — — 5,797,16 — 5,797,16!
Payment of dividends, $0.25 per share — — (1,580,40) — (1,580,40)
Issuance of 18,280 shares of common stock from the
treasury — (72,24°) — 160,83! 88,58¢
Stock options exercised for 18,155 shares, net — 6,87¢ — 155,02 161,90:
Employee stock option and grant compensation — 276,55! — — 276,55:
Balance at December 31, 2011 8,000,00! 1,153,88! 74,198,15 (14,733,13) 68,618,90
Net income — — 4,234,91. — 4,234,91;
Payment of dividends, $0.25 per share — — (1,596,30) — (1,596,30)
Issuance of 19,089 shares of common stock from
the treasury — (113,07) — 167,99( 54,91¢
Stock options exercised for 11,800 shares, net — 20,04 — 103,84« 123,88¢
Employee stock option and grant compensation — 337,75( — — 337,75(
Balance at December 29, 2012 $ 8,000,00t $ 1,398,61. $ 76,836,76 $ (14,461,30) $ 71,774,06

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tsients.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 29, 2012 , December 31, 2@ Jamuary 1, 2011

Operating activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation expense
Amortization expense
Deferred income taxes
Provision for losses on accounts receivable
Provision for (reduction of) losses on inventories
(Gain) loss on sale of property, plant and equigmen
Cash value of life insurance
Change in fair value of interest rate swap
Environmental reserves
Issuance of treasury stock for director fees
Employee stock option and grant compensation
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Other assets and liabilities, net
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Accrued income taxes
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of Palmer of Texas
Cash received from Palmer of Texas acquisition
Proceeds from life insurance settlement
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities
Net borrowings from line of credit
Borrowings from long-term debt
Payments on long-term debt
Proceeds from notes receivable
Proceeds from exercised stock options
Dividends paid
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgtsients.
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2012 2011 2010

$ 423491 $ 5797160 $  4,033,82
2,831,71 2,631,86. 2,631,78!
567,69: 26,95¢ 10,68
53,69° 121,19: (116,000
106,88: 792,71¢ 62,61
484,07( (599,98)) 1,356,05
(76,189 19¢ 5,372
(190,99¢) (62,869 (69,929
113,64 — —

— (296,45() (188,549

99,99t 78,70: 67,48"
337,75( 276,55: 179,81
246,89¢ (7,402,09) (5,994,38)
(1,906,35) (8,110,001 (10,204,49)
(1,668,77) (973,55() (17,109
(4,151,83) 2,369,071 4,092,441
1,195,37. 1,806,37. (2,514,45)
(643,630) (313,620) 616,88!
1,634,86: (3,857,78) (6,047,94)
(4,739,72) (3,185,12) (5,095,25)
153,85 31,49( 63,03
(27,895,20) — _
1,389,05. — —
734,20¢ — —
(30,357,82) (3,153,63) (5,032,22)
9,410,46: 8,431,15 219,27
22,500,00 — —
(759,96) — —
20,00( — —
123,88 161,90 39,06¢
(1,596,30) (1,580,40) (3,165,83)
29,698,08 7,012,65! (2,907,49)
975,12: 1,23¢ (13,987,65)
110,13t 108,90: 14,096,55

$ 108526 $ 110,13¢ $ 108,90:




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Description of Business

Synalloy Corporation, a Delaware corporation, wapiporated in 1958 as the successor to a chemaalifacturing business founded in 1¢
Its charter is perpetual. The name was changedubn 3L, 1967 from Blackman Uhler Industries, Incn Qune 3, 1988, the state
incorporation was changed from South Carolina tta@are. The Company's executive offices are locatetV5 Spartan Boulevard, Suite 1
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29301 and 4301 DomiBmulevard, Suite 130, Glen Allen, Virginia 23060.

The Company's business is divided into segments, the Metals Segment and the Specialty iCalsn$egment. The Metals Segment ope
as BRISMET, BristolFab, RarRab and Palmer. BRISMET manufactures pipe, BristolRabricates piping systems from stainless ste€
other alloys, Ranfrab fabricates piping systems from carbon, chrastanless steel and other alloys, and Palmer matwrés liquid storag
solutions and separation equipment. The Specidignticals Segment operates as Manufacturers Chenaigdlproduces specialty chemicals.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tmoants of the Company and its subsidiaries, allvbich are wholly owned. The Met
Segment is comprised of three wholly-owned subsiia Synalloy Metals, Inc. which owns 100 percehBristol Metals, LLC, located
Bristol, Tennessee; Ram-Fab, LLC, located in Cribsdekansas and Palmer of Texas Tanks, Inc, lacateAndrews, Texas.The Specialt
Chemicals Segment consists of the Company's wloeliyed subsidiary Manufacturers Soap and Chemicelgaay which ownd.00 percer
of Manufacturers Chemicals, LLC, located in ClemelaTennessee and Dalton, Georgia. All signifidgatearcompany transactions have k
eliminated.

Accounting Period

The Company's fiscal year is the 52 or 53 weekopeeinding the Saturday nearest to December 3lalRisar 2012 ended ddecember 2!
2012 , fiscal year 2011 ended on December 31, a@tlffiscal year 2010 ended on January 1, 2011h, s=ar having 52 weeks.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmewith a maturity of three months or less when pasg to be cash equivalents.
Company maintains cash balances at financial urigtits with strong credit ratings.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable from the sale of products eo®rmded at net realizable value and the Compangrgly grants credit to customers or
unsecured basis. Substantially all of the Compaagtounts receivables are due from companies kbdateughout the United States. -
Company provides an allowance for doubtful collesi and for disputed claims and quality issues. dlfoevance is based upon a reviev
outstanding receivables, historical collection mfiation and existing economic conditions. The Comypaerforms periodic credit evaluatic
of its customers' financial condition and generalbes not require collateral. Receivables are gdlgedue within 30 to 4%lays. Delinquel
receivables are written off based on individuablirevaluations and specific circumstances of tngamer.

Included in the SPA of Palmer, the sellers guasththe collectability of the acquired accounts neadgle. Per the SPA, at 12{ays after th
acquisition date, an allowance for doubtful acceumés established for all open, pre-acquisitiorikables of $821,000with an offsettin
increase in the amount due from the sellers. Sulesgcollections on these accounts by the Compalhpevreimbursed to the sellers.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or miarkost is determined by the first-in, fict (FIFO) method. The Company writes dowi
inventory for estimated obsolescence or unmarketaiventory equal to the difference between thé abswentory and the estimated mau
value based upon assumptions about future demahduasrent market conditions. Based upon historiealllts, the Company also maintain:
inventory reserve to provide for the amount ofraatied inventory quantity loss since the last ptatsitventory. As of December 29, 20a8c¢
December 31, 2011 , inventories have been redugei2t883,000 and $2,699,0Q0respectively, for obsolescence, market and phi
inventory reserves.
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cagird2iation is provided on the straidime method over the estimated useful life of theeds
Land improvements and buildings are depreciated avange of ten to 40 yegrand machinery, fixtures and equipment are degrediover
range of three to 20 years . The costs of softWwiaenses are amortized over five years using tha@ghtline method. The Compa
continually reviews the recoverability of the camgy value of long-lived assets. The Company alsteres longlived assets for impairme
whenever events or changes in circumstances irdibatcarrying amount of such assets may not lmveeable. When the future undiscour
cash flows of the operation to which the assetgeeado not exceed the carrying value of the aiseassets are written down to fair value.

Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Deferred Charges

Goodwill, arising from the excess of purchase paeer fair value of net assets of businesses asgjuis not amortized but is reviewed annt
in the fourth quarter for impairment. Intangiblesets represents the fair value of intellectual,-pbysical assets resulting from a busi
acquisition. Deferred charges represent other gitda assets such as debt service costs. Intang#slets and deferred charges are amo
over their estimated useful lives. Deferred chamesamortized over a period ranging from 3 toy&@rs and intangible assets are amor
over a period of 15 years. Deferred charges arahgible assets totaled $9,352,895 and $155z2283ecember 29, 2012 and Decembel
2011, respectively. Accumulated amortization ofetlefd charges and intangible assets as of Dece28b@012 and December 31, 2abialec
$605,000 and $37,000respectively. Estimated amortization for the niax¢ fiscal years based on existing deferred cbsrgnd intangib
assets is: 2013 - $1,588,000 , 2014 - $1,347,@0Q5 - $1,153,000 ; 2016 - $984,000 ; 2017 - $88%,;0and thereafter - $2,812,000 .

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from product sales is recognized at the tmnership of goods transfers to the customertla@earnings process is complete, w
is typically on the date the inventory is shippedite customer.

Shipping Costs

Shipping costs of approximately $3,445,000 , $3,088 and $2,669,000 in 2012 , 2011 and 20dspectively, are recorded in cost of gc
sold.

Research and Development Expenses

The Company incurred research and development egpehapproximately $612,000 , $352,000 and $3@2jA02012 , 2011 and 2010
respectively.

Earnings Per Share of Common Stock

Earnings per share of common stock are computegddbas the weighted average number of shares odistaduring each period. See N
12.

Fair Value Disclosures

The Company makes estimates of fair value in adbogirfor certain transactions, in testing and meaguimpairment, and in providii
disclosures of fair value in its consolidated fio@h instruments. The Company determines the falues of its financial instruments
disclosure purposes by maximizing the use of olad#evinputs and minimizing the use of unobservaipets when measuring fair value.
value disclosures for assets and liabilities aceiged in three levels. The levels prioritize theuits used to measure the fair value of the ¢
or liabilities. These levels are:

Level 1- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active marketsdentical assets or liabilities.

Level 2- Inputs other than quoted prices that are obsesvablassets and liabilities, either directly adirectly. These inputs include quo
prices for similar assets or liabilities in actimerkets or quoted prices for identical or similasets or liabilities in markets that are
active.

Level 3- Unobservable inputs that are supported by littl@@ market activity for assets or liabilities aindludes certain pricing mode
discounted cash flow methodologies and similarrigpkes.

Estimates of fair value using levels 2 and 3 mauire judgments as to the timing and amount of d¢kmsts, discount rates, and other fac
requiring significant judgment, and the outcomesyaary widely depending on the selection of thessumptions. The Company's
significant fair value estimates in 2012 and 20#lated to purchase accounting adjustments in tHmdPaacquisition, including tt
measurement of the contingent consideration, estignéhe fair value of the reporting units in testi
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goodwill for impairment, estimating the fair valaéthe interest rate swap, and providing disclosafethe fair values of financial instruments.

As of December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011cathrging amount for cash and cash equivalents,uatsaeceivable, accounts payable
borrowings under the Company's line of credit ardchtloan, which are based on variable interessyaigproximates their fair value.

The Company does not currently have any Level aniinal assets or liabilities. The Company has tbweel 2 financial assets and liabiliti
Cash value of life insurance had a fair value 542,000 and $3,092,000 at December 29, 2012 andriteger 31, 201 1respectively. The fe
value of the life insurance policies was determibgdthe underwriting insurance company's valuatiosdels and represents the guarar
value the Company would receive upon surrenderhebd policies. Changes in its fair value were m@brin noneurrent assets wi
corresponding offsetting entries to selling, geharal administrative expense. Also, the interets savap contract had a fair value$as0,00!
at December 29, 2012 . The interest rate swap wesdpusing discounted cash flow techniques whighcarroborated by using ndainding
market prices. Changes in its fair value were rediin current assets or liabilities, as approeriaith corresponding offsetting entries to o
income (expense). Significant inputs to the distedrcash flow model include projected future cdslv$ based on projected onsentt
LIBOR and the average margin for companies with simitadit ratings and similar maturities. These arasifeed as Level 2 as they are
actively traded and are valued using pricing modedt use observable market inputs. The Companynloadterest rate swap contracts
December 31, 2011.

The contingent consideration payments, discussédbie 16, are classified as Level 3. The amourtheftotal earrout liability to the prio
owners was determined using management's bestatstohEBITDA for the three -year eaowt period which will determine the amount of
ultimate payment to be made. Factors such as volooneases, selling price increases and inflatierewused to develop a base projection.
Company believes additional costs will be requitedmprove employee turnover, safety, internal oalst etc. These estimated costs \
deducted in order to determine projected EBITDAe Bompany's current cost of borrowing was usedeterthine the present value of th
expected payments. Each quarter-end, the Compdhsevevaluate their assumptions and adjust to the esdaresent value of the expec
payments to be made.

The following table presents a summary of changdair value of the Company's Level 3 liabilitiegasured on a recurring basis for 2012
2011:

Level 3 Inputs

Balance at December 31, 2011 $ =
Present value contingent consideration liabilityozsated with the Palmer acquisition 8,152,038
Interest expense charged during the year 56,80(
Change in fair value of contingent consideratiaibility —
Balance at December 29, 2012 $ 8,208,83

There were no transfers of assets or liabilitiesvben Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 in the year enBecember 29, 2012 or December
2011. There have also been no changes in thedhiewnethodologies used by the Company.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial steets in conformity with accounting principles geally accepted in the United States
America requires management to make estimatessmuohgtions, primarily for testing goodwill for imipaent, determining proper periaaic
balances for certain employee benefit accrualgnasihg fair value of identifiable assets acquieadl liabilities assumed as a result of busi
acquisitions and for establishing reserves on autsoreceivable, inventories and environmental isstheat affect the amounts reported in
financial statements and accompanying notes. Actsilts could differ from those estimates.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@mpany to significant concentrations of credik kensist principally of cash deposits, tr
accounts receivable and cash surrender valueeoingurance. The cash surrender value of life arse is the contractual amount on poli
maintained with one insurance company. The Compzerforms a periodic evaluation of the relative drstanding of this company as
relates to the insurance industry.
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Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassiftedonform to the current year presentation in theompanying consolidated financ
statements. These reclassifications had no magdfedt on previously reported results of operationshareholders' equity.

Subsequent Events

Management has evaluated subsequent events thifoeiglate of filing this Form 10-K.

Note 2 Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consist of the foilhmy

2012 2011
Land $ 732,210 $ 515,10!
Land improvements 707,28¢ 681,27!
Buildings 16,225,32 12,224,71
Machinery, fixtures and equipment 47,588,23 42,747,48
Construction-in-progress 3,748,83: 2,378,01i

69,001,88 58,546,60
Less accumulated depreciation 40,966,95 39,833,07
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 28,034,93 % 18,713,52

The Company recorded depreciation expense of $2)832n 2012 and $2,632,000 for 2011 and 2010pertssely.

Note 3 Long-term Debt

2012 2011
$ 30,000,000 Revolving line of credit, due August 2015 $ 18,060,89 $ 8,650,43
$ 22,500,000 Term loan, due August 21, 2022 21,750,00 —
Vehicle loan 56,46¢ —
39,867,36 8,650,43.
Less current installments 2,274,05: —
Total long-term debt $ 3759330 $ 8,650,43

On June 30, 2010 , the Company entered into a Chgdeement with a regional bank to provide a $20,000line of credit that was to exp
on June 30, 2013 . This agreement was amendedeblyatik on August 19, 2011 to extend the maturitg déthe Credit Agreement hiyne
additional year to June 30, 2014 . In connectidh the Palmer acquisition discussed in Note 16Aagust 21, 2012 the Company modifie
the Credit Agreement to increase the limit of thedd facility by $5,000,000 to a maximum of $25)0@00, and extended the maturity dat:
August 21, 2015 . On October 22, 2012 , the Compaagiified this agreement to increase the limit byadditional $5,000,00® a maximur
of $30,000,000 . This increase will be in effect fme year after which the maximum line of creditl wevert back to $25,000,000n
October 22, 2013 None of the other provisions of the Credit Agreatnwere changed as a result of this modificatinterest on the Crec
Agreement is calculated using the One Month LIB@R defined in the Credit Agreement), plus ageéned spread, based on the Compi
Total Funded Debt to EBITDA ratio (as defined ie @@redit Agreement). Borrowings under the line r@dit are limited to an amount equa
a borrowing base calculation that includes eligéateounts receivable, inventories and other noitalassets.

The Credit Agreement modification on August 21, 2@lso provided for a ten -year term loan in the@ant of $22,500,00€hat requires equ
monthly payments of $187,5Q8lus interest. In conjunction with the new termrp# mitigate the variability of the interest ratsk, the
Company entered into an interest rate swap conftfaet'interest rate swap") on August 21, 2012 wglcurrentbank. The interest rate swa|
for an initial notional amount of $22,500,000 wiltfixed interest rate of 3.74 percent , and a tefien years, expiring on August 21, 2022
which is consistent with the maturity of the teiwar. The notional amount
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of the interest rate swap decreases as monthlgipahpayments are made. Although the swap is égfddo effectively offset variable inter
in the borrowing, hedge accounting will not beiméitl. Therefore, changes in its fair value are ¢peatorded in current assets or liabilities
appropriate, with corresponding offsetting entiesother income (expense). As of December 29, 2642 Company recorded a liability
$450,000for the fair value of the interest rate swap. Atjwor of the initial change in fair value on thedrest rate swap was deemed t
attributable to a cost of underwriting the termnazbtained for the Palmer acquisition, therefora$3000f the total change in fair value v
classified as an acquisition cost, and the remaiadeother income (expense). In future periods,ctienge in fair value will be charged
credited to other income or expense.

Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, the Company e@sired to pledge all of its tangible and intangiptoperties, including the acquired as
of Palmer. Covenants under the Credit Agreementidiecmaintaining a certain Total Funded Debt to HBA ratio (as defined in the Cre
Agreement), a minimum tangible net worth, and téitilities to tangible net worth ratio. The Commyawill also be limited to a maximu
amount of capital expenditures per year, whichifine with the Company's currently projected ne&dsDecember 29, 2012the Compan
was in compliance with all debt covenants.

The line of credit interest rates were 2.21 percen?8 percent , and 1.76 percent at Decembe2@®, , December 31, 2011 , adahuary
2011, respectively. Additionally, the Companyesguired to pay a fee equal to 0.125 pergenthe average daily unused amount of the lii
credit on a quarterly basis. As of December 29,220the amount available for borrowing under the lof credit was $30,000,0@f which
$18,060,894 was borrowed, leaving $11,939,106 aflalvility. Average line of credit borrowings owstling during fiscal 2012 , 20Xinc
2010 were $11,045,000 , $5,663,000 and $1,079,0€0 weighted average interest rates of 1.82 percdn?3 percent and 1.82 percent
respectively.

The Company also has one vehicle loan with a blaakwas acquired with the acquisition of PalmertéNt5). The loan is due in monthly
installments of $2,039 including principal and netst, expiring April 16, 2015 . The interest ratetbe vehicle loan is fixed at 0.90 percent .
The vehicle loan is secured by the vehicle.

Scheduled maturities of total long-term debt olilayzs are as follows: 2013 - $2,274,000 ; 2014,2%2,000 ; 2015 - $20,319,000 ; 2016 -
$2,250,000 ; 2017 - $2,250,000 ; and thereaftd0;500,000 .

The Company made interest payments on all crediiftfas of $492,000 in 2012 , $114,000 in 2011 &3d,000 in 2010 .

Note 4 Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

2012 2011
Salaries, wages and commissions $ 3,275,688 $ 2,176,49
Current portion of contingent consideration 2,500,001 —
Advances from customers 2,015,241 1,146,55!
Insurance 1,008,43. 958,61!
Taxes, other than income taxes 1,600,76: 68,37"
Benefit plans 260,81( 175,94:
Interest 482,50: 4,92¢
Professional fees 259,93: 225,00(
Other accrued items 680,12¢ 356,74!
Total accrued expenses $ 12,083,49 $ 5,112,66.

Note 5 Environmental Compliance Costs

At December 29, 2012 , the Company had accrued,86@th remediation costs which, in management's bdshate, is sufficient to satis
anticipated costs of known remediation requiremeast®utlined below. Expenditures related to coatseatly accrued are not discounte:
their present values and are expected to be magetbe next three to fourears. As a result of the evolving nature of theiremmenta
regulations, the difficulty in estimating the exteand remedy of environmental contamination, ane #vailability and application
technology, the estimated costs for future envirental compliance and remediation are subject temainties and it is not possible to pre
the amount or timing of future costs of environna¢mbatters which may subsequently be determined.
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Prior to 1987, the Company utilized certain produatits chemical facilities that are currentlyssidied as hazardous materials. Testing o
groundwater in the areas of the former wastewagatment impoundments at these facilities discldbedoresence of certain contaminant
addition, several solid waste management units (V&W") at the plant sites have been identified. 398, the Company completed a Resol
Conservation and Recovery Act ("RCRA") Facility &stigation at its Spartanburg plant site, and basethe results, completed a Correc
Measures Study in 2000 . A Corrective Measures Bfmtifying remediation procedures to be performed submitted in 200@nd th
Company received regulatory approval. In prior geegmediation projects were completed to cleaalup4 SWMUs on the Spartanburg pl
site at a cost of approximately $968,000 . On Cet@) 2009, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agneeand sold tt
Spartanburg facilities. As part of the Agreemehng purchaser agreed to assume any and all futidentified environmental liabilities at t
site and pay all future annual monitoring and répgrcosts required by the RCRA permit covering slie. The Company has completed a
the RCRA-Permit required cleanup projects.

At the former Augusta plant site, the Company stitemiia Baseline Risk Assessment and Corrective idead?lan for regulatory approval
Closure and Post-Closure Care Plan was submittdchpproved in 2001for the closure of the surface impoundment (formegulated unit
The Company completed and certified closure ofsiiméace impoundment during 2002 . During 20@Be Company completed a prelimin
analysis of remedial alternatives to eliminate ciontact with surface soils based on the Basdétis& Assessment. In 201the Compan
identified a concentration of soil contaminationith the approval of the Georgia Department of KatiResources, Environmental Protec
Division ("EPD"), the affected soil was removed dhd section of the property was backfilled witbasi fill material plus selected chemical
clean any impurities left behind. Based upon thié remediation performed, the Company filed a Sitele Corrective Action Plan with t
EPD in December 2011 to terminate the RCRA Perfitie Company has accrued $565,000 at December 22, ,2for estimated futu
remedial and cleanup costs. As part of Asset Peseligreement for the Spartanburg facility, the paser also agreed to pay for all fu
annual monitoring and reporting costs at the Auaytestility required by the EPD.

The Company has identified and evaluated 8VéMUs at its plant in Bristol, Tennessee that réacdaesidual groundwater contamination.
Interim Corrective Measures Plan to address the finea of contamination identified was submittedrégulatory approval and was apprc
in March 2005 . The Company had $75,000 accru&keaeember 29, 2012 , to provide for estimated futareedial and cleanup costs.

The Company has been designated, along with othsrs, potentially responsible party under the Ceimgmsive Environmental Respotl
Compensation, and Liability Act, or comparable eststiatutes, at two waste disposal sites. Notifiostifor these twaites were received by |
Company in November 2007 and February 2008 .imfgossible to determine the ultimate costs relatethe twosites due to several fact
such as the unknown possible magnitude of possitat¢amination, the unknown timing and extent of teerective actions which may
required, and the determination of the Compangsility in proportion to the other parties. At theesent time, the Company does not |
sufficient information to form an opinion as to wher it has any liability, or the amount of sucability, if any. However, it is reasonal
possible that some liability exists.

The Company was also named as one of many potgrisiponsible parties in a Superfund Site brodmhthe United States Environmer
Protection Agency. Notification for this site weeceived on September 13, 2010 . The Company fiahlior a speciade minimisparty
settlement at this site and upon payment of apprately $2,000 , was able to be released from futbesideration.

The Company does not anticipate any insurance egigsvto offset the environmental remediation cadtss incurred. Due to the uncerta
regarding court and regulatory decisions, and ptesduture legislation or rulings regarding the eomment, many insurers will not co
environmental impairment risks, particularly in tbkemical industry. Hence, the Company has beeiblerta obtain this coverage at
affordable price.

Note 6 Deferred Compensation

The Company has deferred compensation agreemethtgeviain former officers providing for payments the longer of ten yeams life from
age 65 . The present value of such vested futuymmeats, $335,000 at December 29, 2012 , has berueat:
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Note 7 Stock Options, Stock Grants and New Stockdses

A summary of activity in the Company's stock optans is as follows:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Contractual Intrinsic
Exercise Options Term Value of Options
Price Outstanding (in years) Options Available
At January 2, 2010 $ 8.97 82,99: 4.5 $ 76,92! —
Exercised $ 4.97 (9,900
Canceled / Expired $ 9.9¢ (29,099 —
At January 1, 2011 $ 9.1: 44,00( 3.6 $ 131,67( —
2011 option plan 350,00t
Granted January 24, 2011 $ 11.5¢ 100,00( (100,000)
Exercised $ 9.1t (19,200
Canceled / Expired $ 9.9¢ (4,000 —
At December 31, 2011 $ 11.2¢ 120,80( 8.0 $ 6,44¢ 250,00(
Granted February 9, 2012 $ 11.3¢ 36,74( (36,740
Granted August 21, 2012 $ 12.7: 75,00( (75,000
Exercised $ 10.5( (11,800
Canceled / Expired $ = = =
At December 29, 2012 $ 11.8: 220,74( 8.4 $ 367,93 138,26(
Exercisable options $ 10.8¢ 29,00( 54 $ 76,93(

Grant Date Fail
Options expected to vest: Value

At January 1, 2011 $ — — — $ —
Granted January 24, 2011 $ 11.5¢ 100,00( $ 7.9¢
Vested $ — —
At December 31, 2011 $ 11.5¢ 100,00( 9.1 $ 7.9%
Granted February 9, 2012 $ 11.3¢ 36,74( $ 5.02
Granted August 21, 2012 $ 12.7: 75,00( $ 5.44
Vested $ 11.5¢ (20,000
At December 29, 2012 $ 11.9i 191,74( 8.9 $ 6.4C
The following table summarizes information abowicktoptions outstanding at December 29, 2012 :
Outstanding Stock Options Exercisable Stock Options
Weighted Average
Remaining
Range of Exercise Contractual Life in Weighted Average
Prices Shares Exercise Price Years Shares Exercise Price
$ 9.9¢ 13,00C $ 9.9¢ 2.09 13,00C $ 9.9¢
$ 11.3¢ 36,74C % 11.3¢ 9.11 —
$ 11.5¢ 96,00C $ 11.5¢ 8.07 16,00 $ 11.5¢
$ 12.7: 75,000 % 12.7: 9.64 —
220,74( 29,00(

On January 21, 2011 , the Board of Directors of @lmenpany adopted the 2011 Lomgfm Incentive Stock Option Plan (the "2011 PI
which was approved by the shareholders at the 2gti2011Annual Meeting. The 2011 Plan authorizes the isseiaf incentive options f
up to 350,000 shares of the Company's common sédckhares granted under this plan may be exetdcise
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beginning one year after the date of the grant rate of 20 percerannually on a cumulative basis and unexercisedoptexpire ten yee
from the grant date.

On February 9, 2012 , the Company granted optioqsitchase 36,740 shares of its common stock ekartise price of $11.36 participant
in the 2011 Plan and an additional 75,000 optiomsewgranted on August 21, 201@ the President of Palmer in connection with
employment agreement with the Company at an exemige of $12.73 . The fair value of the optiorargs were $5.03 and $5.44
respectively. The fair value of the grants werénested using the Black-Scholes option-pricing mdukeded on a risk-free interest rate2dd4
percent and 1.80 percent , respectively, an expaaitatility of 0.53 and 0.51 , respectively, witloth grants using an expected lifesafvel
years and a dividend yield 2.10 percent . The Company granted options to @seli00,008hares of its common stock at an exercise pri
$11.55 to its CEO on January 24, 2011 . The pereshaighted-average fair value of the stock optigranted during 2011 was $7.93he
Black-Scholes model for this grant was based dslafree interest rate of 3.34 percent , an expklite of severyears, an expected volatil
of 0.49 and a dividend yield of 2.10 percent .

Prior to the 2011 Plan, the Company had staxk option plans, neither of which have optionailable for future issuance after April 30, 2C
Under the 1998 Plan covering officers and key eyg®s, options may be exercised beginning one Yeardate of grant at a rate 20 percer
annually on a cumulative basis, and unexercisetmpiexpire ten years from the grant date. Underli®94 NorEmployee Directors' Pla
options were exercisable at the date of grant.edhasued under both stock option plans come flares held in treasury with the Company.

The 2011 Plan and the 1998 Plan are incentive stptibn plans, therefore there are no income taxsequences to the Company whe
option is granted or exercised. In 2012 , 2011 201D, options for 11,800 , 19,200 and 9,90@res were exercised by employees and dirt
for an aggregate exercise price of $124,000 , $006and $49,000 , respectively. The proceeds wamergted from cash received®if24,00!

in 2012 , from cash received of $162,000 and froerepurchase of 1,045 shares from employees aectafis totaling $14,000 in 20Hhc
from cash received of $39,000 and from the repweld 1,016 shares from employees and directoadirtgt$10,000 in 2010. At the 2012
2011 and 2010 respective year ends, options tchpaec29,000 , 20,800 and 44,000 shares with weighterage exercise prices of $10,84
$9.96 and $9.13 respectively, were fully exercisable. Compensataost charged against income before taxes for djons wa
approximately $228,000 for 2012 , $111,000 for 2ahdl $7,000 for 2010 . As of December 29, 2012retwas $1,046,006f unrecognize
compensation cost related to unvested stock optomsted under the Company's stock option plane.Wéighted average period over wt
the stock option compensation cost is expecte@ t@bognized is 3.79 years.

The Company has a stock awards plan in effect aebber 29, 2012 . A summary of plan activity fol@Q 2011 and 2012 is as follows:

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair

Shares Value
Outstanding at January 2, 2010 23,13 % 17.62
Granted February 24, 2010 51,50C $ 7.8¢
Vested (7,059 $ 19.3(
Forfeited (19,23 $ 8.8¢
Outstanding at January 1, 2011 48,34( $ 10.47
Granted January 24, 2011 13,42( $ 11.5¢
Granted February 9, 2011 13,300 $ 13.3¢
Vested (12,290 $ 12.81
Forfeited (19,199 $ 9.62
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 43,57: $ 11.3¢
Vested (11,099 $ 12.6(
Forfeited —
Outstanding at December 29, 2012 32470 § 10.9¢

The Compensation & Lon@ierm Incentive Committee of the Board of Directofghe Company approves stock grants under the Gowr
2005 Stock Awards Plan to certain management erapkowf the Company. The stock awards vest in 26epeincrements annually on
cumulative basis, beginning one year after the daggant from shares held in treasury with the @any.

35




In order for the awards to vest, the employee rbash the continuous employment of the Companyesthe date of the award. Any portior
an award that has not vested is forfeited uponitetion of employment. The Company may terminatg portion of the award that has
vested upon an employee's failure to comply witlt@hditions of the award or the 2005 Stock AwaPtn. An employee is not entitled to :
voting rights with respect to any shares not yete®, and the shares are not transferable. Thew weegrants issued in 201Zompensatic
expense totaling $332,000 and $406,000 on the giastied in 2011 and 2010espectively, is being charged against earningsléy befor:
forfeitures, if any, over a period of 60 monfhem the dates of the grants, with the offset rdedrin Shareholders' Equity. Compensation
charged against income for the awards was appraoeiyn&110,000 , $70,000 net of income taxes, o0BQer share for 2012 , $165,000
$105,000 net of income taxes, or $0.02 per shar@@dl and $174,000 , $110,000 net of income taxe$0.02 per share, for 201As of
December 29, 2012 , there was $262,00ttal unrecognized compensation cost relatatchtested stock grants under the 2005 Stock Av
Plan. The weighted average period over which theksgrant compensation cost is expected to be reped is 2.86 years.

On April 27, 2012 , the Company issued to eachohon-employee directors 1,59Bares of its common stock from shares held irstng
with the Company (an aggregate of 7,990 sharebe Qompany issued 7,238 shares and 1,531 shanemtemployee directors in 205Hhc
2010 , respectively. Such shares were issued tditeetors in lieu of $20,000 of their annual castainer fees for 2012 and $15,000theil
annual cash retainer fees for 2011 and 2010. B@@11 , two noremployee directors resigned/retired from the Badrirectors resulting i
the forfeiture of 1,248 shares.

Note 8 Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effe€teemporary differences between the carrying amouifitassets and liabilities for financ
reporting purposes and the amounts used for indam@urposes. Significant components of the Comigaahgferred tax liabilities and as:
are as follows at the respective year ends:

(Amounts in thousands) 2012 2011
Deferred tax assets:
Inventory valuation reserves 85z §$ 96¢€
Allowance for doubtful accounts 162 382
Inventory capitalization 2,23¢ 1,601
Environmental reserves 22¢ 22¢
Interest rate swap 11€ —
Deferred compensation 12C 13t
State net operating loss 66 —
Other 35C 29t
Total deferred tax assets 4,13¢ 3,60¢
Deferred tax liabilities:
Tax over book depreciation and amortization 8,04¢ 2,90¢
Prepaid expenses 663 582
Other 90 44
Total deferred tax liabilities 8,79¢ 3,53¢
Net deferred tax (liabilities) assets (4669 $ 74
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Significant components of the provision for (beh&fim) income taxes are as follows:

(Amounts in thousands) 2012 2011 2010
Current:
Federal $ 1,771 $ 267C $ 2,03¢
State 281 162 192
Total current 2,052 2,83 2,23
Deferred:
Federal 114 10¢ (14¢)
State (60) 13 32
Total deferred 54 121 (116
Total $ 2,10¢ $ 295: $ 2,11¢

The reconciliation of income tax computed at thesUfederal statutory tax rates to income tax espast

2012 2011 2010

(Amounts in thousands) Amount % Amount % Amount %
Tax at U.S. statutory rates $ 2,15¢ 34.C% $ 2,97¢ 34.C% $ 2,091 34.C%
State income taxes, net of federal tax

benefit 11€ 1.€% 138 15% 14¢ 2.4%
Manufacturing exemption (180 (2.9% (162) (1.9% (260) (2.6)%
Other, net 12 0.1% 7 0.1% 37 0.€%
Total $ 2,10¢ 332% $ 2,95: 337 % $ 2,11¢ 34.4%

Income tax payments of approximately $2,112,00(,143,000 and $1,659,000 were made in 2012 , 20i12810, respectively. Tt
Company had state net operating loss carryforwafdpproximately $43,143,000 at December 29, 204Rich will expire between the ye.
2017 to 2030, and $42,817,000 at December 31, 2@lrice the likelihood of recognizing the tax effetthese carryforwards is remote, t
have not been recognized in the consolidated fiahatatements.

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to fddgral income tax as well as income tax of midtstate jurisdictions. The Company is
longer subject to U.S. federal or state incomeetexminations for years before 2008. The Compamrygleral income tax return for 2007 \
examined by the Internal Revenue Service in 2009 faderal income tax and interest liabilities réagl from this examination were t
material. The Company's continuing practice iseimognize interest and/or penalties related to irectam matters in income tax expense.
Company had no accruals for uncertain tax positioclsiding interest and penalties at the end of2612011 .

Note 9 Benefit Plans and Collective Bargaining Agements

The Company has a 401(k) Employee Stock Ownerslkip Rhe "401(k)/ESOP Plan") covering all nonion employees. Employees n
contribute to the 401(k)/ESOP Plan up to 100 pdroéitheir salary with a maximum of $17,000 for 201Under the Economic Growth ¢
Tax Relief Reconciliation Act, employees who are &9 or older may contribute an additional $5,560year for a maximum of $22,566r
2012. Contributions by the employees are invested i@ onmore funds at the direction of the employemydver, employee contributic
cannot be invested in Company stock. Contributiopghe Company are made in cash and then usedebyGh(k)/ESOP Plan Trustee
purchase Company stock. The Company contributdsebalf of each eligible participant a matching citmttion equal to a percentage whic
determined each year by the Board of Directors. Za#&2 , 2011 and 2010 the maximum was four percdte matching contribution
allocated weekly. Matching contributions of approately $390,000 , $345,000 and $364,000 were made2612 , 2011 and 2010
respectively. The Company may also make a diseratjo contribution, which if made, would be distiibd to all eligible participan
regardless of whether they contribute to the 40E&DP Plan. No discretionary contributions were entdthe 401(k)/ESOP Plan in 2012
2011 or 2010 . The Company also contributes torusponsored defined contribution retirement planst@outions relating to these ple
were approximately $739,000 , $688,000 and $607(®0R2012 , 2011 and 2010 , respectively.

The Company has threeollective bargaining agreements at its Bristolndessee facility. The number of employees of then@am)
represented by these unions is 224 , or 38 pecdgéhe Company's total employees. They are repteddry two locals
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affiliated with the AFL-CIO and ontocal affiliated with the Teamsters. The Companpsiders relationships with its union employeesd
satisfactory. Collective bargaining contracts wibire in January 2015, February 2014 and Marctb201

Note 10 Leases

The Company leases a warehouse facility in Dal@pporgia, property for a manufacturing facility inrd@ge, Texas, office space
Spartanburg, South Carolina and Glen Allen, Virgimind various manufacturing and office equipmenéath of its locations, all unc
operating leases. The amount of future minimumeess/ments under the operating leases are as ®oIRML3 - $370,000 ; 2014 - $301,000
2015 - $193,000 ; 2016 - $98,000 ; and 2017 - M, 0Rent expense related to operating leases W&3,(00 , $140,000 and $257,000
2012, 2011 and 2010respectively. The Company does not have any deifise are classified as capital leases for antheperiods present
in the consolidated financial statements.

Note 11 Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is from time-time subject to various claims, other possible llegdions for product liability and other damagead othe
matters arising out of the normal conduct of thenBany's business. The Metals Segment recorded elgbense of $330,000 , $100,Cx
$500,000 for 2012 , 2011 and 2010 , respectivelyspecific customers' product claims.

In November 2012, after almost twelu®nths of collection efforts, the Specialty Cherfsc@egment filed suit against a former custome
past due invoices totaling $134,000hat former customer, in turn, filed a varietyaafunterclaims against the Specialty Chemicals ®ex
and alleged $3,000,000 damages. The Company believes the counterclamm$aseless and without merit. The case is clyrpahding it
the United States District Court for the Northerigtict of Georgia.

Other than the environmental contingencies disclss&lote 5 and the matters discussed in this Ndtananagement is not currently awar
any other asserted or unasserted matters whick bawe a significant effect on the financial coiaditor results of operations of the Company

Note 12 Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation asig and diluted earnings per share:

2012 2011 2010
Numerator:
Net income $ 423491 $ 5,797,16/ $ 4,033,82:
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per share - weightetlage shares 6,341,85! 6,313,411 6,282,49
Effect of dilutive securities:
Employee stock options and stock grants 52,48t 48,67( 26,70:
Denominator for diluted earnings per share - weidhgverage shares 6,394,34. 6,362,08 6,309,19:
Earnings per share:
Basic $ 067 $ 09z $ 0.64
Diluted $ 0.66 $ 091 $ 0.6¢

The diluted earnings per share calculations excthdeeffect of potentially dilutive shares when thelusion of those shares in the calculs
would have an anti-dilutive effect. The Company hesighted average shares of common stock of 231iy2Q®12 , 139,484 in 2014nc
63,184 in 2010 , which were not included in theitditl earnings per share calculation as their effa@stanti-dilutive.

Note 13 Industry Segments

The Company operates in tvincipal industry segments: metals and specidiignicals. The Company identifies such segmentsdbar
products and services. The Metals Segment cordi§gnalloy Metals, Inc. a wholly-owned subsidiavizich owns
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100 percent of Bristol Metals, LLC, Ram-Fab, LLCdaRalmer of Texas Tanks, Inc., both whadlyned subsidiaries of the Company.

Metals Segment manufactures pipe from stainless atel other alloys, fabricates piping systems foambon, chrome, stainless steel and «
alloys, and produces fiberglass and steel stor@agest The Metal Segment's products, many of whiehcastomproduced to individual orde
and required for corrosive and higlrity processes, are used principally by the chamipetrochemical, pulp and paper, mining, pc
generation (including nuclear), water and wastewtatment, liquid natural gas, brewery, food ps®ing, petroleum, pharmaceutical

other industries. Products include pipe, pipingteayss, storage tanks and a variety of other compgendine Specialty Chemicals Segn
consists of Manufacturers Soap and Chemical Compmamolly owned subsidiary of the Company whichmevit00 percentf Manufacturer
Chemicals, LLC. The Specialty Chemicals Segmentufaures a wide variety of specialty chemicals dyeks for the carpet, chemical, pa
metals, mining, agricultural, fiber, paint, textilutomotive, petroleum, cosmetics, mattress, fur@j janitorial and other industries.

Segment operating income is the segment's tot@niey less operating expenses, excluding intergsnse and income taxes. ldentifit
assets, all of which are located in the Unitede3tadire those assets used in operations by eatlesed he Metals Segment's identifiable a:
include goodwill of $16,898,000 in 2012 and $1,000, in 2011, and the Chemicals Segment's identifiable assefside goodwill ¢
$1,355,000 in 2012 and 2011 . Centralized datagssing and accounting expenses are allocated twihsegments based upon estimate
their percentage of usage. Unallocated corporafereses include environmental charges of $46,000 $3)800 for 2012 and 2011
respectively. There were no environmental chargasng 2010. Corporate assets consist principally of cashtage investments, ai
equipment.

The Metals Segment has one domestic customer ¢oatiated for approximately ten and eleven peroénihe Metals Segment's revenue
2011 and 2010 , respectively, and less than teceperfor 2012 Loss of this customers' revenues would have aerad effect on both t
Metals Segment and the Company. The Specialty Glasnsegment has one domestic customer that aexbfortapproximately 28 perceuoit
revenues for 2012 and 24 percent of revenues id 208l 201Q However, this customer is a large global compamg the purchases by t
customer are derived from several different busingsts that operate autonomously from each otBeen so, loss of this customer's revel
would have a material adverse effect on the Spggddiemicals Segment and the Company.

In order to establish stronger business relatigrsshihe Metals Segment uses only a few raw mataugbliers. Four suppliers furnish ab@gt
percent of total dollar purchases of raw materaith two suppliers furnishing 34 percent and 3@cpatof material purchases. However,

Company does not believe that the loss of any eddtsuppliers would have a materially adverse teffedche Company as raw materials
readily available from a number of different sow,cand the Company anticipates no difficultiesulfilfing its requirements. For the Specie
Chemicals Segment, most raw materials are genexadlifable from numerous independent suppliersadrwdit 50 percerdf total purchases ¢
from its top eightsuppliers. While some raw material needs are med Bple supplier or only a few suppliers, the Comypanticipates r
difficulties in fulfilling its raw material requiraents.
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Segment Information:

(Amounts in thousands)
Net sales
Metals Segment
Specialty Chemicals Segment

Operating income
Metals Segment
Specialty Chemicals Segment

Less unallocated corporate expenses

Operating income
Acquisition related costs
Other expense, net

Pretax income

Identifiable assets
Metals Segment
Specialty Chemicals Segment
Corporate

Depreciation and amortization
Metals Segment
Specialty Chemicals Segment
Corporate

Capital expenditures
Metals Segment
Specialty Chemicals Segment
Corporate

Geographic sales
United States
Elsewhere
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2012 2011 2010
146,28! 127,727 $ 108,54«
51,37« 42 ,84¢ 42,57
197,65¢ 170,57* % 151,12:
6,13¢ 9,25 % 3,77¢
4,84: 2,221 3,96(
10,98: 11,47« 7,73¢
3,19¢ 2,66¢ 1,541
7,78t 8,80¢ 6,19:
881 — —
56¢€ 56 43
6,341 8,75C $ 6,15(
117,341 72,72
21,94¢ 18,46¢
9,21¢ 7,72¢
148,50° 98,91¢
2,77¢ 2,07: 9 2,067
43t 41¢ 41¢
18¢ 167 15¢
3,39¢ 2,65¢ % 2,64
3,551 2,097 $ 3,99¢
1,06¢ 93C 1,03t
12¢ 15¢ 65
4,74( 3,18t % 5,09t
188,29; 159,82( $ 144,34(
9,361 10,75¢ 6,781
197,65¢ 170,57* $ 151,12:




Note 14 Quarterly Results (Unaudited)

The following is a summary of quarterly operatiéois2012 and 2011 :

Second
(Amounts in thousands except for per share data) First Quarter Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarte
2012
Net sales $ 47,37: 3 46,87¢ $ 50,27 $ 53,13¢
Gross profit 5,091 5,261 5,68: 5,89:
Net income 1,33 1,09( 842 96E
Per common share
Basic 0.21 0.17 0.1z 0.1¢
Diluted 0.21 0.17 0.1z 0.1¢
2011
Net sales $ 42,74. 3 41,39¢ $ 46,19 $ 40,241
Gross profit 7,09¢ 5,57¢ 3,63( 4,78:
Net income 2,50( 1,70¢ 571 1,013
Per common share
Basic 0.4C 0.27 0.0¢ 0.1¢€
Diluted 0.3¢ 0.27 0.0¢ 0.1€

Note 15 Interest Rate Swap

As discussed in Note 3, in conjunction with thartdoan obtained in August to mitigate the variapibf the interest rate risk, the Comp
entered into an interest rate swap contract on 8@, 2012 with its current bank. The interest map has a notional amount$@?2,500,00
with a fixed interest rate of 3.74 percent , anidren of 10 years that expires on August 21, 202Be notional amount of the interest rate <
decreases as monthly principal payments are mdteuygh the swap is expected to effectively offsmtable interest in the borrowing, he:
accounting will not be utilized. Therefore, changegs fair value are recorded in current assetgbilities, as appropriate, with corresponc
offsetting entries to other expense. As of Decen2®e2012, the Company recorded a liability of $880for the fair value of the interest r.
swap.

Note 16 Purchase of Palmer of Texas

On August 21, 2012the Company completed the purchase of all obiftstanding shares of capital stock of Palmer. Baisia manufactur
of liquid storage solutions and separation equignfen the petroleum, municipal water, wastewatdrernical and food industries. 1
Company views the Palmer acquisition as an exdetiemplement to the Metals Segment as both compaeivice many of the same mar
and the Company has the ability to drive Palmeicieficies in purchasing and operations. Palmesslie of operations since the acquisi
date are reflected in the Company's consolidatet@rsients of operations, and the Palmer acquisitétited approximately 13@mployees
December 29, 2012 . Effective January 22, 2013;\l&e Inc. changed its name to Palmer of Texas $almic.

The purchase price for the acquisition was $25@ X5, The adjustment for working capital increatiesl purchase price to $26,951,200
addition, the amount of maintenance capital exgane over the 18month period following closing and the final codt @ productiol
expansion capital project currently underway calfb result in purchase price adjustments. Curretitt Company does not expect to re:
any material purchase price adjustments from theseitems. The sellers of Palmer will also have #idity to receive earout payment
ranging from $2,500,000 to $10,500,000 if the besstunit achieves targeted levels of Adjusted EBT&s defined in the SPA, overtlaree
year period following closing; and the Company wvhilive the ability to cla-back portions of the purchase price over a tyear perio
following closing if EBITDA falls below baseline Vels. Palmer had recorded liabilities of approxiehat$l.2 million related to certa
contingencies for which the former Palmer sharedisichave agreed to indemnify the Company. Accolgirtpe Company has carried o
these liabilities in its consolidated financialtstaents and has recorded an asset of approxing&itetymillionin prepaid expenses reflecting
indemnification against these potential payments.

At the end of each year (based on the acquisitiaa)dor the next three years, if Palmer's EBIT@Athe year is below $5,825,00¢here wil
not be an earn-out paid for that year. If EBITDA fioe year is greater than $5,825,000 but less $6e825,000 , the
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sellers of Palmer will be paid $2,500,000 for thear. If EBITDA exceeds $6,825,000 for the yeae éarn-out would be $3,500,008t the
conclusion of the three -year earn-out period, e event that the cumulative adjusted EBITDA foe tharneut period is more thi
$17,475,000 , the sellers of Palmer will receiveadditional earrout payment, if any, as follows. In the event tih&t cumulative EBITDA fc
the earn-out period is greater than $17,475,000dsst than $20,475,000 , the Company will makediitianal earneut payment so that t
total cumulative earn-out payments for the thremaryearn-out period equals $7,500,000 . If the dative EBITDA exceeds $20,475,00@he
Company will make an additional earn-out paymenttisat the total cumulative earn-out payments fae three year period eque
$10,500,000 . The Company is currently forecastagn-out payments totaling $8,500,00@hich was discounted to a present valu
$8,152,000 using our incremental borrowing ratéwaf percent . $2,500,008f this liability was classified as a current liltyi since the firs
payment is expected to be made within the next. ydse various assumptions and projections useldeireirneut projections were reviewec
December 29, 2012 with no additional adjustmergsiired. Any future changes to the projected earhpayments as a result of our quari
review of forecasted EBITDA would be reflected asadjustment to earnings in that period.

Pursuant to the SPA, the Company has entered ithteea year employment agreement with the current Chiegraing Officer of Palmer a
a one -year employment agreement with the currentrGller of Palmer.

The purchase price for the Palmer acquisition wasléd through an increase in the Company's cucreit facility and a new term loan w
the Company's bank which is discussed in Note 3.

The total purchase price was allocated to Palmet'sangible and identifiable assets based on #stimated fair values as of August 21, 2012
An intangible asset representing the fair valu®alimer's customer base acquired by the Companwaasd at $9,000,000which is bein
amortized over a 15/ear period using an accelerated amortization ntethbe excess of the consideration transferred thnefair value of th
net tangible and identifiable assets and intangilskets is reflected as goodwill. The Company besieghe amount of goodwill resulting fri
the purchase price allocation is attributable te workforce of the acquired business (which is @laible for separate recognition as
identifiable asset) and the expected synergistiefits of being able to leverage Palmer's expettitie the Company's existing manufactul
and fabrication processes. All of the goodwill vadkocated to the Company's Metals Segment. SineeCibmpany purchased the stocl
Palmer, goodwill is not deductible for tax purpasBEse current allocation of the total consideratianid to the fair value of the assets acqt
and liabilities assumed is as follows:

Purchase
accounting and

As recorded fair value As recorded

by Palmer adjustments by Synalloy

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,389,05 $ — $ 1,389,05

Accounts receivable, net 4,969,03 — 4,969,03!

Inventories, net 5,678,36! — 5,678,36!

Prepaid expenses 75,80« 1,536,00 1,611,80:

Net fixed assets 4,799,69 2,691,37 7,491,06:

Goodwill — 15,897,94 15,897,94
Intangible asset - customer

base — 9,000,00! 9,000,001

Contingent consideration — (8,152,03) (8,152,03)

Other liabilities assumed (6,833,31) (3,156,71) (9,990,02i)

$ 10,078,663 $ 17,816,57 $ 27,895,20

The purchase accounting and fair value adjustmanpifepaid expenses represents the indemnificaionided by the sellers of Palmer
certain liabilities assumed at acquisition, as nometd earlier in this note, plus the Controlleetention bonus. The adjustment for net f
assets increases the book value of the properant @nd equipment to their estimated fair valueofishe acquisition date. Conting
consideration is the present value of projectedh-eat payments to the prior owners of Palmer. Theonitgj of the adjustments to ott
liabilities assumed represents current and defenemme taxes inherent with the acquisition.

The amount of Palmer's revenues andtpreearnings included in the consolidated statesnehbperations for the three months and year ¢
December 29, 2012 were $8,323,000 and $12,619,8pectively, for revenues and $98,000 and $9107,068spectively, for préax earning:
The following unaudited pro forma information isogided to present a summary of the combined resdiltbe Company's operations w
Palmer as if the acquisition had occurred on JanRaP011. The unaudited pro forma financial informatiorfas information purposes or
and is not necessarily indicative of what the rnsswbuld have been had the acquisition been coexplen the date indicated above.
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Pro Forma (Unaudited)

2012 2011
Pro forma revenues $ 220,955,000 $ 202,689,00
Pro forma net income 5,537,001 6,478,00!
Earnings per share:
Basic $ 087 $ 1.0z
Diluted 0.87 1.0z

The pro-forma calculation excludes non-recurringjuésition costs of $881,000 during 2012 . Theseeegures included $355,00@r
professional audit fees associated with due ditgepreparation and audit of historical financialtements and intangible asset identifice
and valuation, $337,000 related to bank fees astmmtivith the swap agreement, $93,000 of legal &5 000of travel costs and other varic
charges of $71,000 These expenses were all recorded at the corptaett and are included as a separate line iterthénconsolidate
statement of operations.

Note 17 Payment of Dividends

On November 15, 2012 , the Board of Directors & @ompany voted to pay an annual dividend of $@&& share which was paid
December 10, 2012 to holders of record on Nover8beR012 for a total of $1,596,000 . In 2011 , @mmpany paid a $0.25sh dividend ¢
December 5, 2011 for a total of $1,580,000 anddm&02, the Company paid a $0.25 cash dividend oredbéer 8, 2010 and a $0.25st
dividend on March 22, 2010 for total payments ofl$8,000 . The Board presently plans to review at the endachdiscal year the financ
performance and capital needed to support futwoertlrto determine the amount of cash dividendnyf,avhich is appropriate.

Note 18 Subsequent Events

On February 7, 2013 , the Compensation & Ldmgm Incentive Committee of the Board of Directofgshe Company approved stock op
grants under the 2011 Plan. Options for a tot&l0g047 shares, with an exercise price of $1p&i0share, were granted under the 2011 P
certain management employees of the Company. Dlo& sptions will vest in 20 perceirtcrements annually on a cumulative basis, begg
oneyear after the date of grant. In order for the @mito vest, the employee must be in the contineoysloyment of the Company since
date of the grant. Any portion of the grant thas hat vested will be forfeited upon terminationesfiployment. The Company may termir
any portion of the grant that has not vested upomrraployee's failure to comply with all conditioasthe award or the 2011 Plan. Shi
representing grants that have not yet vested wilhéld in escrow by the Company. An employee vatl Ipe entitled to any voting rights w
respect to any shares not yet vested, and thesshegenot transferable. The per share weightentage fair value of this stock option grant
$6.30 . The Black-Scholes model for this grant hased on a risk-free interest rate of 2.00 percentexpected life of sevemars, an expect
volatility of 0.53 and a dividend yield of 1.80 pent . Compensation expense totaling $252,@00be recorded against earnings equally
the following 60 months from the date of grant wthie offset recorded in Shareholders' Equity.
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Management's Annual Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for piregahe Company's annual consolidated financiakestants and for establishing :
maintaining adequate internal control over finahg@orting for the Company. Management has evatuthe effectiveness of the Compa
internal control over financial reporting as of Batber 29, 2012 based on criteria establishelhternal Control —Integrated Framewol
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiodrthe Treadway Commission ("COSO"). As permitbgdguidance provided by the s
of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission,stiope of management's assessment of internalotanter financial reporting as
December 29, 2012 has excluded the operations@¥/ke, Inc., doing business as Palmer of Texas ("Balnfrom its assessment of inter
controls over financial reporting as of December 2812, because Palmer was acquired by the Compafiygust 2012. Palmer constitu
6.4% of consolidated net sales for the year endszeBber 29, 2012, and 30.3% of consolidated tet#ta as of December 29, 2012.

Based on this evaluation, management believestiltatCompany's internal control over financial rejpgr as of December 29, 2012 \
effective.

The Company's independent registered public acoayiitm that audited the Company's consolidatedricial statements included in 1
annual report has issued an attestation repoti@eftectiveness of the Company's internal comtvel financial reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
Synalloy Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Synalloy Corporation and subsididttes “Company”)as of December 29, 20
and December 31, 2011, and the related consolidééeiments of operations, shareholders' equitycashl flows for each of the years in the thyea+
period ended December 29, 2012. We also have duBlitealloy Corporation and subsidiaries' interrmaitmol over financial reporting as of Decerr
29, 2012, based on criteria establishediriternal Control-Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiohshe
Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company's manadgeimeresponsible for these consolidated financiatesnents, for maintaining effect
internal control over financial reporting, and fits assessment of the effectiveness of internatrebiver financial reporting, included in t
accompanying Management's Annual Report on Inte@aitrol Over Financial Reporting. Our responsipilis to express an opinion on th
consolidated financial statements and an opiniotherCompany's internal control over financial mtipg based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBoUnited States). Those standards re
that we plan and perform the audits to obtain nealsle assurance about whether the consolidatedcimiastatements are free of material misstate
and whether effective internal control over finahcieporting was maintained in all material respe@ur audits of the consolidated finan
statements included examining, on a test basideaee supporting the amounts and disclosures indhsolidated financial statements, assessir
accounting principles used and significant estimatade by management, and evaluating the overadlotidated financial statement presentation.
audit of internal control over financial reportimgcluded obtaining an understanding of internaltcgrover financial reporting, assessing the riskt t
material weakness exists, and testing and evafugtim design and operating effectiveness of intermatrol based on the assessed risk. Our audit
included performing such other procedures as wesidered necessary in the circumstances. We beli@teour audits provide a reasonable basi
our opinions.

A company's internal control over financial repogtiis a process designed to provide reasonableasssuregarding the reliability of financ
reporting and the preparation of financial statetmdor external purposes in accordance with acdogrgrinciples generally accepted in the Un
States of America. A company's internal controlrdrgancial reporting includes those policies amdgedures that (1) pertain to the maintenan:
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately famty reflect the transactions and dispositionstted assets of the company; (2) provide reaso
assurance that transactions are recorded as necésgsermit preparation of financial statementsagtordance with accounting principles gene
accepted in the United States of America, and réhagipts and expenditures of the company are beeude only in accordance with authorization
management and directors of the company; and (B)ige reasonable assurance regarding preventitimely detection of unauthorized acquisiti
use, or disposition of the company's assets thdtidmave a material effect on the financial statetsie

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohover financial reporting may not prevent or @etaisstatements. Also, projections of any evatun
of effectiveness to future periods are subjech®risk that controls may become inadequate beaafuskanges in conditions, or that the degre
compliance with the policies or procedures may riiate.

As described in Management's Annual Report on hiale€ontrols over Financial Reporting, the Compamyanagement has excluded Mg Inc.
doing business as Palmer of Texas (“Palmdrm its assessment of internal controls over famnreporting as of December 29, 2012, bec
Palmer was acquired by the Company in August 20 .have also excluded Palmer from the scope ofaadit of internal control over financ
reporting. Palmer constituted 6.4% of consolidatetl sales for the year ended December 29, 20123@ar8% of consolidated total assets a
December 29, 2012.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial stateteereferred to above present fairly, in all materigspects, the financial position of Syna
Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 292 20l December 31, 2011, and the results of thpgrations and their cash flows for each of
years in the thre-year period ended December 29, 2012, in conformitly accounting principles generally accepted i thited States of Americ
Also in our opinion, Synalloy Corporation and sulisiies maintained, in all material respects, difecinternal control over financial reporting &k
December 29, 2012, based on criteria establishéoténnal Control-Integrated Frameworiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizataf
the Treadway Commission (COSO). Also, in our opinithe related financial statement schedule ligtdtem 15(a)2, when considered in relatio
the basic consolidated financial statements takemwhole, presents fairly in all material respdioegsinformation set forth therein.

'I-’iml'luﬂﬁli Hovdnan P

Charlotte, North Carolina
March 12, 2013
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Item 9 Changes in and Disagreements with Accountaston Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on the evaluation required by 17 C.F.R. 8&e@#0.13a-15(b) or 240.18b(b) of the Company's disclosure controls and guaces (e
defined in 17 C.F.R. Sections 240.13a-15(e) and1B415(e)), the Company's chief executive officer ahigicfinancial officer concluded tr
such controls and procedures, as of the end gi¢hied covered by this annual report, were effectiv

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control ovigrancial Reporting is set forth at the conclusanthe Company's consolida
statements set forth in Item 8 of this FormKLOFhe scope of the Company's efforts to complyhwuiite Section 404 Rules with respect to fi
year 2012 included all of the Company's operatiother than the operations associated with the Auglis2012 acquisition of Palmer
Texas. In accordance with the SEC's published gerlabecause the Company acquired these operatinimg the fiscal year, the Comp:
excluded these operations from its efforts to cgmpith Section 404 Rules with respect to fiscal ry@812. The Company is currer
evaluating and documenting the internal controlsrdinancial reporting at Palmer and will includesin in their internal control testing
2013.

The Attestation Report of the Company's independegistered public accounting firm on the Compangternal control over financi
reporting is included in the Report of IndependRegistered Public Accounting Firm set forth in 1t8rof this Form 10-K.

There has been no change in the Company's inteonélol over financial reporting during the lastcfal quarter that has materially affectec
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Caang's internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B Other Information

Not applicable

PART IlI

Item 10 Directors, Executive Officers and CorporateéGovernance

The information set forth under the captions "Psgd -Election of Directors," "Executive Officers," afilection 16(a) Beneficial Owners|
Reporting Compliance" in the Company's definitiveqy statement to be used in connection with itedal Meeting of Shareholder to be t
April 25, 2013 (the "Proxy Statement") is incorpedhherein by reference.

Code of Ethics. The Company's Board of Directors &@dopted a Code of Ethics that applies to the Goyip Chief Executive Officer, Ch
Financial Officer and corporate and divisional colérs. The Code of Ethics is available on the @any's website
www.synalloy.com Any amendment to, or waiver from, this Code tifi€s will be posted on the Company's website.

Audit Committee. The Company has a separately datg standing Audit Committee of the Board of Bioes established in accordance \
Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the Securities Exchange #c1934. The members of the Audit Committee arehany A. Callander, Murray H. Wrig
and James W. Terry.

Audit Committee Financial Expert. The Company's iBloaf Directors has determined that the Company dtdgast one "audit commit
financial expert," as that term is defined by 1t467(d)(5) of Regulation 8-promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Cosiorisservin
on its Audit Committee. Mr. Anthony A. Callander etg the terms of the definition and is independastindependence is defined for a
committee members in the rules of the NASDAQ Glddalrket. Pursuant to the terms of Item 407(d) ofRation SK, a person who
determined to be an "audit committee financial eXp&ill not be deemed an expert for any purpose assult of being designated or identi
as an "audit committee financial expert" pursuanttém 407(d), and such designation or identifatdoes not impose on such person
duties, obligations or liability that are greatban the duties, obligations or liability imposed such person as a member of the A
Committee and Board of Directors in the absencaioh designation or identification. Further, theigeation or identification of a person a
"audit committee
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financial expert" pursuant to Iltem 407(d) doesaféegct the duties, obligations or liability of anther member of the Audit Committee or Bc
of Directors.

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information set forth under the captions "Boafd Directors and Committees Compensation Committee Interlocks and Ins
Participation,” "Director Compensation,” "Discussiof Executive Compensation” and "Compensation Citteen Report" in the Pro;
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Omers and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information set forth under the captions "Baialf Owners of More Than Five Percent of the ComymCommon Stock" and "Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Managgfnia the Proxy Statement is incorporated by mefee.

Equity Compensation Plan Information. The followiagle sets forth aggregated information as of Dexr 29, 2012 about all of the
Company's equity compensation plans.

Number of
securities
remaining
Number of available for future
securities to be issuance under
issued upon equity
exercise of Weighted average compensation
outstanding exercise price of plans (excluding
options, warrants  outstanding options securities reflected
and rights warrants and rights  in column (a)) @
Plan Category (@) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by securitgdrsl 220,74 % 11.82 364,52:
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechntglers — — —
Total 220,740 ¢ 11.8: 364,52:

(1) Represents shares remaining available for issuamder the 2005 Stock Awards Plan and the 2011

Non-employee directors are paid an annual retained6f0P0, and each director has the opportunity éoteb receive $20,000 of the reta
in restricted stock. For 2012, each director elbttereceive $20,000 of the annual retainer irricgst stock. The number of restricted shar
determined by the average of the high and low pate of the Company's stock on the day prior # Amnual Meeting of Shareholders.

2012, five nonemployee directors each received 1,598 sharesufated stock (an aggregate of 7,990 shares)atgmuof the shares grante:
the directors is not registered under the Secarfiet of 1933 and the shares are subject to foarkeiin whole or in part upon the occurrenc
certain events. The above table does not reflesketishares issued to non-employee directors.
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Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactins

The information set forth under the captions "Boafdirectors and Committees — Related Party Tretimas" and "-Director Independenc
in the Proxy Statement is incorporated thereindfgrence.

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information set forth under the captions "Iretegent Registered Public Accounting Firnrees Paid to Independent Registered P
Accounting Firm" and "— Audit Committee Pre-Approva Audit and Permissible NoAudit Services of Independent Registered Pi

Accounting Firm" in the Proxy Statement is incomed herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following documents are filed as a part of teigort
1. Financial Statements: The following consolidatedficial statements of Synalloy Corporation arevidet! in Part Il, Item !
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 29, 2@lRPecember 31, 2011
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeraed December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011, awddal, 2011
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equitthfoyears ended December 29, 2012, December 31,&@ January 1, 2011
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeaded December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 anddah, 2011

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statements Schedules: The following clidated financial statements schedule of SynalloypGration is included in Ite

15:

Schedule Il - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts fbe years ended December 29, 2012, December 31,&@ January 1, 2011

All other schedules for which provision is madethie applicable accounting regulations of the Séesrand Exchange Commiss
are not required under the related instructiorsrerinapplicable, and therefore have been omitted.

3. Listing of Exhibits
See "Exhibit Index"

Schedule Il Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E
Balance at
Beginning of Charged to Cost Balance at End of

Description Period and Expenses Deductions Period
Year ended December 29, 2012
Deducted from asset account:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 1,203,000 $ 928,000 $ 818,00( $ 1,313,00!
Year ended December 31, 2011
Deducted from asset account:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 435,000 $ 793,000 $ 25,000 $ 1,203,00!
Year ended January 1, 2011
Deducted from asset account:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 355,000 $ 85,000 $ 5,00 $ 435,00(

Charged to cost and expenses for 2012 is compoised

(1) the amount due from Palmer's prior owners @1$800 for the amount of pre-acquisition receivalietstanding at 120 days after
acquisition which were indemnified by the selleseg Note 1); and

(2) $107,000 charged against earnings.

Deductions represent uncollected accounts andtdveldinces written off against reserve, net of vedes.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 16{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registhas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

SYNALLOY CORPORATION
By /s/ Craig C. Bram March 12. 2013
Craig C. Bram Date
Chief Executive Officer
By /s/ Richard D. Sieradzki
Richard D. Sieradzki March 12, 2013
Chief Financial Officer and Date
Principal Accounting Officer
Registrant

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bblpthe following persons on behalf of
Registrant and in the capacities and on the daieated.

By /s/ Carroll D. Vinson
Carroll D. Vinson
Chairman of the Board

By /s/ Anthony A. Callander
Anthony A. Callander
Director

By /s/ Murray H. Wright
Murray H. Wright
Director

By /s/ James W. Terry, Jr.
James W. Terry, Jr.
Director

By /s/ Henry L. Guy
Henry L. Guy

Director

By /s/ Craig C. Bram
Craig C. Bram

Chief Executive Officer and Director
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Index to Exhibits

Exhibit No.
from

Iltem 601 of
Regulation S-K

Description

3.1

3.2

4.1
10.1

10.2

10.2

10.4

10.€
10.7

10.¢

10.¢

10.2(

10.11

10.1%

10.1:

10.1¢4

10.1¢
10.1¢

10.1%

21
23
31.1
31.z
32

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Registrastamended, incorporated by reference to Registaorm 10-Q for
the period ended April 2, 2005

Bylaws of Registrant, as amended, incorporatecefsrence to Registrant's Form 10-Q for the periuted March 31,
2001 (the "first quarter 2001 Form 10-Q")

Form of Common Stock Certificate, incorporated &ference to the first quarter 2001 Form 10-Q

Synalloy Corporation 1998 Long-Term Incentive St&t&n, incorporated by reference to the first qera2001 Form
10-Q

Synalloy Corporation 2005 Stock Awards Plan, incogted by reference to the Proxy Statement foR@@5 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders

Amendment 1 to the Synalloy Corporation 2005 Staelards Plan incorporated by reference to Regisgddrm 10-K
for the year ended December 29, 2007

2011 Long-Term Incentive Stock Option Plan, incogted by reference to Registrant's Proxy Stateregrthe 2011
Annual Meeting of Shareholders

2011 Short-Term Cash Incentive and Options Plarorjporated by reference to Registrant's Form 10+KHe year
ended December 31, 2011

2012 Short-Term Cash Incentive and Options Plan

Agreement between Registrant's Bristol Metals, lduBsidiary and the United Steelworkers of Ameriocadl 4586,
dated December 10, 2010, incorporated by referenBegistrant's Form 10-K for the year ended Janlia2011

Agreement between Registrant's Bristol Metals, IduBsidiary and the United Association of Journeyagh
Apprentices of the Plumbing and Pipe Fitting Indusif the United States and Canada Local Union338, dated
February 16, 2009, incorporated by reference tadRegt's Form 10-K for the year ended Januan01,12

Agreement between Registrant's Bristol Metals, IduBsidiary and the Teamsters Local Union No. 548&diMarch 5,
2010, incorporated by reference to Registrant'snFB-K for the year ended January 1, 2011

Loan Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2010, bet®egistrant and Branch Banking and Trust (“BB&Ttjcorporated
by reference to Registrant's Form 10-K for the yerated January 1, 2011

First Amendment to First Amended and Restated lAgneement, dated August 21, 2012, between Regtsirah
Branch Banking and Trust (“BB&T")

First Amendment to First Amended and Restated lAgneement, dated October 22, 2012, between Regisiral
Branch Banking and Trust (“BB&T")

Employment Agreement dated January 24, 2011, betRegistrant and Craig C. Bram, incorporated bgregice to
Registrant's Form 10-K for the year ended Janua?p11

Amended Employment Agreement dated January 24, 2@t®een Registrant and Craig C. Bram, incorpdrbte
reference to Registrant's Form 10-K for the yeaedrnDecember 31, 2011

Amended Employment Agreement dated January 24,, 2#t®een Registrant and Craig C. Bram

Employment Agreement, dated August 21, 2012, betviRegistrant and Jimmie D. Lee, incorporated bgresfce to
Registrant's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Sdpte29, 2012

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 12, 20nong Jimmie Dean Lee, James Varner, Stev&iBtate and
Synalloy Corporation, incorporated by referenc®égistrant's Form 8-K filed on August 24, 2012

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Consent of Dixon Hughes Goodman LLP, independagistered public accounting firm for Registrant
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications of ChiekEutive Officer

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of the Chtafancial Officer

Certifications Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
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SYNALLOY CORPORATION
2012 ShortTerm Cash Incentive and Options Plan

Purpose This Short-Term Cash Incentive and Options Ptae (Incentive Plan”)is intended to provide key executive employee
Synalloy Corporation (the “Companyiyhich term shall include Synalloy Corporation amay eof its affiliates or subsidiaries) 1
opportunity to participate in the Company's prdiiligy, future prosperity and growth. The purpodédte Incentive Plan is to provide st
and longterm incentive for gain through outstanding sentwéhe Company and its shareholders, and to ass#tracting and retainil
executives of ability and initiative.

Administration. The Incentive Plan shall be administered by tleen@any's Compensation & Long Term Incentive Coramit{th
“Committee”). The same restrictions set forth ie tiompany's 2011 Long-Term Incentive Stock Optitam Rthe “Stock Option Plai),’
previously approved by the Company's Board of Daecand shareholders, applicable to Committee neesnkhall also apply under t
Incentive Plan. To the extent this Incentive Pli#feds from or is inconsistent with the Stock OptiBlan, the terms and provisions of
Stock Option Plan shall govern. The Committee dhalle complete authority and discretion to interpheprovisions of this Incentive Pl
consistent with law and the Stock Option Plan, respribe the form of instruments evidencing thelstptions that may be granted ur
this Incentive Plan and pursuant to the Stock @pRtan, to adopt, amend, and rescind general agciadpules and regulations for
administration, and to make all other determinatiorcessary or advisable for the administratioth@fincentive Plan. No member of
Committee shall be liable for any action or deterattion in respect thereto, if made in good faitig ahall be entitled to indemnification
the Company with respect to all matters arisingnfriois service on the Committee to the fullest eixalowable under the Compar
charter documents and applicable law.

Eligibility . Any salaried employee of the Company who in tldgment of the Committee occupies a managementigogi which his @
her efforts contribute to the profit and growthtieé Company may be eligible to participate in theehtive Plan. The named participant
this Incentive Plan shall be recommended by thesidiv Presidents and the CEO, and approved by timendittee. The key metric usec
measure management performance in a particulasidivior the Company as a whole, as the case maig bet income before incot
taxes or “NIBIT”as more fully described in the Company's Proxyeatant. The NIBIT target ranges described hereirdarized from th
Company's annual budget approved by the CompargsdBof Directors and are exclusive of and caledadrior to allocation of the ce
and stock option incentives payable to all exeastiparticipating in the Incentive Plan. Exhibitdthis Incentive Plan, as may be amer
from time to time by the Committee, sets forth &mmual NIBIT target range and named participarstsigied percentage of the cash
stock option incentives. The Committee, upon recematation from the Company's CEO, shall have thereli®n to determine to wt
extent, if any, persons employed on a part-timeomsulting basis will be eligible to participatetire Incentive Plan.

Cash Incentive Pool At the beginning of the year, for each divisiongluding Corporate, the division Presidents wilkmtify the
executives who they recommend to participate inhediwision's cash incentive pool with input frometlCEO, and the CEO w
recommend the executives who will participate i@ @orporate division's cash incentive pool. Addiéilly, each recommended particig
will be allocated a percentage of the division'shcacentive pool. The recommended allocationsvélcompleted at the beginning of €
year by the division Presidents, with input andeevfrom the CEO. The CEO will prepare the recomdeshallocation for the Corpor:
division. These recommendations will be submittedhie Committee no later than two weeks prior ® Eebruary Board of Directa
meeting. The Committee will review and approve, ather reject the recommendations of the divisioesRients and the CEO. The CE
incentive calculation will be handled separatebnirthe Corporate division and will be approved iy Committee.

A. NIBIT Allocations . At the beginning of each year, the Company's 8axrDirectors will approve the upcoming year's @eidtha
shall include the NIBIT target range for each diisand for the Company as a whole (each, a “TdRgetge”).The applicable Targ
Range for each division, as approved by the Boafirectors, is set forth on Exhibit Attached hereto. Each division cash incel
pool shall equal a designated percentage of NIBHiewed by that division, or in the case of the @@oate division, achieved by 1
Company as a whole. Upon the division PresidenisGBO's recommendation, the Committee will esthhifie percentage of NIB
that will comprise the cash incentive pool for eadkision and the Company as a whole (each, anetitice Pool Percentageyhe
applicable Incentive Pool Percentages for eachsidivi are set forth below. Each Target Range witlude three levels wi
corresponding Incentive Pool Percentages: (i) Belaaget; (i) On Target; and, (iii) Above Target.hétever NIBIT falls (Beloy
Target, On Target, or Above Target), the IncenBe®l Percentage for that applicable Target Randleapply to all dollars of prof
beginning with the first dollar, computed using #pplicable Incentive Pool Percentage.




B. Cash Incentive Pool Percentages (excludingritorg adjustments):

Division  Below Target On Target Above Target
General Metals Segment 1.50%  3.50%.50%

K. Pennington-Metals Segment  1.00%  1.5092.00%
Palmer 250% 5.00% 7.00%

MCC 250% 5.00% 7.50%

Corporate 1.25% 2.00%  3.00%

CEO 1.00% 2.00% 2.75%

C. Downward Adjustments to the Cash Incentive P&@ch division President, upon approval by the ClEa3 the authority to reduce
individual executive's cash incentive bonus for enat underperformance against personal goals. thadilly, at the operatir
division level, the Corporate division level and fhe CEO and other Company executives that maigdmtified individually, eac
cash incentive pool may be reduced for poor perémee in two areas as detailed below: Safety anenitavy Turns.

i. For every lost time accident during the year, thghcncentive pool for that division will be redddey 5%. The cash incentive p
for the Corporate division and the CEO will be reeldi as well by taking the division with the largesmber of lost time accidel
and multiplying the number of lost time accidenses 5. For example, if BRISMET has the largest benof accidents at 3, th
the Corporate division and the CEO's cash incemtoa@ will be reduced by 15%.

i. An inventory turn target will be established fockalivision, where applicable, and will be set fiooh_Exhibit A. These inventol
turn targets will be established by the CEO andsitim Presidents and approved by the Committehelfinventory turns come
less than the target, the applicable division'srdasentive pool shall be reduced by 10%. If theeirtory turns for the enti
company are less than the targeted inventory tuhesy the cash incentive pool for the Corporatésdim and the CEO will k
reduced by 10% as well.

D. Inventory Profits or LossesThe NIBIT calculations shall exclude any inveptprofits or losses applicable to the BRISMET dion
as set forth in this section. NIBIT calculations fbe BRISMET division will be reduced on a dolfar dollar basis by the amount
inventory profits in that division, and the appriape Target Range will be selected based on sutticesl NIBIT calculation. Likewis
NIBIT calculations for the BRISMET division will bincreased on a dollar for dollar basis by the amhaif inventory losses in tk
division, and the appropriate Target Range wilsbkected based on such increased NIBIT calculation.

5. Stock Options (Londerm Incentives) To the extent stock options are available underStock Option Plan previously approved by
shareholders, stock options of Company stock velidsued as provided herein. All terms, conditiand restrictions set forth in the St
Option Plan shall apply to any and all stock opgidssued pursuant to this Incentive Plan. Thosewies eligible to receive bor
payments from the cash incentive pool under thigtive Plan Stock options are eligible to recestaxk options. Stock options will
issued in only those years where On Target or Abarget NIBIT is achieved in a particular divisiar, Company as a whole, depenc
upon the position of a particular executive. Naktoptions will be issued when NIBIT is Below Tatge

6. Stock Options ScheduleStock options shall be granted based on the stdditlow. The percentages set forth below reptes
percentage of each particular executive's baseydala., base salary exclusive of bonuses) foryéer under consideration.

Position Below Target On Target Above Target
CEO 0.00% 25.00% 37.50%

CFO 0.00% 20.00%  30.00%
DIVPRES/GM 0.00% 20.00%  30.00%
SEC/HR 0.00%  15.00% 22.50%

Others  0.00% 10.00%  15.00%

* See Exhibits A and B attached hereto for compdietiiils.




Mid-Year Acquisition AdjustmentsThe Company, from time to time, may acquire aepthusiness or operating division nyidar, whicl
acquisition will not be budgeted or accounted fortie Target Ranges that are established at thimrheg of the fiscal year. Upt
consultation with the CEO and division Presidetits, Committee shall amend the applicable TargegBaito account for any and all mid-
year acquisitions. Specifically, the Committee witidate the applicable Target Ranges to accourthépr«-forma NIBIT expected froi
each acquisition for the remainder of the curreademdar year. The Company's practice is to allocateudgeted onéme expense
associated with a mid-year acquisition to the Crafo division only. In determining the actual yead NIBIT calculation for tF
Corporate division and the CEO, the Committee adll back the ontime costs associated with each acquisition incudwring the ye:
in question but not previously budgeted. The amadfrdnetime expenses to be added back will be approvethdyCommittee and w
include only those expenses that were incurreddiseat result of completing the acquisition. I thvent these orténe expenses exte
from one calendar year to the next, the accrueetiome expenses associated with the acquisition feash year will be added back to
applicable year's NIBIT calculations for the Coigterdivision and the CEO.

General ProvisionsNeither the adoption of this Incentive Plan rterdperation, nor any document describing or rafgrto this Incentiv
Plan, or any part thereof, shall confer upon anplegee any right to continue in the employ of thev@any or any subsidiary, or shal
any way affect the right and power of the Compantetminate the employment of any employee at ang tith or without assigning
reason therefor to the same extent as the Compaght hmve done if this Incentive Plan had not badopted.

Duration and Amendment of the Incentive Pldimless previously terminated by the Committee, Iticentive Plan shall be effective
the fiscal year specified in the Incentive Plane Tommittee may alter, amend, or terminate thigntige Plan, including any exhik
attached hereto, at any time. Any stock optionstgih prior to the termination of this Incentive fPlshall remain valid thereafter
accordance with their terms and the Stock Optiam Pl
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9520406872
Account Number

This First Amended and Restated Loan Agreement“@lgeeement”) is made as of 2012by and betweeBRANCH BANKING
AND TRUST COMPANY , a North Carolina banking corporation (“Bank”)dan

Synalloy Corporation , a Delaware corporation (“Synalloy”), having itief executive office at 775 Spartan Boulevard,r&pdurg, South Carolina, Suite
102, 29301, and:

Metchem, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Metchem”), having itseftexecutive office at 900 Market Street, Suit® 20/ilmington, Delaware 19801, and:

Synalloy Fabrication, LLC (formerly named SFR, LLC), a South Carolina limitedbility company (“Synalloy Fabrication"having its chief executive offi
at 775 Spartan Boulevard, Spartanburg, South @ardBuite 102, 29301, and:

Ram-Fab, LLC , a South Carolina limited liability company (“Rafab”), having its chief executive office at 150 H§3-S, Crosset, Arkansas 71635, and:

Synalloy Metals, Inc., a Tennessee corporation (“Synalloy Metals”), hgnts chief executive office at 390 Bristol Met&sad, Bristol, Tennessee 37320,
and:

Bristol Metals, LLC , a Tennessee limited liability company (“BristglRaving its chief executive office at 390 Brisidétals Road, Bristol, Tennessee 37320,
and:

Manufacturers Soap & Chemical Company, a Tennessee corporation (“Manufacturers Soapl)iny its chief executive office at 4325 Old Tafuad,
Cleveland, Tennessee 37320, and:

Manufacturers Chemicals, LLC , a Tennessee limited liability company (“Manufaens Chemicals”), having its chief executive offae4325 Old Tasso
Road, Cleveland, Tennessee 37320.

Synalloy, Metchem, Synalloy Fabrication, Ram-Fam&aloy Metals, Bristol, Manufacturers Soap and Macturers Chemicals are collectively referred to
herein as the “Borrowers”.  Upon the executind delivery by Lee-Var, Inc. (d/b/a Palmer of Tex&almer”)of a joinder agreement hereto, Palmer sha
deemed an additional joint and several “Borrowestdunder, mutatis mutandis, subject to all thegalilbns and agreements made on the part of the@Bers
hereunder and the other agreements, documentsstnginnents referred to herein and/or therein.

This Agreement is entered into for purposes of atimgnand restating, in full, the provisions of thean Agreement dated June 30, 2010 (tBeiginal
Agreement”) by and among the parties hereto (withacknowledgement that SFR, LLC has changed ity @ame to “Synalloy Fabrication, LLGKhile still
remaining a South Carolina limited liability comgaand retaining the address set forth above). @lapsd terms used in this Agreement without defin
retain the meanings respectfully assigned to serchd in the Original Agreement.

The Borrowers have requested the Bank and the Baslagreed, subject to the terms of this Agreetoeia) increase the amount of the Line of Credififdbc
and described below) from up to $20,000,000 toau§25,000,000 and extend the final maturity dagzetbf from June 30, 2014 until June 30, 2015; &)
make a $22,500,000 Term Loan to the Borrower (@efiand described below). The Line of Credit andTeem Loan are collectively referred to her
collectively, as the “Loan”):

Line of Credit (“Line of Credit”) in the maximum principal amounbt to exceed, at any one time, the lesser 0$28)000,000r (b) the Availability (a
defined inSection 10.0lbelow). The Line of Credit shall be for the purpaevorking capital and shall be evidenced by tloerBwers' Promissory Note da
on or after the date hereof which shall mature @gprately 36 months from the closing date, whenehtre unpaid principal balance then outstandilug
accrued interest thereon shall be paid in fulthke event that at any time the principal amounstaumiding under the Line of Credit shall exceedélser of (¢
$25,000,00@r (b) the Availability then the Borrower shall pnptly repay such excess principal amounts to thernexecessary to regain compliance with
limitations. Accrued interest only shall be repdgatmonthly beginning thirty (30) days from the dafethis Agreement. Prior to maturity or the ocewnte o
any Event of Default hereunder and subject to theilAbility limitations, the Borrowers may borrowepay, and reborrow under the Line of Credit thh
maturity. The Line of Credit shall bear interestha rate set forth in any such Note evidencingakny portion of the Line of Credit, the termswdfich art
incorporated herein by reference.
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Term Loan ("Term Loan") in the original principal amount $22,500,000 The Term Loan shall be for the purpose of asgjsBynalloy in acquiring 100%
the equity ownership interest on Lee-Var, Inc. f@/Balmer of Texas, “Palmerdnd related closing costs and expenses, all inrdanoe with the terms a
conditions consistent with the most recent Letteintent submitted to the Bank (but in any evenbmgerms and conditions reasonably satisfactorhé
Bank). The Term Loan shall be evidenced by the ®oers' Promissory Note dated on or after the datedi which shall mature
2022, when, subject to prior prepayment as destiibeuch Promissory Note, the entire unpaid ppialcbalance then outstanding plus accrued inténestol
shall be paid in full. Accrued interest, plus 12fual monthly installments of the original principahount of the Term Loan, shall be repayable mg
beginning thirty (30) days from the date of thisrégment. The Term Loan shall bear interest atdteeget forth in such Promissory Note evidencihgrainy
portion of the Term Loan, the terms of which areoitporated herein by reference.

All of the obligations of the Borrowers, whetherm#fyment or performance, under the Line of Creb& Term Loan any additional Loans, all notes el
instruments evidencing the same, this Agreemeatother Loan Documents shall be the joint and séwdligations of the Borrowers in nature.

Section 1 Conditions Precedent

The Bank shall not be obligated to make any dighuent of Loan proceeds until all of the followingnditions have been satisfied by proper evide
execution, and/or delivery to the Bank of the faliog items in addition to this Agreement, all inrfoand substance satisfactory to the Bank and #re'
counsel in their sole discretion:

Palmer Acquisition Documents:Copies of all such agreements, documents, instrtgveemd due diligence matters (and all schedules;tanents, etc. there
evidencing or relating to the Palmer acquisiti@ngaction(s), all as may be requested by the Banlle¢tively, the “Palmer Acquisition Documents”).

USA Patriot Act Verification Information: Information or documentation, including but notilied to the legal name, address, tax identificatiomber,
driver's license, and date of birth (if the Borrowsean individual) of the Borrowers sufficient fitre Bank to verify the identity of the Borrowers i
accordance with the USA Patriot Act. Borrowers khatify Bank promptly of any change in such infation.

Note(s): The Note(s) evidencing the Loans(s) duly executethb Borrowers.

Security Agreement(s):Security Agreement(s) in which Borrowers and arheobwner (a “Debtor"pf personal property collateral shall grant to Banfirs!
priority security interest in the tangible and imyéble personal property specified therein. (If Bdras or will have a security interest in any delta
which is inferior to the security interest of anatlcreditor, Borrowers must fully disclose to Bamky and all such security interests, and Bank
specifically approve any such security interestalvhwill continue during the Loan.)

Subordination of Earn-Out Payments.

The Palmer Stock Purchase Agreement shall inclinde,manner satisfactory to the Bank, provisionpraviously discussed between Syne
with the Bank which will afford for the matters derth under the heading “AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS -uBordination of Earn-Out Payments”
below.

Mortgages: First and exclusive mortgages (the “Mortgagesi)such real properties of the Borrowers as stetlésignated and required by the Bank, su
only to such liens and encumbrances as shall beiged by the Bank in writing. To the extent regeesby the Bank, the Bank shall be entitled tatlfa
most current surveys of each of the real propestiggect to the Mortgages; (b) such other infororatind documentation of the subject propertiefe
Bank may request.

Negative Pledge AgreementNo pledge agreement on all of the assets of theoBers, including the real estate.

UCC Financing Statements:Copies of UCC Financing Statements duly filed inBwers' or other owner's state of incorporatiaigaaization or residenc
and in all jurisdictions necessary, or in the opinodf the Bank desirable, to perfect the secunitgrests granted in the Security Agreement(s),cantifiec
copies of Information Requests identifying all goas financing statements on record for the Bormswer other owner, as appropriate from
jurisdictions indicating that no security interésts previously been granted in any of the collatdeacribed in the Security Agreement(s), unlessr
approval has been given by the Bank.

Authorization and Certificate: An Authorization and Certificate executed by eaab®r under which such Debtor authorizes BankleodiUCC Financin
Statement describing collateral owned by such Drebto

Commitment Fee:A commitment fee (or balance thereof)$#5,000(as to the increase and extension of the Line eflifrplus $56,250 (as to the Term Lc
(totaling $81,250) payable to the Bank on the d&iexecution of the Loan Documents.
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Corporate Resolution: A Corporate Resolution duly adopted by the BoardDokctors of Synalloy, Metchem, Synalloy MetalsdaManufacturers So:
authorizing the execution, delivery, and perforneatthe Loan Documents on or in a form providesbgcceptable to Bank.

Articles of Incorporation: A copy of the Articles of Incorporation and all ethcharter documents of Synalloy, Metchem, Synalli@tals and Manufacture
Soap all filed with and certified by the Secretafystate of the State of each corporations incatpam.

By-Laws: A copy of the Bytaws of Synalloy, Metchem, Synalloy Metals and Maeturers Soap, certified by the Secretary of eamiporation as to the
completeness and accuracy.

Declaration of Limited Liability Company : A declaration or resolution from the members/nggma of Synalloy Fabrication, RaRab, Bristol an
Manufacturers Chemicals authorizing the executietivery, and performance of the Loan Documentsroin a form provided by or acceptable to Bank.

Articles of Organization : A copy of the Articles of Organization and alhet organizational documents of Synalloy FabricgtiBamFab, Bristol an
Manufacturers Chemicals, all filed with and ceeiifiby the Secretary of State of each limited ligbdompanies organization.

Operating Agreement: A copy of the Operating Agreement of Synalloy fedtion, RamFab, Bristol and Manufacturers Chemicals, certifigdeach limite
liability companies members/managers as to its detmpess and accuracy.

Certificate of Incumbency: A certificate of the Secretary or members/managéithe Borrowers certifying the names and true aigres of the officers
members/managers of the Borrowers authorized tothigLoan Documents.

Certificate of Existence:A certification of the Secretary of State (or otgewernment authority) of the State of the Borravircorporation or Organization
to the existence or good standing of the Borrowerbtheir charter documents on file.

Opinion of Counsel: An opinion of counsel for the Borrowers satisfagttr the Bank and the Bank's counsel.

Assignment of Life Insurance Policy(ies)An assignment of life insurance policy(ies) as atgltal in the approximate amount®#,900,00(by an insuranc
company acceptable to the Bank, covering the iddafis with respect to which policies are preseasisigned to the Bank and such additional indivie
as the Bank may reasonably request.

Additional Documents: Receipt by the Bank of other approvals, opiniomglatuments as the Bank may reasonably request.

Unused FeeClient shall pay the Bank, quarterly in arrearstlom last day of each calendar quarter, an unuseedeal ta125% per annum on the aver
daily unused amount of the Credit Commitment fothsaalendar quarter calculated on the basis ofaa g&360 days for the actual humber of ¢
elapsed. “Unused Amount of the Credit Commitmentans the maximum commitment amount under the afréredit less any outstanding princi
under the Line of Credit.

Section 2 Representations and Warranties

The Borrowers represent and warrant to Bank (asicabe both at present and as to be applicablexutpe execution and consummation of the Pe
acquisition in accordance with the Palmer AcquisitDbocuments), that:

2.01.Financial Statements.The balance sheet of the Borrowers and their sigigd, if any, and the related Statements of Ireamd Retained Earnir
of the Borrowers and their subsidiaries, the acamygmg footnotes together with the accountant'siiopi thereon, and all other financial informa
previously furnished to the Bank, are true andexdrand fairly reflect the financial condition dtBorrowers and their subsidiaries as of the dhtrgof
including all contingent liabilities of every typand the financial condition of the Borrowers ahdiit subsidiaries as stated therein has not chi
materially and adversely since the date thereofthEoBorrowers' knowledge, the financial informatigrovided by Palmer to the Borrowers (or prov
by the Borrowers to the Bank) meet the foregoimmdards, provided, however, that the Bank acknaydedhat all projections received by the Borro
in references to the Palmer Acquisition contain ynestimates and actual results as to such estimatgsliffer from these projections.

2.02.Name, Capacity and StandingThe Borrowers exact legal names are correctlygiatéhe initial paragraph of the Agreemdfthe Borrowers are
corporation, general partnership, limited partngrslmited liability partnership, or limited lialify company, each warrants and represents thatdtly
organized and validly existing under the laws sfréspective state of incorporation or organizatibat it and/or its subsidiaries, if any, are dgualifiec
and in good standing in every other state in wiiighnature of their business shall require suctifgpadion, and are each duly authorized by theiatd o
directors, general partners or member/managee&)ectively, to enter into and perform the obligyagiunder the Loan Documents.
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2.03.Compliance With Laws. The execution of the Loan Documents and the Pakuguisition Documents, and the performance by tbher®vers, b
any and all pledgors (whether the Borrower or otiveners of collateral property securing paymerthefLoan (hereinafter

sometimes referred to as the “Pledgott@reunder will not violate, and shall be in aceorck with any and all applicable laws, rules, ragiohs, an
orders including, without limitation, paying befotee delinquency of all taxes, assessments, andrgmental charges imposed upon it or upo
property, and all Environmental Laws.

2.04.No Violation of Other Agreements.The execution of the Loan Documents and the Paleeguisition Documents, and the performance by
Borrowers, by any and all pledgors (whether ther®wer or other owners of collateral property sewgipayment of the Loan (hereinafter someti
referred to as the “Pledgor”)) thereunder will midlate any provision, as applicable, of its aggclof incorporation, biaws, articles of organizatic
operating agreement, agreement of partnershipited partnership or limited liability partnerghior, of any law, other agreement, indenture, not
other instrument (including without limitation thealmer Acquisition Documents) binding upon the Bwewrs or Pledgor, or give cause for
acceleration of any of the respective obligatiohthe Borrowers.

2.05. Authority. All authority from and approval by any federal, tetaor local governmental body, commission or agemecessary to the makil
validity, or enforceability of this Agreement arftetother Loan Documents and the Palmer Acquisioouments has been obtained.

2.06. Asset Ownership.The Borrowers have good and marketable title toofithe properties and assets reflected on thenbalaheets and financ
statements furnished to the Bank, and all such eutigs and assets are free and clear of mortgafgs]s of trust, pledges, liens, and all ¢
encumbrances except as otherwise disclosed byfgitial statements. In addition, each other owafarollateral has good and marketable title tch
collateral, free and clear of any liens, securitgiests and encumbrances, except as otherwides#iddo Bank.

2.07.Discharge of Liens and TaxesThe Borrowers and their subsidiaries, if any, hiéileel, paid, and/or discharged all taxes or otHaimts which ma
become a lien on any of their respective propediesssets, excepting to the extent that (a) siechsi are being appropriately contested in gooti it
for which an adequate reserve (in an amount adslepta Bank) for the payment thereof is being naired, and (b) such taxes related to a dispt
matter of $10,120.48.

2.08.Regulations U and X.None of the Loan proceeds shall be used directindirectly for the purpose of purchasing or cargyeany margin stock
violation of the provisions of Regulation U and REgion X of the Board of Governors of the Feddétakerve System.

2.09.ERISA. Each employee benefit plan, as defined by the EymgldRetirement Income Security Act of 1974, as atledr(“ERISA”), maintained b
the Borrowers or by any subsidiary of the Borrowmeets, as of the date hereof, the minimum fundtagdards of Section 302 of ERISA, all applic
requirements of ERISA and of the Internal RevenodeCof 1986, as amended, and no “Reportable Event”Prohibited Transaction"aé defined b
ERISA) has occurred with respect to any such plan.

2.10.Litigation. There is no claimaction, suit or proceeding pending, threatenedeasanably anticipated before any court, commissidministrativ:
agency, whether State or Federal, or arbitratiorchvivill materially adversely affect the financiebndition, operations, properties, or businesshe
Borrowers or its subsidiaries, if any, or the apibf the Borrowers to perform their obligationsden the Loan Documents.

2.11.0ther Agreements.The representations and warranties made by BorsoteeBank in the other Loan Documents are truecamckct in all respec
on the date hereof.

2.12. Binding and Enforceable. The Loan Documents and the Palmer Acquisition Dants) when executed, shall constitute valid andlibg
obligations of the Borrowersthe execution of such Loan Documents has been alutlyorized by the parties thereto, and are enfbteea accordanc
with their terms, except as may be limited by bapkey, insolvency, moratorium, or similar laws atfag creditors' rights generally.

2.13.Commercial Purpose.The Loan(s) are not “consumer transactios’ defined in the South Carolina Uniform Commer€iatle, and none of t
collateral was or will be purchased or held pritydior personal, family or household purposes.

2.14.Palmer Acquisition Documents.The representations and warranties made by Borso(eerto the knowledge of the Borrowers, made by @frthe
other person or entity) to any person or entitthim Palmer Acquisition Documents are true and cbireall material respects on the date hereofsirad
be true and correct in all material respects uperconsummation of the transactions contemplatatidyalmer Acquisition Documents.
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2.15.Intellectual Property. None of the Borrowers, nor Palmer, has any registra of Intellectual Property on file with the Wedl States Patent &
Trademark Office or Library of Congress or with antier federal, state or other filing office.

Section 3 Affirmative Covenants

The Borrowers covenant and agree that from the liateof and until payment in full of all indebtedseand performance of all obligations owed unde
Loan Documents, Borrowers shall:

3.01. Maintain Existence and Current Legal Form of Busines. (a) Maintain their existence and good standinghia state of their incorporation
organization, (b) maintain their current legal foofrbusiness indicated above, and, (c) as appb¢ajplalify and remain qualified as a foreign cogion
general partnership, limited partnership, limitizdbility partnership or limited liability companw ieach jurisdiction in which such qualificatiorrégjuired.

3.02. Maintain Records. Keep adequate records and books of account, inhnndomplete entries will be made in accordance @WiAP consistentl
applied, reflecting all financial transactions lo¢ tBorrowers.

3.03. Maintain Properties. Maintain, keep, and preserve all of its properftasgible and intangible) including the collatengicessary or useful in 1
conduct of its business in good working order amaddion, ordinary wear and tear excepted.

3.04.Conduct of BusinessContinue to engage in an efficient, prudent, armhemical manner in a business of the same gengrlas now conducted.

3.05. Maintain Insurance. Maintain insurance with financially sound and regilé insurance companies or associations in sudu@is and coverir
such risks as are usually carried by companiesgatym the same or a similar business, and busingsgsuption insurance if required by Bank, wt
insurance may provide for reasonable deductiblé{se Bank shall be named as loss payee (Long Formll policies which apply to the Ban
collateral, and the Borrowers shall deliver cestifes of insurance at closing evidencing samesukih insurance policies shall provide, and thefiuertes
shall state, that no policy will be terminated weitth 20 days prior written notice to Bank.

3.06.Comply with Other Agreements.The Borrowers and any and all Pledgors shall comilly any and all provisions, as applicable, ofatticles o
incorporation, by-laws, articles of organizatiopeoating agreement, agreement of partnershiipited partnership or limited liability partnerghior, of
any law, other agreement, indenture, note, or othstrument (including without limitation the Palm@cquisition Documents) binding upon
Borrowers or Pledgor, or give cause for the aceélan of any of the respective obligations of ttmwers.

3.07.Comply With Laws. Comply in all respects with all applicable lawsles) regulations, and orders including, withoutitation, paying before tt
delinquency of all taxes, assessments, and goveraireharges imposed upon it or upon its propeunty all Environmental Laws.

3.08.Right of Inspection. Permit the officers and authorized agents of thekBat any reasonable time or times in the Barnks discretion, to exami
and make copies of the records and books of acadutd visit the properties of the Borrowers aradnfer, and to discuss such matters with any offi
directors, managers, members or partners, limitegboeral of the Borrowers and Palmer, and thed®ar's and Palmer's independent accountant .
Bank deems necessary and proper.

3.09.Reporting Requirements.Furnish to the Bank:

Quarterly Financial Statements and Borrowing Base Ertificates: Interim financial statements (10} within 45 days of each quarter end, wl
shall be accompanied by the following} Loan Agreement Compliance Certificatg) monthly Borrowing Base Certificates ant); Account:
receivable agings and other information on A/Remwory and Accounts Payable, if requested by BAflkinformation shall in reasonable de
and in a form acceptable to Bank.

Annual Financial Statements:As soon as available and in any eveajtwithin (90) days after the end of each fiscal year, balancets
statements of income, and retained earnings fop¢hied ended and a statement of changes in thadial position, all in reasonable detail, an:
prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently &gpliThe financial statements must be of the folmwjuality or betterAudited with an
unqualified opinion . b) Borrowers' internally prepared consolidating finahstatement showing the financial results ofddltheir subsidiarie
and divisionsc) Borrowers consolidated budgets and/or financiajgmtimns for the following year(s) in reasonablé¢aile by the end of the %
quarter of the current fiscal year.
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Notice of Litigation: Promptly after the receipt by the Borrowers of oetor complaint of any action, suit, and proceediafpre any court
administrative agency of any type which, if detered adversely, could have a material adverse effiedhe financial condition, properties,
operations of the Borrowers.

Notice of Default: Promptly upon discovery or knowledge thereof, r@t€ the existence of any event of default undisrAlgreement or any ott
Loan Documents.

USA Patriot Act Verification Information: Information or documentation, including but notiliedl to the legal name, address, tax identification

number, driver's license, and date of birth (if B@rower is an individual) of the Borrowers suiist for the Bank to verify the identity of the
Borrowers in accordance with the USA Patriot Aair®wers shall notify Bank promptly of any changesuch information.

Other Information: Such other information as the Bank may from timér reasonably request.
Palmer Acquisition Documents.The Borrowers shall, to the best of their practieadbility, cause Palmer and the other partieshéoRalme

Acquisition Documents (other than the Borrowers)xtaonply in all material respects with any and afbyisions, as applicable, of the Pali
Acquisition Documents.

3.10.Deposit Accounts. Maintain substantially all of its primary operafiaccounts and treasury management accountsheitBank.

3.11.Intellectual Properties. Provide the Bank with at least 15 business days pirritten notice of the filing for registratiorf any Intellectual Properti

(or the obtaining of any registered Intellectuabgarties, by acquisition, assignment or otherwigdlich notice shall contain a copy of each ¢
item of registration and related information as rbayrequested by the Bank. In connection with ammhsegistration, the Borrowers shall take ¢
actions and make and cooperate in such filingsaations as the Bank may reasonably request in ¢odassure the perfection and security tc
Bank as to its lien and security interest on atllectual Properties.

3.12. Affirmative Covenants from other Loan Documents. All affirmative covenants contained in any Morga Security Agreement, Assignmen

Leases and Rents, or other security document eecdiyt the Borrowers which are described in Sectidrereof (and all affirmative covenants
the part of any or all Borrowers under the Palmeqguisition Documents) are hereby incorporated fgremce herein.

3.13.Subordination of Earn-Out Payments.Synalloy shall make payments due under the eatrprovisions of the Palmer Stock Purchase Agreg

only as required thereunder and only in the absefiGgn Event of Default hereunder or under the LBartuments or the Palmer Acquisit
Documents. Any rights, of the selling stockholdef$almer, to such eawut payments shall be subordinated in all respgectdl obligations of th
Synalloy to the Bank and such eat payments shall be permitted under the PalmmkSeurchase Agreement solely so long as there sunl
Event of Default at the time of payment (and ndhsbgent of Default would result by reason of suairpent). Without the prior written consen
the Bank no liens will be permitted to secure antewlue under such earn-out arrangemesysalloy represents and agrees that the Palmek
Purchase Agreement (in its current and final fordm®s and will include provisions affording complia with this paragraph, that the same sh
implemented by Synalloy consistent with the terhese¢of and hereof, and that there shall be no ésmguch provisions without the prior writ
consent of the Bank.

Section 4 - Addition of Palmer as Borrower

By no later than five (5) business days followihg ticquisition by Synalloy of the stock ownersHifPalmer, take or cause to be taken, executed alndobc
a joinder agreement and such actions and docunsntee Bank may require, to include Palmer asart®ver” under this Agreement and a Pledgor unde
applicable Loan Documents (on the same basis, mutatandis, as the other Borrowers hereunder).

Section 5 Financial Covenants

The Borrowers covenant and agree that from the ldateof until payment in full of all indebtednesslahe performance of all obligations under ther
Documents, the Borrowers shall at all times mamtai a consolidated basis the following financiaenants and ratios all in accordance with GAARest
otherwise specified:
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Total Funded Debt to EBITDA : A maximum Total Funded Debt to EBITDA ratio 063L.0 that will be measured on a rolling four qaatasis
Without limiting the preceding sentence, should o exceed 3.0:1.0 at any time (& éverage Ratio Event”) then, from such time and at
times thereafter, the Bank shall have the rightetjuire the Borrowers to enter into revised BorrgyvBase Certificate reporting and correspon
maximum Line of Credit Availability requirements, be set forth in the Bank's Schedule DD

or other form and reflecting revised collateraluadion levels, percentages and other availabilibvigions acceptable to Bank and consistent w
routinely monitored asset based lending creditiifgcin such event the maximum principal Availatyilunder the Line of Credit shall become
lesser of $25,000,000 or the Availability undertsmeodified arrangements as so determined from tortene. Total Funded Debt is defined as
aggregate sums of all interdstaring indebtedness of Borrowers, then outstaniignders, including capital lease obligationBIEDA is definec
as the sum of (a) net income for such period gy amount which, in the determination of nebme for such period, has been deducted f
interest expense (including the interest componader capital lease obligations) (ii) total fedestfte and other income taxes and (iii) depremi
and amortization expense, all as determined witiABATotal Funded Debt to EBITDA is defined as tata of (a) Total Funded Debt outstandin
quarter end to (b) the aggregate EBITDA at quaeted. Ratio will be calculated using the most redent-quarter periods (four quarter traili
calculation).

Tangible Net Worth : A minimum tangible net worth at all times fronmettlate of this Agreement equal to the greater)d$3&,000,000 and (b) 8t
of the opening tangible net worth of the Borrowiaxduding Palmer (such amount, whichever is greaed as such amount is increased pursu;
the following sentence, the “Minimum Tangible Netowh”). The Minimum Tangible Net Worth amount shall inceedsy at least 50%
Consolidated Net Income over the prior fiscal yead- result, and then each fiscal year end theredfémgible Net Worth is defined as net wc
plus obligations contractually subordinated to dedwed to Bank, minus goodwill, contract rightsd assets representing claims on stockholde
affiliated entities. Consolidated Net Income isidedl as Borrowers after tax net income as showtherAnnual Financial Statements referred 1
Section 3.08 of this Agreement.

Total Liabilities to Tangible Net Worth : A maximum Total Liabilities to Tangible Net Worthatio at all times of 2.75:1.00. Total Liabilitiés
defined as shown on the Borrowers Annual and Quwrfignancial Statements referred to in Sectior80this Agreement.

Section 6 Negative Covenants

The Borrowers covenant and agree that from the loeteof and until payment in full of all indebtedseand performance of all obligations under then
Documents, the Borrowers shall not, without thempwiritten consent of the Bank:

6.01.Liens. Create, incur, assume, or suffer to exist anydigon or with respect to any of Borrowers' assengfPledgor securing payment of the L
now owned or hereafter acquired, except:

(a) Liens and security interests in favor of thaBa
(b) Liens for taxes not yet due and payable orrettse being contested in good faith and for whipprapriate reserves are maintained,;
(c) Other liens imposed by law not yet due and pkeyar otherwise being contested in good faith famdvhich appropriate reserves are maintained,;
(d) Reserved;
(e) purchase money security interests on any ptppereafter acquired, provided that such lienlsitédch only to the property acquired.
6.02.Debt. Create, incur, assume, or suffer to exist any dedatept:
(@ Debt to the Banl
(b) Debt outstanding on the date hereof and shown®mtbst recent financial statements submitted td3#rek
(c) Accounts payable to trade creditors incurred indttgnary course of busine
(d) Debt secured by purchase money security interestsitfined above in Section 6.01

(e) Intercompany debt extended by any Borrower to atigroBorrower, on commercially reasonable purpasss terms, and appropriat
reflected on the books and financial statementsiraiodmation of the Borrowers.

) Additional debt not to exceed $500,000 in the aggtre at any tim
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6.03.Capital Expenditures. Expenditures for fixed assets in any fiscal yeallsiot exceed, in the aggregate as to all Borreytbie sum of $5,500,000.

6.04.Change of Legal Form of Business; Mergers; Purchasef Assets.Change Borrowers' name or the legal form of BormsWisusiness as sho
above, whether by merger, consolidation, conversiostherwise merge with or into or acquire subtitdiy all the stock (or other equity interest:
control) of any entity; or, subject to the followisentence, the Borrowers shall not purchase alubstantially all of the assets or business o
Person. Notwithstanding the preceding sentencegibject to Sections 6.01 through 6.03 and anyrathplicable provisions of this Agreeme
the Borrowers shall be permitted to acquire thetassr business of any Person, provided that scmhisition is for use and purposes consistent
the operations of the Borrowers as of the daténisf Agreement, and that the aggregate amount cfualh expenditures (as to all Borrowers
acquisitions in the aggregate) shall not exceefCE2000 in dollar amount (in terms of aggregateeexiitures by the Borrowers or aggregate v
of the assets acquired, whichever is the great@suore respectively as to each such acquisitio@ninfiscal year. Notwithstanding the foregc
and as a matter of the avoidance of doubt, theyfing shall not prohibit the making of capital emgitures (of a non-businessquisition typ
along the lines of the foregoing) in accordancéd@iection 6.03 above.

6.05. Guaranties. Assume, guarantee, endorse, or otherwise be omimedhirectly or contingently liable for obligatioms any Person, exceptthe
obligations of Synalloy Corporation pursuant toléser of credit (not to exceed $2,400,000) issfioedhe benefit of the South Carolina Departr
of Health and Environmental Control in connectioithwthe former Blackman Uhler plant site in Spabtarg County, South Carolina, and
renewals and modifications of such letter of credif guaranties by endorsement of negotiable instrumiamtsleposit or collection or simil
transactions in the ordinary course of business.

6.06.Disposition of AssetsExcept as provided herein, no Borrower shall $efise, or otherwise dispose of any of its assgpsoperties except where
sale, lease or disposition is in the ordinary ashlicourse of such Borrower's business. Providedever, a Borrower may sell, lease or other
dispose of an asset outside the ordinary and wsuabe of such Borrower's business so long as tsgoBition Proceeds for such sales, leas
dispositions of all Borrowers do not exceed an eggte of $1,000,000 during any calendar year. &s tgrein, “Disposition Proceedsieans (e
in the case of a sale, the gross sales price ofsket received by the Borrower, and (b) in the cdsa lease, all the rental to be received b
Borrower during the term of the lease.

6.07.Transfer of Ownership. As to each Borrower and subject to the followingteace, (a) issue, transfer or sell any new classock or LLC or othe
equity interest, or (b) issue, transfer or sellthia aggregate, from its treasury stock and/oreclly authorized but unissued shares of any clt
stock or LLC or other equity interest, more thafsl6f the total number of all such issued and ontlitey shares or the equivalent of compar
equity interests as of the date of this Agreemehis paragraph shall not prohibit, in accordancthsiuch Borrower's policies and customs, (a
provision of stock options approved by a BorrowBi&rd of Directors pursuant through an employemibglan or (b) the provision of stock gre
to Synalloy directors approved by a Borrowers Ba#rDirectors.

6.08. Negative Covenants from other Loan DocumentsAll negative covenants contained in any Securitye®gnent, or other security docurr
executed by the Borrowers which are described gii@e 1 hereof (and all negative covenants on #mé @f any or all Borrowers under the Pal
Acquisition Documents) are hereby incorporateddfgnence herein.

Section 7 Hazardous Materials and Compliance with Bvironmental Laws

7.01.Investigation. Borrowers hereby certify that they have exerciseel diligence to ascertain whether their real prigp@nd, in all material respects
their knowledge, all real property to be acquiredaapart of the consummation of the Palmer AcdaisiDocuments), is or has been affected by
presence of asbestos, oil, petroleum or other logabons, urea formaldehyde, PCBs, hazardous oeaualaste, toxic chemicals and substances, or
hazardous materials (collectively, “Hazardous Matsf), as defined in applicable Environmental Laws. Boemwepresent and warrant that there a
such Hazardous Materials contaminating its reap@rty, nor have any such materials been releasext stored on or improperly disposed of on its
property during its ownership, occupancy or operathereof (or, in all material respects to theiowledge, on any of the real property to be acquae:
part of the consummation of the Palmer Acquisifmcuments upon such consummation). Borrowers heagbge that, except in strict compliance
applicable Environmental Laws, they shall not knoyly permit any release, storage or contaminat®otoag as any indebtedness or obligations to
under the Loan Documents remains unpaid or unfdfilin addition, Borrowers do not have or use angerground storage tanks on any of its
property (and, in all material respects to theiowtedge, all real property to be acquired as a paithe consummation of the Palmer Acquisi
Documents) which are not registered with the apyiate Federal and/or State agencies and whicharproperly equipped and maintained in accord
with all Environmental Laws. If requested by BaBqrrowers shall provide Bank with all necessary agaksonable assistance required for purpos
determining the existence of Hazardous Material8omowers' real property (and, in all materialpests, all real property to be acquired as a (attta
consummation of the Palmer Acquisition Documernitg)luding allowing Bank access to the real propeaiyd access to Borrowers' employees h:
knowledge of, and to files and records within Bareos' control relating to the existence, storageelease of Hazardous Materials on the real ptpper




BB&T

First Amended and Restated Loan Agreement

7.02. Compliance. Borrowers agree to comply with all applicable Eomimental Laws, including, without limitation, aldse relating to Hazardc
Materials. Borrowers further agree to provide Baakg all appropriate Federal and State authoritigth, immediate notice in writing of any release
Hazardous Materials on Borrowers real property tanpursue diligently to completion all appropriated/or required remedial action in the event oh
release.

7.03.Remedial Action.Bank shall have the right, but not the obligatitmundertake all or any part of such remedial actiothe event of a release
Hazardous Materials on Borrowers real property (amall material respects, all real property todoguired as a part of the consummation of the &
Acquisition Documents) and to add any expendite@anade to the principal indebtedness secured d&yS#turity Agreement. Borrowers agre
indemnify and hold Bank harmless from any andaaklor liability arising out of any violation ofahrepresentations, covenants, and obligations i@t
in this Section 7.

Section 8 Events of Default

The following shall be “Events of Default” by Bowers:
8.01. The failure to make prompt payment of anyaitreent of principal or interest on any of the Bi@) when due or payable.
8.02. Should any representation or warranty madlearioan Documents prove to be false or misleattiramy material respect.

8.03. Should any report, certificate, financiaketaent, or other document furnished prior to theceion of or pursuant to the terms of this Agreet
prove to be false or misleading in any materigbees (subject, as to Palmer, to the proviso aetiteof Section 2.01 hereof).

8.04. Should the Borrowers default on the perforreanf any other obligation of indebtedness whenatue the performance of any obligation incul
in connection with money borrowed.

8.05. Should the Borrowers or any Pledgor breaghcamenant, condition, or agreement made undeéthye Loan Documents.

8.06. Should a custodian be appointed for or talesgssion of any or all of the assets of the Bagrsywor should the Borrowers either voluntaril
involuntarily become subject to any insolvency geding, including becoming a debtor under the Wdni¢ates Bankruptcy Code, any proceedir
dissolve the Borrowers, any proceeding to havecaiver appointed, or should the Borrowers makessigament for the benefit of creditors, or sh
there be an attachment, execution, or other judsgizure of all or any portion of the Borrowerssets, including an action or proceeding to seig
funds on deposit with the Bank, and such seizumeislischarged within 20 days.

8.07. Should final judgment for the payment of mphe rendered against the Borrowers which is ne¢ied by insurance and shall remain undischz
for a period of 30 days unless such judgment oc@ti@n thereon be effectively stayed.

8.08. Upon the death of, or termination of exiseeaf; or dissolution of the Borrowers or any Pledgo
8.09. Reserved.

8.10. Should any lien or security interest grarite®ank to secure payment of the Note(s) termirfaiefor any reason to have the priority agreedy
Bank on the date granted, or become unperfectawalid for any reason.

8.11. Should a material event of default occur wrashy of the Palmer Acquisition Documents (subjedthe availability of any notice, grace and/orht
to cure set forth therein).

For purposes of this Section 8, each referendeet6ltoan Documents” shall also include the Palmeguisition Documents.
Section 9 Remedies Upon Default

Upon the occurrence of any of the above listed BsehDefault, the Bank may at any time thereafi¢iits option, take any or all of the followingtians, a
the same or at different times:

9.01. Declare the balance(s) of the Note(s) torbeadiately due and payable, both as to principdliaterest, late fees, and all other amounts/exjmes
without presentment, demand, protest, or noticamyf kind, all of which are hereby expressly waivgdBorrowers, and such balance(s) shall ac
interest at the Default Rate as provided hereiit paid in full;
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9.02. Require the Borrowers to pledge additiondlateral to the Bank from the Borrowers' assets puugherties, the acceptability and sufficiency wch
collateral to be determined in the Bank's solerdisan;

9.03. Take immediate possession of and foreclosm @my or all collateral which may be granted te Bank as security for the indebtedness
obligations of Borrowers under the Loan Documents;

9.04. Exercise any and all other rights and renseaiilable to the Bank under the terms of the LBaouments and applicable law, including the S
Carolina Uniform Commercial Code;

9.05. Any obligation of the Bank to advance funolshte Borrowers or any other Person under the tefmumder the Note(s) and all other obligation
any, of the Bank under the Loan Documents shallediately cease and terminate unless and until Bhak reinstate such obligation in writing.

Section 10 Miscellaneous Provisions

10.01.Definitions.

“Availability” means the maximum principal available amount umider_ine of Credit (within the $25,000,000 of piijpal availability unde
the Line of Credit) as calculated andoadeulated from time to time pursuant to a BorrayvBase Certificate and, at all times following avéeage Rati
Event, any Schedule DD or comparable document &nbered, if and when applicable, among the Borrame the Bank and setting forth such colla
valuation levels, percentages and other availgiplibvisions satisfactory to the Bank as contenapldtySection 5of this Agreement.

“ Borrowing Base Certificates” shall mean for purposes of calculating the Avaligbunder the Line of Credit, (a) prior to a Leage Rati
Event, a certificate delivered by the Borrowershi Bank in the form attached heretg as Schedudetting forth the information and calculations pdee
therein for the Borrowers on a consolidated basis; (b) following a Leverage Ratio event, either tertificate referred to in the preceding clawgeof
at the direction of the Bank as contemplated byti®e& above, a substitute borrowing base certéidar purposes of determining the Availability er
the Line of Credit as contemplated by s&&ttion 5above.

“Default Rate” shall mean a rate of interest equal to Bank's PRue plus five percent (5%) per annum (not to eddabe legal maximum ra
from and after the date of an Event of Default beder which shall apply, in the Bank's sole disorgtto all sums owing, including principal andergst
on such date.

“Environmental Laws” shall mean all applicable federal and state lawd r@gulations which affect or may affect Borrowegal property
including without limitation the Comprehensive Emrimental Response, Compensation, and Liability(A2tU.S.C. Sections 9601 et seq.), the Res
Conservation and Recovery Act (42 U.S.C. Secti@ts &t seq.), the Federal Water Pollution Contretl (83 U.S.C. Sections 1251 et seq.), the Clea
Act (42 U.S.C. Section 7401 et seq.), the Toxics$aces Control Act (15 U.S.C. Section 2601 ef)séee Pollution Control Act (1976 S.C Code 484-
et seq.), the Erosion and Sediment Reduction A&988 (1976 S.C. Code 48-18-10 et seq.), the SBathlina Mining Act (1976 S.C. Code 48-20-e
seq.), as such laws or regulations have been amandeay be amended.

“Intellectual Property(ies)” means any and all patents, trademarks, trade naseesce marks or copyrights, or any other itemastituting
intellectual properties.

“Leverage Ratio Event” has the meaning assigned to such ter@eiation 5of this Agreement.

“Loan Documents” shall mean this Agreement including any schedukched hereto, the Note(s), the Deed(s) of TrhstMortgage(s), tt
Security Agreement(s), the Assignment(s) of Leas®ebRents, any and all Swap Agreement(s), all UGf@arfeing Statements, the Guaranty Agreel
(s), and all other documents, certificates, anthunsents previously, presently or hereafter exatirieconnection therewith, and all renewals, extars
modifications, substitutions, and replacementsetieeand therefore.

“Palmer Stock Purchase Agreement’means the Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of , 2012 among 100% of the shareholde
Palmer and Synalloy, and governing the Palmer Asitiom.

“Person” shall mean an individual, partnership, corporatitmst, unincorporated organization, limited lidtgilcompany, limited liabilit
partnership, association, joint venture, or a goremt agency or political subdivision thereof.

“GAAP” shall mean generally accepted accounting principe®stablished by the Financial Accounting Stadgl@oard or the Americ
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, as ameshdnd supplemented from time to time.
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“Prime Rate” shall mean the rate of interest per annum annoubgede Bank from time to time and adopted as i@ Rate, which is one
several rate indexes employed by the Bank whemdixtg credit, and may not necessarily be the BdoWest lending rate.

“Swap Agreement(s)” meansany swap agreements (as defined later within tefition) agreement and all master agreementgddhs an
confirmations thereof and transactions thereoherdunder; and (ii) any obligation to reimburse esyhy Bank under any interest rate swap transex
interest rate cap and/or floor transactions, irsterate collar transactions, swap agreements faseden 11 U.S.C. § 101) or other similar trangats ol
agreements, including without limitation any ISDAaser Agreement executed by Debtor any Borroweradinethedules and confirmations entered
in connection therewith.

10.02.Non-impairment. If any one or more provisions contained in the LBatuments shall be held invalid, illegal, or uregngable in any respect,
validity, legality, and enforceability of the remaig provisions contained therein shall not in &y be affected or impaired thereby and shall etrse
remain in full force and effect.

10.03.Applicable Law. The Loan Documents shall be construed in accordaitbeand governed by the laws of the State of B@arolina.

10.04.Waiver. Neither the failure or any delay on the part of Bank in exercising any right, power or privilegeugted in the Loan Documents s
operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any singlpantial exercise thereof preclude any other othgr exercise of any other right, power, or pegi
which may be provided by law.

10.05.Modification. No modification, amendment, or waiver of any pravisof any of the Loan Documents shall be effectiméess in writing and sign
by the Borrowers and Bank.

10.06.Payment Amount Adjustment. In the event that any Loan(s) referenced hereinahaariable (floating) interest rate and the inderate increase
Bank, at its sole discretion, may at any time adjus Borrower's payment amount(s) to prevent theumt of interest accrued in a given period to eg
the periodic payment amount or to cause the Loaa(sg repaid within the same period of time aginally agreed upon.

10.07 Stamps and FeesThe Borrowers shall pay all federal or state startgpees, or other fees or charges, if any are payabare determined to
payable by reason of the execution, delivery, smasce of the Loan Documents or any security gdat¢he Bank; and the Borrowers agree to inder
and hold harmless the Bank against any and allitiam respect thereof.

10.08.Attorneys' Fees.In the event the Borrowers or any Pledgor shalddiefin any of its obligations hereunder and the@lBhelieves it necessary
employ an attorney to assist in the enforcemerbbection of the indebtedness of the BorrowerthoBank, (a) to enforce the terms and provisidrihe
Loan Documents or to modify the Loan Documents{tjrarising out of or in connection with the Loarisis Agreement or any other of the L
Documents, the Bank voluntarily or otherwise shob&tome a party to any suit or legal proceedingl{iting a proceeding conducted under
Bankruptcy Code), then in the case of either (ajbdrthe Borrowers agree to pay the reasonablenays' fees of the Bank and all related cos
collection or enforcement that may be incurred iy Bank. The Borrowers shall be liable for sucbratys' fees and costs whether or not any s
proceeding is actually commenced.

10.09.Bank Making Required Payments.In the event Borrowers shall fail to maintain ireure, pay taxes or assessments, costs and expemnst
Borrowers are, under any of the terms hereof cargf Loan Documents, required to pay, or fail togkeey of the properties and assets constit
collateral free from new security interests, lieosgncumbrances, except as permitted herein, Bankat its election make expenditures for any t
such purposes and the amounts expended togethemétest thereon at the Default Rate, shall becommediately due and payable to Bank, and
have benefit of and be secured by the collatenayiged, howeverthe Bank shall be under no duty or obligation tokenany such payments
expenditures.

10.10.Right of Offset. Any indebtedness owing from Bank to Borrowers maysét off and applied by Bank on any indebtedne$ialulity of Borrower:
to Bank, at any time and from time to time aftettumiéy, whether by acceleration or otherwise, anthout demand or notice to Borrowers. Bank may
participations in or make assignments of any Loadenunder this Agreement, and Borrowers agreeathatsuch participant or assignee shall hav
same right of setoff as is granted to the Bankihere

10.11.UCC Authorization. Borrowers authorize Bank to file such UCC FinancBtgtements or other documents describing theteadllain any locatio
deemed necessary and appropriate by Bank.

10.12.Modification and Renewal FeesBank may, at its option, charge any fees for modifon, renewal, extension, or amendment of anydesf the
Note(s) permitted by law.
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10.13.Conflicting Provisions. If provisions of this Agreement shall conflict witmy terms or provisions of any thfe Note(s) or security document(s
any schedule attached hereto, the provisions df Blate(s) or security document(s) or any scheditiéelaed hereto, as appropriate, shall take priom
any provisions in this Agreement.

10.14.Notices.Any notice permitted or required by the provisiaighis Agreement shall be deemed to have beemgiteen delivered in writing to tl
City Executive or any Vice President of the Banktatoffices in Spartanburg, South Carolina, andht Chief Executive Officer of the Borrower ai
offices in Spartanburg, South Carolina when sentdatified mail and return receipt requested.

10.15.Consent to Jurisdiction.Borrowers hereby irrevocably agree that any legiba or proceeding arising out of or relating histAgreement may |
instituted in the Court of Commons Pleas in Spétag County, South Carolina, or the United Statéstridt Court for South Carolina Spartanb
Division, or in such other appropriate court andue as Bank may choose in its sole discretion.daers consent to the jurisdiction of such courtd
waives any objection relating to the basis for peas or in rem jurisdiction or to venue which Bamers may now or hereafter have in any such
action or proceedings.

10.16.Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed by one or moregsaoim any number of separate counterparts and silich counterparts tak
together shall be deemed to constitute one anslaime instrument.

10.17.Entire Agreement. The Loan Documents embody the entire agreementeleetBorrowers and Bank with respect to the Loamd tlere are no ol
or parol agreements existing between Bank and Bemawvith respect to the Loans which are not expyesst forth in the Loan Documents. T
Agreement and any and all other Loan Documentd shpkrcede the provisions of any term sheet, comenit letter or the like entered into prior to
date hereof.

10.18.Indemnification; Exculpation . The Borrowers hereby jointly and severally agee@and do hereby indemnify and defend the Bankaffiiates
their successors and assigns and their respedtactats, officer, employees and shareholders,dankereby hold each of them harmless from and at
any loss, liability, lawsuit, proceeding, cost expe or damage (including reasonabléduse and outside counsel fees, whether suit isgbtoor not
arising from or otherwise relating to the closidigbursement, administration, or repayment of tharis, including without limitation: (i) the failurte
make any payment to the Bank promptly when due thdraunder the Notes evidencing the Loans or otiserwii) the breach of any representatior
warranties to the Bank contained in this agreenoenh any other loan documents now or hereaftecaesl in connection with the Loans; (iii)

violation of any covenants or agreements made Herltenefit of the Bank and contained in any of lten documents; provided, however, that
foregoing indemnification shall not be deemed teercany loss which is finally determined by a confrtompetent jurisdiction to result solely frone
Bank's gross negligence or willful misconduct; io) &ny aspect of the Palmer Acquisition Documantthe transactions contemplated thereby. The
shall have no responsibility or liability whatsoe\@ contact, tort or otherwise) with respect e tPalmer Acquisition Documents or the transac
contemplated thereby.

10.19.Matters as to Amendment And Restatement This Agreement constitutes an amendment and tdased restatement in full of the Origil
Agreement (including all amendments thereto enteréat to the date hereof). Except for the effefchioy matters expressly set forth in this Agreen
this Agreement and each of the Loan Documentsnid, <hall continue to be following the effectivene$éshis Agreement, in full force and effect
accordance with the terms thereof, and nothindnin Agreement shall otherwise be deemed to amemdoaiify any provision of the Loan Docume!
each of which shall remain in full force and effegtept as otherwise expressly provided hereiheretn. This Agreement is not intended to be, hatl
it be construed to create, a novation or accordsatigfaction. This Agreement does not effect tease of any collateral, does not disturb theepéidr
or priority of any existing liens, and does noeeffthe release of any obligor, guarantor or oplagty from its obligations.

10.20.WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. UNLESS EXPRESSLY PROHIBITED B Y APPLICABLE LAW, THE UNDERSIGNED HEREBY WAIVE
THE RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY OF ANY MATTERS OR CLAIMS ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OF THE LOAN
DOCUMENTS EXECUTED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH OR OUT OF THE CONDUCT OF THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE
UNDERSIGNED AND BANK. THIS PROVISION IS A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT FOR BANK TO MAKE THE LOAN AND ENTER INTO
THIS AGREEMENT. FURTHER, THE UNDERSIGNED HEREBY CER TIFY THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE OR AGENT OF BANK, NOR
BANK'S COUNSEL, HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT BANK WOULD NOT SEEK TO ENFORCE THIS
WAIVER OR RIGHT TO JURY TRIAL PROVISION. NO REPRESE NTATIVE OR AGENT OF BANK, NOR BANK'S COUNSEL, HAS T HE
AUTHORITY TO WAIVE, CONDITION OR MODIFY THIS PROVIS ION.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed and delivered this agreenneietrseal as of the date first written above.

SYNALLOY CORPORATION

METCHEM, INC.

SYNALLOY METALS, INC.

MANUFACTURERS SOAP & CHEMICAL COMPANY
RAM-FAB, LLC

MANUFACTURERS CHEMICALS, LLC

BRISTOL METALS, LLC

SYNALLOY FABRICATION, LLC

By: (SEAL)
Richard D. Sieradzki

Vice President, Finance
Witness (as to the co-Borrowers): of and on behalf of each of

the above-named entities

BRANCH BANKING AND TRUST COMPANY
Witness (as to BB&T):

By:

Stan W. Parker
Senior Vice President

* Upon the execution and delivery by Lee-Var, I(db/a Palmer of Texas, “Palmer”) of a joinder @gnent hereto, Palmer shall be deemed an addifmnéind several

“Borrower” hereunder, mutatis mutandis, subjeciltdhe obligations and agreements made on theopéne Borrowers hereunder and the other agreespdocuments and
instruments referred to herein and/or therein.
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9520406872
Account Number

This First Amendment to First Amended and Restatah Agreement (this “Amendment”) is made agOaftober ,2012by and betweeBRANCH
BANKING AND TRUST COMPANY , a North Carolina banking corporation (“Bank”) athé following entities (collectively, the “Borrows):

Synalloy Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“Synalloy”);

Metchem, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Metchem”);

Synalloy Fabrication, LLC (formerly named SFR, LLC) (“Synalloy Fabrication”);

Ram-Fab, LLC , a South Carolina limited liability company (“RafRab”);

Synalloy Metals, Inc., a Tennessee corporation (“Synalloy Metals”);

Bristol Metals, LLC , a Tennessee limited liability company (“Bristol”)

Manufacturers Soap & Chemical Company, a Tennessee corporation (“Manufacturers Soap”);
Manufacturers Chemicals, LLC , a Tennessee limited liability company (“Manufaets Chemicals”); and
Lee-Var, Inc., a Texas corporation (d/b/a Palmer of Texas, “Pdlmer

for purposes of amending (and, to the extent apiplé; providing for matters for the avoidance ofilok) as to certain aspects and provisions of ths
Amended and Restated Loan Agreement dated as afsA2d, 2012 (as amended hereby, the “Loan AgreEn@mong the parties hereto. Capitalized t
used in this Amendment without definition retainqept as amended hereby) the meanings respedfsigned to such terms in the Loan Agreement.

As set forth in the Loan Agreement and the LineCoédit Note, the Line of Credit has been heretofaxtended in the maximum principal amount nc
exceed, at any one time, the lesser of (a) $25000pr (b) the Availability (as defined in Sectid®.01 of the Loan Agreement). The Line of Credifisthe
purpose of working capital, and the Borrower's gdtions to repay the Line of Credit and interesd ather obligations are evidenced by the Borroy
promissory note nominated as the Modification, Reaielncrease and Restatement of Promissory Nagddaugust 21, 2012 in the original principal amt
of up to $25,000,000 (the “Line of Credit Noteli)d maturing August 21, 2015, when the entire uhpaicipal balance then outstanding plus accroégtes
thereon shall be paid in full. Contemporaneoushewih, the Line of Credit Note is being restatedull by the Restated Line of Credit Note refertedelow
to effect the matters set forth in this Amendment.

The Borrowers have requested the Bank and the Baslagreed, subject to the terms of this Amendoefa) increase the amount available under the af
Credit, as governed under the Loan Agreement ahsuto the terms thereof and of the Line of Qrétbte, from up to $25,000,000 to up to $30,000
temporarily for the period set forth below ; and (b) provide for certain other matters adagh herein. Accordingly, from and after the exiéon and deliver
of this Amendment, the Borrower's obligations tpay the Line of Credit and interest and other matghall be evidenced by the Borrowers' res
promissory note (i.e., restated Line of Credit Noteminated as the Modification, Renewal, Incre@mseé Restatement of Promissory Note dated the dakes
amendment in the original principal amount of u$8®,000,000 for a period of one year and thenGRER000 thereafter (the “Restated Line of Crediteé\)o
and maturing August 21, 2015, when the entire uhpancipal balance then outstanding plus accrogstést thereon shall be paid in full.

All of the obligations of the Borrowers, whethergdyment or performance, under the Line of Cret& Term Loan any additional Loans, all notes bl
instruments evidencing the same, the Loan Agreenti@atAmendment, the other Loan Documents corstitie joint and several obligations of the Borros
in nature.
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Section 1 One-Year Line of Credit Increase (from $ million to $30 million)
The paragraph on the first page of the Loan Agreermed entitled ‘Line of Credit” is hereby restated to read in full as follows:

Line of Credit (“Line of Credit”) in the maximum principal amount not to exceed,mt @ne time, the lesser of the following subsedita) and (k
(such lesser amount, the “Line of Credit Availaigfl):

()] (i) from the period extending from August 2012 to October , 2012, the principal amour#2%,000,00Q (ii) from the perio
extending from October , 2012 to October _0132 the principal amount &30,000,00Q and(iii) from the period extendir
from October ___, 2013 to the maturity date oflthee of Credit Note, the principal amount$#5,000,00@Gnd

(b) the Availability (as defined iS8ection 10.0lbelow)

The Line of Credit is for the purpose of workingital is evidenced by the Borrowers' promissoryenadted on or after the date hereof,
be restated by Borrower's promissory note nominagethe Modification, Renewal, Increase and Reskame of Promissory Note to be de
on or about , 2012 in the original ppalcamount of up to $30,000,000 for a period of gear and then $25,000,000 there.
(the “Restated Line of Credit Notegdnd maturing August 21, 2015, when the entire uhpaincipal balance then outstanding plus acc
interest thereon shall be paid in full. In the dviirat at any time the principal amount outstandinger the Line of Credit shall exceed
then applicable Line of Credit Availability, the Bower shall promptly repay such excess principabants to the extent necessary to re
compliance with the Line of Credit Availability. Acued interest only shall be repayable monthly tieigg thirty (30) days from the date
this Agreement. Prior to maturity or the occurrentany Event of Default hereunder and subjech&Availability limitations, the Borrowe
may borrow, repay, and reborrow under the Line @fd@ through maturity. The Line of Credit shalldbenterest at the rate set forth in
Restated Line of Credit Note or in any other natetber instrument evidencing all or any portiortted Line of Credit, the terms of which
incorporated herein by reference.

The definition of‘Availability” on page 9 of the Loan Agreement is hereby restateghd in full as follows:

“Availability” means the maximum principal available amount uttdeLine of Credit (within the Line of Credit Avalbility under the Lin
of Credit) as calculated and cefculated from time to time pursuant to a BorrayvBase Certificate and, at all times following aveege
Ratio Event, any Schedule DD or comparable docureehe entered, if and when applicable, among tiedsver and the Bank and sett
forth such collateral valuation levels, percentaaas other availability provisions satisfactonitlie Bank as contemplated Bgction 5of this
Agreement.

Any references to the amount available to be drander the Line of Credit, set forth in the Loan égment, the other Loan Documents and any re
agreement, instrument, filing, document or othguepa shall henceforth be deemed amended, mutatandis, to reflect the Line of Credit Availabiligys
provided in this Section 1 of this Amendment.

Section 2 Quarterly Financial Statements and Monthi Borrowing Base Certificates:Interim financial statements (1Q} within 45 days of each quar
end, which shall be accompanied by the followiagt.oan Agreement Compliance Certificat®; monthly Borrowing Base Certificates within 30 dayfsthe
end of each calendar month am);Accounts receivable agings and other informationAdR, inventory and Accounts Payable, if requedtgdBank. Al
information shall in reasonable detail and in af@cceptable to Bank.

Section 3 Security.For the avoidance of doubt, the obligations of Boerowers under and in respective of the Line cddiirand the Restated Line of Crt
Note have been and shall continue following theaféeness of this Amendment to be (along withdtreer obligations referenced therein), securedrig
enjoying the benefits of the pledges, mortgagesdsi®f trust, collateral and other matters andrétgcset forth in the Loan Agreements, includingtivaiur
limitation the Security Agreement and, to the ektapplicable, the other agreements, instrumentsgé and other papers set forth on Attachmetd this
Amendment.

Section 4 Bringdown of Representations and Warranés. The Borrowers represent and warrant to Bank théiraeed accuracy and completeness, as ¢
date hereof, of all representations made in thenLDacuments (including without limitation Sectiono® the Loan Agreement), taking into account

Amendment constituting one of the Loan Documents.

First Amendment



to
First Amended and Restated Loan Agreement

Section 5 Feeln consideration for the matters set forth in thisendment, the Borrowers shall pay to the Bankt@mporaneously with the date hereof, a one
time fee in the amount of ten basis points of timeant of the increase ($5,000).

Section 6 Miscellaneous.

@) Certain Provisions Incorporated by ReferenceWithout limiting the continued general applicalyilof Section 10 (or any other provisions) of
Loan Agreement, the provisions of Sections 10.02uph Section 10.18 of the Loan Agreement are pmated into this Amendment, muti
mutandis, as if set forth herein in full.

(b) Matters as to Amendment. This Amendment constitutes an amendment to thenl&greement (and, to the extent applicable, dleotoal
Documents) and except for the effect of any magamessly set forth in this Amendment, this Ameedtrand each of the Loan Documents is,
shall continue to be following the effectivenesgti§ Amendment, in full force and effect in accamde with the terms thereof, and nothing in
Amendment shall otherwise be deemed to amend oifynaay provision of the Loan Documents, each ofalibshall remain in full force and effe
except as otherwise expressly provided herein ereth. This Amendment is not intended to be, nallshbe construed to create, a novatio
accord and satisfaction. This Amendment does retiethe release of any collateral, does not distie perfection or priority of any existing lie
and does not effect the release of any obligortantar or other party from its obligations.

(c) References to Line of Credit NoteFrom and after the date of this Amendment, allrexfees to the “Line of Credit Not&r similar references sh
henceforth mean the same as, from and after tleeofidhis Amendment, restated by the Restated afr@redit Note.

(d) Loan Documents.For the avoidance of doubt, the term “Loan Docursieas used in the Loan Agreement and all the othen @acuments ¢
heretofore defined therein, includes among theratbms set forth in such term, this Amendment tiedRestated Line of Credit Note.

(e) References to DocumentsEach reference in the Loan Agreement, this Amendraed any other Loan Documents shall be the sanmagsh
amended, restated, increased, decreased, exteadaded or otherwise modified and effect from timéme.

[The remainder of this page is left blank intentithy]
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® WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. UNLESS EXPRESSLY PROHIBITED B Y APPLICABLE LAW, THE UNDERSIGNED HEREBY WAIVE
THE RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY OF ANY MATTERS OR CLAIMS  ARISING OUT OF THIS AMENDMENT OR ANY OF THE LOAN
DOCUMENTS EXECUTED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH OR OUT OF THE CONDUCT OF THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE

UNDERSIGNED AND BANK. THIS PROVISION IS A MATERIAL

INDUCEMENT FOR BANK TO MAKE THE LOAN AND ENTER

INTO THIS AMENDMENT. FURTHER, THE UNDERSIGNED HEREB Y CERTIFY THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE OR AGENT OF
BANK, NOR BANK'S COUNSEL, HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT BANK WOULD NOT SEEK TO
ENFORCE THIS WAIVER OR RIGHT TO JURY TRIAL PROVISIO N. NO REPRESENTATIVE OR AGENT OF BANK, NOR BANK'S
COUNSEL, HAS THE AUTHORITY TO WAIVE, CONDITION OR M ODIFY THIS PROVISION.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed and delivered\thendment under seal as of the date first wridieove.

Witness (as to the co-Borrowers):

Witness (as to BB&T):

SYNALLOY CORPORATION
METCHEM, INC.
SYNALLOY METALS, INC.

MANUFACTURERS SOAP & CHEMICAL COMPANY

RAM-FAB, LLC

MANUFACTURERS CHEMICALS, LLC
BRISTOL METALS, LLC

SYNALLOY FABRICATION, LLC
LEE-VAR, INC.

By:

Richard D. Sieradzki

Vice President, Finance
of and on behalf of each of
the above-named entities

BRANCH BANKING AND TRUST COMPANY

By:

Stan W. Parker
Senior Vice President

(SEAL)

[Signature Page to First Amendment to First Ameraledi Restated Loan Agreement]
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, 2012

Borrowers: The entities executing asBorrowers to the First Amendment to which this Altment 1 is Attached to the agreement of instrurtemthich thit
Attachment is attached, on a joint and severakbasi

This page forms a part of the instrument or agrasrte which it
is attached and constitutes an integral part théreo

The agreement or instrument to which this attachnsesttached and all loans, notes, instrumentsodimer liabilities and obligations referenced tlireigare
all governed, secured, guarantied and/or otherreilged to by, as applicable, each of the followfegch of which is - except as otherwise set foetow -
originally dated on or about August 21, 2012, pded that references to the following are as theesamay be amended, restated, increased, decrec
otherwise modified and in effect from time to time)

 First Amended and Restated Loan Agreement (tlmafi Agreement”) among Branch Banking and Trust gamy (“BB&T”) and the multipl
Borrowers referenced above (collectively, the “Barers”).

« Joinder Agreement among the Borrowers and the |

« All Swap Agreements (as defined in the Loan Agred)

e Security Agreement among the Borrowers and BE

*« Mortgage of Real Estate with respect to one or npareels of real property located in the State déafisas, from one or more of the applic
Borrowers for the benefit of BB&T.

« Deed of Trust for Real Estate with respect to anmore parcels of real property located in theeStdtTennessee, from one or more of the appli
Borrowers for the benefit of BB&T.

« Deed of Trust for Real Estate with respect to onenore parcels of real property located in the&stitTexas, from one or more of the applic
Borrowers for the benefit of BB&T.

¢ Negative Pledge Agreements, each dated on or ahiyt9, 2010, from the applicable Borrower(s) nantfeetein for the benefit of BB&T ai
relating to real properties in Spartanburg Cou¢, Bradley County, TN; Sullivan County, TN. Alsany other negative pledge agreemen
similar documents executed and delivered by omearye Borrowers, including without limitation in coection with the Palmer Acquisition.

e Stock and LLC Interests Pledge Agreement the Bagrewand the Ban

« Assignments of Life Insurance Policies, each ddigte 30, 2010, for policies executed by SynalloypGation for policies numbered 1820C
1820003, 1820007, 1820001, 1820009.

¢ Any and all other Loan Documents (as defined inLthen Agreemen



THIS AGREEMENT IS SUBJECT TO ARBITRATION PURSUANT T O S.C.CODE ANN. 8§ 154810 ET SEQ., CODE OF LAWS OF
SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976 (AS AMENDED).

IF THE SOUTH CAROLINA UNIFORM ARBITRATION ACT ISDE EMED NOT TO APPLY, THIS AGREEMENT IS SUBJECT
TO ARBITRATION PURSUANT TO THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT, TITLE 9, SECTION 1 ET SEQ., UNITED STATES
CODE (AS AMENDED).

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Employment Agreement (the “Agreemerig’made and entered into as of January 24, 20Eh8yetween Synalloy Corporati
a corporation organized under the laws of the Sthielaware (the “Corporation”), and Craig C. Bramesident of Richmond, Virginia (the
“Employee”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Corporation and the Employee execatetldelivered an Employment Agreement dated Jart#gr2012, under
which the Employee was employed by the Corpordtom renewable term of employment (the “Prior Agrent”);

WHEREAS, on January 24, 2013, the Prior Agreemeititautomatically renew for an additional one yéarm; and

WHEREAS, the Corporation and the Employee desiterrminate the Prior Agreement effective January2®43, and instead to
effectuate this Agreement as of January 24, 20&8rding to its terms.

AGREEMENTS

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the above pemsiand the terms and provisions hereinafter gét #and for other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficieoicyhich hereby are acknowledged, and intendingetéegally bound hereby, the Corporai
and the Employee hereby agree as follows:

1. Employment The Corporation and the Employee hereby termitietd®rior Agreement effective January 24, 201% Th
parties agree this Agreement then and thereaftdl st the sole employment agreement between tho€ation and the Employee pursuant tc
the terms and provisions set forth herein. The G@tion agrees to employ the Employee and the Eyaplagrees to serve as Chief Executive
Officer and President of the Corporation, and ichsother capacities as the Board of Directors ef@brporation (the “Board”) may designate
from time to time, for a period of one year begimnianuary 24, 2013, the effective date of thise&grent. At the end of the first year of this
Agreement and on each anniversary thereafterAirisement shall be automatically extended for ceer yinless either party gives notice of
intent to cancel this Agreement ninety days proan automatic extension date. During the termiémployment, the Employee shall devote

his full time, attention, skill and efforts to tperformance of his duties for the Corporation. Ntitetanding the foregoing,




nothing herein shall be construed to prevent Engsdyom serving on the Board of Directors of arfyeotcompany without violating Paragr:
10 below or continuing employment with Horizon GapManagement, Inc.

2. CompensationThe Corporation shall pay the Employee duringténe of his employment hereunder a base salafyvof
Hundred, Sixty Thousand and 00/100ths Dollars (¥28D00) per year (the “Base Salary”) together \@ittsh Incentive payable as provided ir
Paragraph 3 below, and except as otherwise prowdtds Agreement. The Base Salary shall be payatanthly or on a less frequent basis b
mutual agreement.

3. Cash Incentiveln addition to the Base Salary provided for imad@gaph 2 above, for each fiscal year during which
Employee serves as Chief Executive Officer of Campion and provided Employee is in the employ ef @orporation on the last day of such
fiscal year (except as provided in Paragraphs 9é@ntereof), the Employee shall be entitled toshdéacentive (the “Cash Incentive”) as
provided for in the 2013 Short-Term Cash Incenéimd Options Plan (the “Incentive Plan”) establishetbre the beginning of each of the
Corporation's fiscal years by the Compensation &d-0erm Incentive Committee of the Board. For tiec& Year Ending December 28,
2013, the Cash Incentive shall equal two percedtl) @ net income before income taxes (“NIBIT”) it BIT is between $20,260,000 and
$22,520,000; one percent (1%) of NIBIT if NIBIThelow $20,260,000 and two and thigearters percent (2.75%) of NIBIT if NIBIT is abc
$22,520,000. NIBIT will be as reflected on the Gagtion's financial statements adjusted by an amimueliminate the effect of inventory
profits and losses applicable to the BRISMET Pipadibn. The determination of the amount of invagtprofit and losses shall be determined
by the Corporation's Chief Financial Officer anghagved by the Audit Committee of the Board of tharfiration. The Cash Incentive shall be
reduced five percent (5%) for each lost time aguidecurring at the Division with the most lost &éraccidents during the year. The Cash
Incentive shall be further reduced by an amoumétiect any failure to reach targeted inventorytgoals. For the Fiscal Year Ending
December 28, 2013, the target for inventory tutredlde 4.5x for Manufacturers Chemicals, LLC an@x¥or BRISMET Pipe Manufacturing
Division. If the inventory turns are below the tardor either of the operating divisions, the inbenpool is reduced by ten percent (10%). Thi
reduction, if any, will be determined by and reaatdn the minutes of the Compensation & LoFgrm Incentive Committee of the Board. C
Incentive payments will be made within two and ¢radf-months of the fiscal year-end.

As used in this Agreement, the term NIBIT shall m#ze consolidated net income before income tasegenerally reflected in the
Corporation's Consolidated Statement of Operatins intended that NIBIT is defined as before tash incentives payable to all managers
participating in the Incentive Plan, and beforeoime and expenses not resulting from normal operstiocluding but not limited to, gains and
losses from the sale or other disposition of chpitaets and environmental expenses related taiptieg conditions not resulting from recent
operations. The Corporation's Compensation & LorgaTIncentive Committee shall have sole discretiiodetermine which other items of

income and expense are included in and/or exclirded NIBIT and its determination shall be finalnding and conclusive upon the




parties hereto. The Corporation may at any timenees change or discontinue any or all of its pnése future operations, or may close, sell ol
move any one or more of its plants, facilities mislons, or may undertake any new or other opengti or may take any and all other steps
which the Board, in its exclusive judgment, shaich advisable or desirable for the Corporation,ifiady such action taken by the
Corporation or its Board adversely affects NIBIThaseinabove defined, the Employee shall have aionabr recourse by reason of any such
action.

The provisions of this Paragraph 3 shall apply omthe Incentive Plan in effect as of JanuaryZ31 3. During any subsequent
renewal periods of this Agreement, if any, (i) @erporation shall not be required to grant any intige plans to the Employee, and (ii) the
right of the Employee to incentive payments shaljbverned solely by the incentive plan, if anypraped by the Board in its absolute
discretion for that relevant year.

4, Stock Options Employee is entitled to Stock Options under tB&12L.ong-Term Incentive Stock Option Plan (“Stock
Option Plan”) of twenty-five (25%) percent of BaSalary if NIBIT (as defined in in Section 3 of tlgreement) is within target range, thirty-
seven and one-half (37.5%) percent of Base SAIdNBIT is above the target range. The foregoingcpatage formula will be based on the
fair market value of the Corporation's stock, aserfally described in the Stock Option Plan. Noiops will be granted if NIBIT is below
target range. The exercise price of the optionl &leahs provided for in the Stock Option Plan.

The provisions of this Paragraph 4 shall apply aythe Stock Option Plan in effect as of Januaty2D13, which Stock Option Plan
at all times shall be subject to any right of ther@ration to amend or terminate the same as pedidy applicable law. During any
subsequent renewal periods of this Agreementif e Corporation shall not be required to gramyastock option rights to the Employee
other than as provided in a relevant stock optitan@pproved by the Board in its absolute discretimd thereafter approved by the

shareholders of the Corporation as required by &aiile law.

5. Other BenefitsEmployee shall be eligible to participate in allayee benefits plans in accordance with the tevfissich
plans.
6. Disability. If because of illness, physical or mental disghibr other incapacity, certified by a physiciacceptable to the

Corporation, Employee shall fail to render the g% provided for by this Agreement, or if Employeatracts an illness or injury, certified by
a physician acceptable to the Corporation, whidhpgrmanently prevent the performance by him efskrvices provided for by this
Agreement, then the Base Salary provided for iméraph 2 hereof shall continue until the next agrsigry date of this Agreement but in no
event less than three (3) months, with the Casénitiae for that fiscal year to be prorated to theedEmployee's disability commenced.

7. Death If the Employee dies during the term of this Agreent, then the Base Salary provided for in Papig2ahereof
shall continue until the next anniversary datehig Agreement but in no event less than three ()ths, which Base Salary shall be paid to

estate of Employee, with the Cash Incentive fot tisaal year to be prorated to the date




of Employee's death. In the event of Employee'shdaad the termination of this Agreement on thengeof this Paragraph, all other obligatis
of the Corporation under this Agreement shall ceamkterminate.

8. Termination for Caus@&lothing in this Agreement shall be construed tospré the Corporation from terminating

Employee's employment hereunder at any time foseddraud, dishonesty, gross negligence, willfidaminduct, misappropriation,
embezzlement, material violation of any code ofdrart adopted by the Board, excessive absencesviiy entry of any order by the
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant tod®e21C of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ext®n 8A of the Securities Act of
1933 prohibiting Employee from serving as an officedirector of an issuer that has a class of rétéesiregistered pursuant to Section 12 o
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or that is requitefile reports pursuant to Section 15(d) of that, or the like, or any act or omission
reasonably deemed by the Board to have been digtoytae Corporation shall constitute cause fomieation. Termination for cause pursuant
to this Paragraph 8 shall not constitute a bredthi® Agreement by the Corporation, and shallastethe Corporation from all of its
obligations pursuant to this Agreement (includinithaut limitation any obligation to pay any Casleéntive as described in Paragraph 3) othe

than the obligation to pay any accrued but unpaitign of Employee's salary.

9. Termination Without Cause; Resignatiorhe Corporation shall have the right to termirtaieEmployee at any time
without cause, provided that such termination wawddrelieve the Corporation of its financial olaligons pursuant to this Agreement. The
Employee may resign at any time, provided that sasignation would constitute a release of the G@fion of all of its obligations pursuant
to this Agreement (including without limitation anpligation to pay any Cash Incentive as describd®aragraph 3) other than the obligation
to pay any accrued but unpaid portion of Employsalary.

10. Covenant Not to CompeteEmployee agrees during the term of employmentfané period of one (1) year after

employment terminates for any reason, the Employi#taot, directly or indirectly (such as througtsaparate entity) without the prior writ
approval of the Board, become an officer, emplogeasultant, agent, partner, director, sharehademwner of beneficial interests in or of
following business enterprises:

(i) abusiness enterprise which competes with the Catipo and its subsidiaries/affiliates for custosjerders, supply sources
contracts (a) in the continental United States, (@)dn those businesses in which the Corporatimhits affiliates were engaged on the dat
employment terminated, unless, Employee's actsvitte such business enterprise are limited in suetay that Employee is not engag
directly or indirectly, in competition with the Qmuration or its affiliates for customers, ordergpy@ly sources or contracts, or

(i)  aTarget Company.

As used herein, “Target Companyieans any business enterprise wherever locatedfamdatever type (including without limitati

a business not currently competitive with the Cosgion or its subsidiaries) which during the sixrntits immediately preceding the termina

or other cessation of the Employee's employmerit thié Company either was (i) in




discussions with the Corporation or its subsideriegarding a merger with the Corporation or angsofubsidiariespr (i) in discussions wit
the Corporation or its subsidiaries regarding tipeirchase of some or all of the Target Companystedinterests (including stock or limit
liability company interests) or a material partitsf assets or, alternatively, regarding their dal¢he Target Company of some or all of
Corporation's or its subsidiaries' equity interdstsluding stock or limited liability company imtests) or a material part of their respec
assetspr (iii) identified by management employees of the fi@wation or its subsidiaries as a potential businveith which the Corporation
its subsidiaries will investigate for the purpo$eotentially engaging in one or more of the atids described in subsections (i) and (ii) of
definition.

The provisions of this Paragraph 10 shall survivey #germination of this Agreement and shall be higdion the Employe
notwithstanding any termination of cessation ofdngployment with the Corporation (including anymeration pursuant to Paragraphs 8 ¢
above).

Further, passive ownership (not to exceed 5% ofdta outstanding stock) of any publicly tradedngany will not in itself violate tr
provisions of this Paragraph 10. Employee acknog#sdhat the Corporation and its subsidiariesiaféit are leaders in the chemical and
metals businesses in which it manufactures, theg babstantial customer relationships throughceictntinental United States, and therefore
the geographic scope of Employee's non-competitidigation is fair and reasonable.

Employee further agrees that at no time duringemgloyment or thereafter will he divulge, commutgcar use to the detriment of 1
Corporation or its subsidiaries any of the Corgoras or its subsidiaries' confidential informatialata, trade secrets, sale methods, customer
lists, supply sources, or other proprietary infotiora

11. _Severability The invalidity or unenforceability of any prowsi hereof shall in no way affect the validity of@eeability of an'
other provision hereof.

12. _Arbitration Any controversy or claim arising out of, or réhgtto this Agreement, or the breach thereof, dhaltesolved
exclusively by arbitration in the City of SpartampuState of South Carolina, in accordance withrthes then obtaining of the American
Arbitration Association, and judgment upon the alw@ndered may be entered in any Court havingdiatisn thereof.

13. _Notices Any notice required or permitted to be given urtthés Agreement shall be sufficient if in writingnd if sent by
registered or certified mail or overnight mail byegognized national carrier, to his residencéédase of Employee, or to its Executive
Offices in the case of the Corporation.

14. _Benefit This Agreement, in accordance with its terms emmntitions, shall inure to the benefit of and bediig upon the
Corporation, its successors and assigns, incluglingnot limited to any corporation which may acquatl or substantially all of the
Corporation's assets and business, or with onithich the Corporation may be consolidated or mergad Employee, his heirs, executors,

administrators, and legal representatives, provilatithe obligations of the Employee




hereunder may not be delegated. Employee agreesvio, that any such sale or merger shall not leendd a termination hereunder provided
that the Employee's operational duties are nottanbally reduced as a result thereof.
15. Choice of Law This Agreement shall be construed in accordariteamd governed by the laws of the State of S@a#tolina.

16. Entire AgreementThis instrument contains the entire agreemetheparties hereto. It may not be changed orallyobly by an

agreement in writing.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have exettliss Agreement as of the day and year below evritt

WITNESSES SYNALLOY CORPORATION

By Carroll D. Vinson
Chairman of the Board of Directors
As to Synalloy Corporation Its: Dated

EMPLOYEE

Craig C. Bram
As to Employee Dated




Synalloy Corporation
Exhibit 21  Subsidiaries of the Registrant

All of the Company's subsidiaries are wholly own&ll subsidiaries are included in the Company'ssadidated financial statements. The
subsidiaries are as follows:

Synalloy Metals, Inc., a Tennessee corporation
Bristol Metals, LLC, a Tennessee limited liabilitgrporation

Manufacturers Soap and Chemicals Company, a Teemessporation
Manufacturers Chemicals, LLC, a Tennessee limiggaility corporation

Ram-Fab, LLC, a South Carolina limited liabilityrporation

Metchem, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Synalloy Fabrication, LLC, a South Carolina limitébility corporation
Palmer of Texas Tanks, Inc., a Texas corporatiom{érly Lee-Var, Inc.)

SynTrans, LLC, a Texas limited liability corporatio



CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors
Synalloy Corporation:

We consent to the incorporation by reference inrdggstration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 3853064), of our report dated March
2013, with respect to the consolidated balancetsttéeSynalloy Corporation and subsidiaries as ef&mber 29, 2012 and December 31, 2
and the related consolidated statements of opemtighareholders' equity and cash flows for eadhefyears in the thregear period ende
December 29, 2012, the related financial staterseinédule, and the effectiveness of internal comvelr financial reporting as of Decem
29, 2012, which appears in Synalloy Corporatio@s2Annual Report on Form 10-K.

fPiuhHuﬂQi Hovdnam P

Charlotte, North Carolina
March 12, 2013



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Craig C. Bram, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fSynalloy Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortémstate a material fact necessary to
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respe
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, theégos presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))imtednal control over financial reporting as deflrie Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedotes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig toeriod in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financiglomting, or caused such internal control over faiahreporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registraligsosure controls and procedures and presentisi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in thésteant's internal control over financial reportitigt occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant's internal wohover financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer andlalve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant's auditors and the audit commitfethe registrant's board of directors (or pesguerforming the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weasses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and rtefpwaincial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that ineslvmanagement or other employees who have a samiifiole in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 12, 2013 /s/ Craig C. Bram
Craig C. Bram
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Richard D. Sieradzki, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fSynalloy Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortémstate a material fact necessary to
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respe
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, theégos presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))imtednal control over financial reporting as deflrie Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedotes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig toeriod in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financiglomting, or caused such internal control over faiahreporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registraligsosure controls and procedures and presentisi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in thésteant's internal control over financial reportitigt occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant's internal wohover financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer andlalve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant's auditors and the audit commitfethe registrant's board of directors (or pesguerforming the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weasses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and rtefpwaincial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that ineslvmanagement or other employees who have a samiifiole in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 12, 2013 /sl Richard D. Sieradzki
Richard D. Sieradzki

Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accountingfioér




Exhibit 32

Certifications Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
The undersigned, who are the chief executive afficel the chief financial officer of Synalloy Corption, each hereby certifies that,
to the best of his knowledge, the accompanying FBrK of the issuer fully complies with the requments of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and that infororationtained in the report fairly presents, imaditerial respects, the financial condition anc
results of operations of the issuer.

Date: March 12, 2013 /s/ Craig C. Bram
Craig C. Bram
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Richard D. Sieradzki
Richard D. Sieradzki

Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accoingt Officer




